
AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MONDAY, 13 MAY 2019

A MEETING of the AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held in the COMMITTEE 

ROOMS 2 & 3, COUNCIL HEADQUARTERS, NEWTOWN ST BOSWELLS on MONDAY, 13 MAY 

2019 at 10.15 am.

As previously agreed, there will be a meeting of Members of the Committee at 9.30 a.m. 
prior to the main meeting. The primary focus of the Informal Session will be to consider and 
agree the annual self-assessments for the Committee to enable preparation of the 
Committee’s Annual Report 2018/19.

J. J. WILKINSON,
Clerk to the Council,

7 May 2019

BUSINESS

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. Order of Business. 

3. Declarations of Interest. 

AUDIT & SCRUTINY BUSINESS

4. Minute (Pages 5 - 10) 5 mins

Minute of Meeting of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee held on 18 April 2019 
to be approved and signed by the Chairman.  (Copy attached).

5. Action Tracker (Pages 11 - 12) 5 mins

To note progress made on the Action Tracker.  (Copy attached).
AUDIT BUSINESS 

6. Property and Estate Assurance Report (Pages 13 - 26) 20 mins

Consider a report by Service Director Assets and Infrastructure which 
provides an update on various matters which have had implications for the 
Council’s operational property portfolio. (Copy attached).

7. Local Government Challenges and Performance 2019 (Pages 27 - 86) 15 mins

Consider the national performance report by Audit Scotland of relevance to 
Local Government on “Local Government Challenges and Performance 
2019” published on 21 March 2019 designed to share best practice and 
lessons learned, which sets out recommendations and includes a scrutiny 

Public Document Pack



toolkit for Councillors.  (Copies attached).
8. Internal Audit Work to March 2019 (Pages 87 - 102) 10 mins

Consider a report by Chief Officer Audit & Risk on findings from recent work 
carried out by Internal Audit to complete the Internal Audit Annual Plan 
2018/19, including the recommended audit actions agreed by Management 
to improve internal controls and governance arrangements.  (Copy 
attached).

9. Risk Management Annual Report 2018/19 (Pages 103 - 108) 15 mins

Consider report by Chief Officer Audit and Risk on progress made to deliver 
the Council’s Risk Management Strategy 2018 including an update on 
agreed Improvement Actions to refine the risk management arrangements at 
the Council to ensure their on-going effectiveness.  (Copy attached).

10. Counter Fraud Annual Report 2018/19 (Pages 109 - 116) 15 mins

Consider report by Chief Officer Audit & Risk on the Council’s counter fraud 
responsibilities and the progress made to deliver the Council’s Counter 
Fraud Strategy 2018 including an update on improvement actions to refine 
the arrangements to tackling fraud at the Council.  (Copy attached).

11. Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2018/19 (Pages 117 - 128) 20 mins

Consider report by Chief Officer Audit & Risk on the annual assurance and 
audit opinion to Management and Audit and Scrutiny Committee arising from 
Internal Audit activity in completing the Internal Audit Annual Plan 2018/19.  
(Copy attached).

12. Scottish Borders Council Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 
(Pages 129 - 138)

15 mins

Consider the draft Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 by the Chief 
Executive for inclusion in Scottish Borders Council’s Statement of Accounts 
2018/19.  (Copies attached).

13. Any Other Audit Items Previously Circulated. 

14. Any Other Audit Items which the Chairman Decides are Urgent. 

SCRUTINY BUSINESS

15. PRIVATE BUSINESS 

Before proceeding with the private business, the following motion should be 
approved:- 
“That under Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business 
on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the 
aforementioned Act.”

16. Minute (Pages 139 - 140) 2 mins

Private section of Minute of meeting held on 18 April 2019 to be approved 
and signed by the Chairman.  (Copy attached).

17. Any Other Scrutiny Items Previously Circulated. 



18. Any Other Scrutiny Items which the Chairman Decides are Urgent. 

NOTES
1. Timings given above are only indicative and not intended to inhibit Members’ 

discussions.

2. Members are reminded that, if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any 
item of business coming before the meeting, that interest should be declared prior to 
commencement of discussion on that item. Such declaration will be recorded in the 
Minute of the meeting.

Membership of Committee:- Councillors S. Bell (Chairman), H. Anderson, K. Chapman, 
J. A. Fullarton, S. Hamilton (Vice-Chairman), N. Richards, H. Scott, E. Thornton-Nicol, S. Scott, 
M Middlemiss and H. Barnett

Please direct any enquiries to Eileen Graham  01835 826583
Email: eegraham@scotborders.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL 
AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 MINUTE of Meeting of the AUDIT AND 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in Council 
Chamber, Council Headquarters, Newtown 
St Boswells on Thursday 18 April at 10.00 
am 

    
 
 
 

Present:- Councillors S Bell, (Chairman), H. Anderson, K. Chapman, S. Hamilton, J. 
Fullarton, N. Richards, E. Thornton-Nicol, S. Scott 

 
Apologies:- 
 

 
Councillors H. Scott, Ms H Barnett, Mr M. Middlemiss. 
 

In Attendance:- Mr G Samson – Audit Scotland, Principal Internal Auditor, Clerk to the 
Council, Trainee Democratic Services Officer. 
 

 

 
 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  
The Chairman welcomed those present to the meeting and introductions were made. 
 

SCRUTINY BUSINESS 
 

2. INTRODUCTION OF SPEED BUMPS IN LANGLEE DRIVE 
2.1 There had been circulated copies of an extract from the Audit and Scrutiny Committee 

Petitions procedure. The Chairman gave a reminder of the Petitions procedure to be 
followed at the meeting, highlighting the options available to the Committee.  The 
Chairman welcomed Mrs Elspeth Johnston, Lead Petitioner, who was in attendance to 
present a petition on the introduction of speed bumps in Langlee Drive and who was 
accompanied by Mr Albert Cruikshank.  Mrs Johnson gave further information in support 
of the supporting statement in the Petition, advising that 260 children attended Langlee 
Primary School, including her 2 grandchildren, and they were intimidated by speeding 
cars using Langlee Drive, which was the main access road to the Primary School.  While 
the SBC survey showed an average speed of 18mph, this did mean that some cars were 
driving in excess of this.  Braking distances increased exponentially with increased speed 
and it was felt that the only thing that would work would be the installation of speed bumps 
as accident prevention measures.  The proposed speed bumps would help curtail the 
speeding of cars along this narrow residential area.  Mrs Johnston made reference to the 
development of children’s perceptual ability and judgement of distances, commenting that 
there should be no price on a child’s life.  Mr Cruikshank added that this had been an 
ongoing issue and he had been in communication with Scottish Borders Council for 4 
years and he had also communicated with MP John Lamont, who had campaigned on 
their behalf and the issue had been reported in the local press and on local radio.  The 
20’s plenty and cardboard pop up police officer were frequently ignored and were no 
longer effective on this one-way street.  He further explained that young drivers were 
rushing to get to school along this one-way road, which had a straight stretch for 300 
yards.  Cars were parked diagonally so there were also issues with cars reversing out of 
spaces into oncoming traffic.   Mr Cruickshank then passed round a photograph of the 
type of speed bump the petitioners wished to have installed, which were rubber and 
bolted to the road surface.   The Chairman assured the petitioners that the Committee and 
the Council took child safety very seriously and he summarised the main points put 
forward by the petitioners: appropriate signage installed; reduced speed limit; installation 
of speed bumps; enforced speed restrictions on both Langlee Road and Melrose Road; Page 5

Agenda Item 4



and an increased Police presence in the area at peak times.  Members asked various 
questions of the petitioners to gain further clarification on the points raised. 
 

2.2 There had been circulated copies of a presentation by the Service Director Assets and 
Infrastructure, Mr Joyce, and the Team Leader for Traffic and Road Safety, Ms Philippa 
Gilhooly.  Ms Gilhooly explained that the road had been surveyed a number of years ago 
with the involvement of parents.  The Safer Schools Team had worked with Langlee 
Primary School to encourage more walking to school over a period of many years and 
most recently the school had signed up to a walking initiative.  The existing traffic calming 
features and initiatives included extending the radius of footways to improve the crossing 
at the school entrance and to slow vehicles.  Ms Gilhooly reported that a Twenty’s Plenty 
sign; echelon parking; school sign and plate; and stop, look and listen crossing mats had 
been included along  Langlee Drive as well as a flat topped speed hump at the crossing 
point at the school access.  The Safer Routes to School process included parents, 
Community Councils and the Police.  Ms Gilhooly further reported that the zebra crossing 
on Melrose Road had been replaced with a Puffin light controlled crossing, the school 
crossing patrol was retained, and a part time 20mph speed limit was also in place.  There 
was also a multi-coloured fence in place to indicate to drivers that a school was close by.   

 
2.3 Ms Gilhooly went on to explain that traffic surveys had been carried out and showed 

general compliance with advisory Twenty’s Plenty signs, and the low average and 85%ile 
speeds were to be welcomed, and would be welcomed at other school locations.  Large 
scale traffic calming measures using speed humps had been constructed in other areas 
more than 15 years previously and smaller scale ones had been installed at a limited 
number of schools since then.  A second flat topped speed hump and build-out at a 
revised crossing point to the school entrance was planned to be installed in the future.  
The presentation given showed clear data from Tracsis plc traffic and data services which 
highlighted traffic flows and speed of vehicles in this area with an average speed of 
18mph.  It was also noted that zero reported injury accidents were on record since 2003.  
Having spoken with Police Scotland a few times, Ms Gilhooly advised that they had not 
indicated any concerns about traffic speeds in Langlee Drive.  Mr Joyce confirmed that 
the planning application for the new school at Langlee would have taken account of traffic 
and included any off-site road works as part of the conditions for the build and no such 
conditions had been put in place.  Ms Gilhooly further advised that the rubber speed 
bumps being proposed by the petitioners were only for use in car parks as they were 
unfortunately not suitable for use on public roads as they were not robust enough and had 
a limited life span.  The flat topped speed hump would be the better option.   Discussions 
had taken place with Langlee Primary School as children were now using a different 
access point to the school than had been originally envisaged.  Ms Gilhooly also 
suggested that moving the parking from the right hand side of the road to the left may help 
with some of the concerns of the petitioners over children running out from the grass 
verge.  Residents could be asked their opinion on this change.  In response to questions 
from Members, Ms Gilhooly advised she would be happy to pass on the data to the 
community; the Twenty’s Plenty signs had been part of a programme from a few years 
ago; police were targeting resources where they were most needed and 20mph zones 
were not where accidents were happening.  Mr Joyce confirmed that putting in a second 
flat top speed hump reflected the actuality of the entrance to school most used by children 
and was not in response to speeding concerns in the road.   

 
2.4 Members of the Committee discussed the information which had been provided at the 

meeting and made reference to the enforcement of the 20mph speed limit.  Ms Gilhooly 
reported that the Restricted Roads (20 mph Speed Limit) (Scotland) Bill was currently 
going through Stage 1 in Parliament and officers were waiting on that outcome.  Langlee 
Drive would be covered by the 20mph zoning if the Bill became law.  Members 
appreciated the frustrations of the petitioners and had some concerns over the vehicles 
that chose not to adhere to the speed limit, but overall were content by the number of 
vehicles within the speed limit, it being evident from the data that only one vehicle had 
been over the limit.  In response to the Members’ suggestion made on the presence of the 

Page 6



Police Community Action Team (CAT) at peak times and to work in this area to improve 
some of the issues the community were facing, it was noted that Ms Gilhooly would 
approach them to see if this would be feasible.    Members then discussed the matter of 
communication with the community and how the Department managed this.  It was the 
responsibility of parents to get their children to and from school safely, and there was a 
footway which children could use on one side of Langlee Drive.  In response to a question 
about what would officers consider a safe speed, Mr Joyce confirmed that this was a 
difficult question to answer as injury incidents were significantly better at 20mph but there 
had been no recorded accidents in Langlee Drive since 2003.  In the survey data, 1 in 5 
vehicles were travelling at more than 20mph (16 out of 71) but that in itself did not cause 
undue alarm.  Parking on the angle narrowed the road and slowed down traffic.  

 
2.5 The petitioners expressed concern that the 2nd speed hump being located close to the 

school would not help slow traffic from the entrance to Langlee Drive which is where 
speeding took place.  However, the site for the most recent survey of traffic had been 
requested by the community and that was where the data had been provided for the 
meeting.   The speed bump was close to the school to offer children a safer crossing point 
to school from the footway.  The petitioners again expressed concern that children did not 
always stay on the footway where it was safe.   Members discussed the options available 
to them and considered the data output from the surveys, the concern of the petitioners, 
and what the Department could do to alleviate these concerns, taking account of the road 
layout and the resources available.   The Chairman then advised the Committee Members 
of their options in response to the petition: to refer the petition to another Committee or 
Director for final decision; to refer the petition to a relevant Community Planning Partner; 
or that the issue(s) raised did not merit or did not require further action.  The Chairman 
clarified the main points raised and thanked the petitioners and officers for their 
attendance and the comprehensive clear presentation that was provided to the 
Committee. 

 
DECISION 
AGREED to refer the petition to the Service Director Assets & Infrastructure, who 
would consider: 
 
(a) what improvements could be made to Departmental communications with 

communities about road issues, sharing the data from traffic surveys, and 
proposals for any changes to road architecture;  

 
(b) investigating the opportunity for a mandatory 20mph speed limit being 

applied in Langlee Drive on either a temporary or permanent basis;  
 
(c) the Police CAT monitoring speeds on Langlee Drive at peak times; 
 
(d) the community being asked about changing the parking from one side of 

Langlee Drive to the other; and 
 
(e) a further meeting with the community to explain the location of the 2nd speed 

bump and to ascertain if there were any other measures the Department could 
put in place to assist with road safety.  

  
3. HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION UPDATE 
3.1 With reference to paragraph 11 of the Minute of 14 May 2018, the Chairman welcomed Mr 

Robert McCulloch-Graham, Chief Officer Health and Social Care Integration, to the 
meeting who was in attendance to provide Members with a greater understanding on how 
the Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board (IJB) was delivering its Strategic Plan 
to improve the lives of Borderers and meet the growing demands in the care sector.  Mr 
McCulloch-Graham began by informing the Committee that the Interim Chair of NHS 
Borders Board was Non-Executive Director Karen Hamilton, and the new Chief Executive 
of NHS Borders was Ralph Roberts who was due to take up the post on Monday 22 April 

Page 7



2019.  Mr McCulloch-Graham updated Members on the identified challenges facing the 
Health and Social Care Partnership which included an increase in the population in the 
Borders, an increase in the complexity of cases being presented, and the reduction in 
available resources, with difficulties in balancing the budget.  More people were accessing 
Primary Care (GPs) and presenting at hospital; admissions were more complex and 
therefore patients were remaining in hospital for longer; more care at home was required; 
and more care home places were also required.  Mr McCulloch-Graham explained the 
governance of the Integrated Joint Board (IJB) and how funding under Delegated Funds 
and Set Aside Fund was allocated differently at a local level in the Scottish Borders and 
nationally, an example being that Palliative Care may or may not be included in this Set 
Aside Fund.  The process for the Discharge to Home Service was now across the five 
localities and numbers had increased with the STEP down facilities at Garden View (Craw 
Wood) and Waverley improved.  Work was ongoing to put savings in place to close the 
budget gap.  There had been challenges during the previous winter period through 
significant delays and cancellations although due to the partnership working this year this 
had substantially improved and the joint winter plan had worked well.  Mr McCulloch-
Graham went on to explain how integrated services were provided and funded under the 
headings of Community Health Services, Acute Health Services provided in a hospital and 
Adult Social Care Services.  Mr McCulloch-Graham reported that SB Cares and the NHS 
were working closely within the partnership with a consultation firm called Meridian now in 
place to look at improvements in processes.  There had been a particular challenge 
around nursing care and the Council had helped to purchase beds at Queens House in 
Kelso.  The question was how to make the best use of health care services in 
communities.  A new system had been trialled at The Knoll, using a consultant from the 
BGH and nurse practitioners, with the rest of the Community Hospitals supported by GPs.  
The whole essence of the Health and Social Care partnership was to shift from acute to 
community based services, and there was a need to have a fundamental look at how 
health was managed in the Borders.   The Primary Care Improvement Plan, led by GPs, 
was being introduced, with the intention being to support GPs work and adopt different 
models of triage going forward.  Scottish Government was happy with progress made to 
date although there were some issues to resolve.   

 
3.2 Members raised a number of questions, in particular around delayed discharges and lack 

of transport.  Mr McCulloch-Graham advised that transport was reliant on the ambulance 
service and there was some funding of voluntary transport services.  Some delayed 
discharges had been due to lack of transport at the weekends and SB Cares had brought 
in a vehicle/driver to assist.  Issues still remained with transport and this was being 
worked on within the partnership.  Rurality was an issue in the Borders but had not 
impacted on the recruitment of GPs in the Borders, although there were difficulties in 
recruiting nurses and care staff to work in residential and private homes.  Some nursing 
homes were changing to residential care homes.  Most of the GP practices in the Borders 
were individual companies but the property was owned by NHS.  With regard to delayed 
discharges, the measure for these had changed and there had been a 10% improvement 
over the last year.  If that rate of improvement continued, then it would be possible to 
release acute beds.   In response to a question from Members on pay scales and terms 
and conditions for NHS and SBC staff, Mr McCulloch-Graham advised that the differences 
still existed as the IJB was not an employer.  NHS and SBC mental health and learning 
disability had been operating as joint services for 8 years, but they were still using 
separate IT systems, etc. although that was being worked on to try to find a solution.    

 
3.3 Further discussions followed in relation to the way the Borders was changing, with 

communities growing at different rates.  Rurality was a very important factor and an 
example was given of physiotherapy service being hospital based when the service 
should be out in the community in clinics.  The challenge was also around communication 
and ensuring the public understood the changes in services.  The example was given of 
the recent gap in communication around proposed changes to the Day Centre provision.  
Mr McCulloch-Graham confirmed that only 40 clients were currently using the Day 
Centres and these Centres would not close until alternative provision had been put in 

Page 8



place for clients.  The Chairman thanked Mr McCulloch-Graham for his attendance and 
update on the work of the partnership. 

 
 DECISION 

NOTED the update. 
  

4. PRIVATE BUSINESS  
AGREED that under Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 9 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the aforementioned Act. 
 

SUMMARY OF PRIVATE BUSINESS 
 

 5. DELIVERY OF THE COUNCIL’S IT STRATEGY AND PLAN WITHIN SCOTTISH 
BORDERS COUNCIL 
The Committee noted the presentation by the Chief Financial Officer and Interim ICT 
Programme Manager regarding delivery of the Council’s IT strategy. 
 

AUDIT & SCRUTINY BUSINESS 
 
6. MINUTE.  

There had been circulated copies of the Minute of Meeting of the Audit & Scrutiny 
Committee held on 11 March 2019. 
 
DECISION 
APPROVED for signature by the Chairman. 
 

7. ACTION TRACKER  
With reference to paragraph 5 of the Minute of 11 March 2019, there had been circulated 
copies of the Action Tracker for the Audit and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
DECISION  
NOTED the Action Tracker 
 
 

The meeting concluded at 1.10 pm   

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL

ACTION SHEET MASTER COPY

AUDIT & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2018/19 
Notes:- 
1. Paragraphs Marked with a * require full Council approval before action can be taken
2. Items for which no actions are required are not included

TITLE DECISION REQUIRING ACTION DIRECTORATE/
SECTION

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER

STATUS

25 June 2018 
National 
Performance 
Reports by Audit 
Scotland

AGREED the proposed schedule for presentation of the 
National Performance Reports by Audit Scotland.

Assets & 
Infrastructure

Service Director 
Assets and 
Infrastructure

Complete - as the 
Property Assurance 
Report is included in 
agenda for Audit & 
Scrutiny Committee on 13 
May 2019.

14 February 2019
Treasury 
Management 
Strategy 2019/20

Members also requested a further treasury management 
training session prior to the September meeting, Ms Stacey 
and Mr Robertson would liaise regarding outwith the 
meeting.   

Finance Chief Financial 
Officer

The Pensions and 
Investments Manager is 
liaising with the Council’s 
Treasury Management 
Adviser to arrange a date; 
provisionally 25 
November 2019 at 
Informal Session prior to 
considering the Mid-Term 
Treasury Management 
Performance Report 
2019/20 in formal 
business.

Risk Management 
in Services – 
Regulatory 
Services 

To request a further briefing session on managing 
information.

Regulatory 
Services

Service Director 
Regulatory 
Services

To be added to 
programme of Members 
briefings.

11 March 2019

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 5



Nursery Place 
Discrimination in 
Peebles 2019 
Petition

DECIDED to refer the matter to the Executive Committee 
and that officers prepare a report  - in terms of costs, 
workforce and property availability – for consideration to 
accelerate the provision of 1140 hours of nursery provision 
to all eligible two year olds across the region in 2019/20. 

C&YP Chief Officer for 
Education

Complete as Report 
presented to Executive 
Committee on 30 April 
2019.

18 April 2019
Speed Bumps in 
Langlee Drive

AGREED to refer the petition to the Service Director Assets 
& Infrastructure, who would consider:-
(a) what improvements could be made to Departmental 

communications with communities about road issues, 
sharing the data from traffic surveys, and proposals 
for any changes to road architecture; 

(b) investigating the opportunity for a mandatory 20mph 
speed limit being applied in Langlee Drive on either a 
temporary or permanent basis; 

(c) the Police CAT monitoring speeds on Langlee Drive at 
peak times;

(d) the community being asked about changing the 
parking from one side of Langlee Drive to the other; 
and

(e) a further meeting with the community to explain the 
location of the 2nd speed bump and to ascertain if 
there were any other measures the Department could 
put in place to assist with road safety. 

Assets & 
Infrastructure

Service Director 
Assets & 
Infrastructure

The Service Director 
Assets & Infrastructure to 
give consideration to the 
points raised.

P
age 12



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

PROPERTY AND ESTATE ASSURANCE

Report by Service Director Assets & Infrastructure

AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

13 May 2019

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides a summary update on various matters which 
have had implications for the Council’s operational property 
portfolio.

1.2 This report fulfils a request on the Action Tacker of the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee agreed at its meeting on 26 June 2018 with further 
information included.

1.3 Specifically, this report provides details of the SBC response, instructions 
or works which have been undertaken primarily in response to concerns 
raised following several specific and tragic events which occurred 
nationally.  

1.4 The report notes that in light of these recent events, the Scottish 
Government has indicated that irrespective of the contractual 
procurement route, Local Authorities cannot abdicate responsibility for 
quality assurance and oversight with respect to the construction and 
maintenance of operational properties.

1.5 The report notes potential future changes which may be enacted in law 
which may have further future consequences for the Council and other 
third-party construction works. 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Officers recommend that Audit & Scrutiny Committee: -

(a) Notes the contents of this report;

(b) Notes that Officers will continue to ensure that appropriate 
systems and processes are in place to manage and mitigate 
risk wherever possible in respect of the Council’s operational 
estate;

(c) Notes there may be further implications for the Council as 
further likely legislative changes are implemented.

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

3 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 In recent years there have been nationally, several health and safety 
related incidents which by extrapolation, have had the potential to have 
serious implications for the Council, and its partners, across their 
operational property portfolios.

3.2 These specific incidents include:

 Liberton High School, Edinburgh wall collapse which unfortunately 
resulted in the fatality of a young schoolgirl.

 Howdenburn Primary School in Jedburgh which suffered a partial 
external wall collapse due to storm damage.

 Oxgangs PPP School in Edinburgh which resulted in a partial wall 
collapse, and the subsequent closure of 17 No. Edinburgh PPP 
Schools resulting in a public enquiry led by John Cole.

 Grenfell Tower, London in which a fire resulted in the significant loss 
of life due to the nature and type of cladding installed during a 
refurbishment of the tower. 

4 LIBERTON WALL INCIDENT, EDINBURGH

4.1 In April 2014, a 12 year old schoolgirl was fatally injured when a free-
standing modesty wall serving as a partition to provide privacy while 
showering in changing rooms collapsed.

4.2 A fatal accident inquiry into the death of the girl commenced in Edinburgh 
in June 2017, and the following receipt of the subsequent report prepared 
by the Sheriff Principal Mhairi Stephen, City of Edinburgh Council noted 
her conclusion that there were no reasonable precautions that could have 
been taken to avoid the accident which resulted in the girl’s death.  The 
Sherriff further found that the maintenance and inspection regime at 
Liberton High School complied with statutory requirements and that there 
was a comprehensive understanding of the fault reporting system among 
staff. The determination also stated that the Council had taken all 
reasonably practicable measures to ensure that the wall was inspected 
and maintained. 

4.3 As an immediate consequence of the fatality however, and in April 2014, 
the Council’s property personnel undertook emergency visual inspections 
of the Council’s entire property portfolio (not just the education estate), 
followed up by intrusive works where required, to identify if any SBC 
properties had similar free-standing walls.  These inspections were also 
not restricted to internal walls but also covered external boundary walls 
and retaining structures.

4.4 All reports were uploaded to the Council’s property asset management 
system (Technology Forge) and a consequence of these inspections one 
wall was subsequently deemed unsafe and removed on health and safety 
grounds. 

4.5 There have been no further reports to date of any similar issues. 

Page 14



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

5 HOWDENBURN PRIMARY SCHOOL, JEDBURGH

5.1 On 9 December 2015, during a storm and while the school was 
unoccupied, a length of external wall on the building collapsed.  On 
investigation, while the wall appeared to have been designed for lateral 
(horizontal) loading it was not sufficiently robust to resist the wind 
loading that was imposed on it during those specific conditions.

5.2 Immediate action was taken to secure the site by the Property 
Management team with a visual inspection undertaken by the Council’s 
Structural Engineer the following day.  It was concluded by the 
Emergency Planning Team that the school would be closed with pupils 
relocated to Parkside Primary School and that no further immediate 
emergency remedial action was needed, beyond securing the site.

5.3 In early January 2016, the Council’s Architects’ Section was brought into 
the project and a firm of external consultant structural engineers, Christie 
Gillespie, were then appointed to undertake a more detailed inspection.

5.4 Two visits were made to the school.  The first visit was used to carry out 
a visual inspection of the school and assess what further investigations 
would be required.  The observations from the first inspection resulted in 
recommendations for the opening up of some areas of the school to 
enable an intrusive inspection of some of the wall construction interfaces 
and this further inspection was carried out on the second visit.  An 
extract from their report noted:

“The wall was a gravity wall with no structural head restraint and the 
external buttresses at each end of the wall did not provide sufficient 
resistance to the wind loading to which the wall was subjected.  This wind 
loading may have been unusual turbulence caused by abnormal gusting 
or wind direction.  The wall has rotated (overturned) about the damp 
proof course level to a degree sufficient for it to become unstable and to 
ultimately collapse and fall over.”

When the bond between the masonry and the damp proof course was 
broken, the wall would have been weaker and less able to resist wind 
loading.

5.5 The report is too detailed to include in this document; however, it should 
be noted the only area of concern within the school identified for 
attention was the hall where the wall had collapsed.

5.6 Drawings were prepared by the Architects’ Team with structural design 
provided by Christie Gillespie & a building warrant obtained.  Property 
Management procured the building contract to make the repairs with a 
local building firm and the school was reopened after the Easter school 
holiday.

5.7 With the subsequent announcement of funding for the new Jedburgh 
Intergenerational Learning Campus in 2017, Howdenburn Primary School 
will be demolished, and the site redeveloped once the new building is 
complete.  Vacant possession is currently scheduled for April 2020. 

Page 15



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

6 PPP SCHOOL ESTATE

6.1 As a result of a series of surveys following a partial wall collapse at 
Oxgangs Primary School in Edinburgh in January 2016, concerns in 
relation to the structural stability of a number of walls were identified at 
all 17 schools built in Edinburgh between 2002 and 2005 under a PPP 
(Public Private Partnership) programme.  This led to the temporary 
closure of all the affected schools and alternative arrangements for 
children in nearly all the schools had to be urgently put into place.  A 
remediation contract was completed which focussed on ensuring the 
proper incorporation of wall and head restraint ties and related works. 

6.2 This occurrence has attracted considerable interest at a national level and 
within the Construction Industry, particularly considering the number of 
school buildings affected in Edinburgh and emerging evidence of the 
discovery of similar shortcomings across some school buildings in other 
parts of Scotland.

6.3 The City of Edinburgh Council commissioned an independent inquiry, led 
by John Cole, to examine the history of events leading to and the period 
following the discovery of these structural issues with the objective of 
establishing any learning that might be derived from these unfortunate 
circumstances that may help prevent similar building construction issues, 
and the resulting consequences, arising in future.

6.4 A report entitled “Report of the Independent Inquiry into the Construction 
of Edinburgh Schools” was subsequently published in February 2017 and 
runs to some 270 pages in length.

6.5 SBC has responded to various requests for information, and clarification 
that similar inspections have been carried out, particularly in respect of 
any PPP schools which had been constructed in a similar manner, using a 
similar form of contract. 

6.6 On 15 June 2017, the Service Director Assets & Infrastructure attended a 
joint session with the Minister for Local Government & Housing and 
Scottish Government’s Building Standards team which was also attended 
by 30 of 32 local authorities.  Each Council was called upon to individually 
articulate its response to the Inquiry Report, planned future activities, 
governance arrangements and any other pertinent details.  (For noting, 
this meeting took place the day after the Grenfell Tower incident). 

6.7 Subsequent to the meeting of 15 June, the Cabinet Secretary for 
Education and Skills also issued a similar request to Councils asking that 
investigations be undertaken on relevant educational properties. 

6.8 Within the school estate Scottish Borders Council has three secondary 
schools (Berwickshire, Earlston and Eyemouth) constructed under a 
public private partnership (PPP) contract.  Under the PPP Consortium the 
Council pays an annual unitary charge which covers all aspects of the 
project from initial construction to maintenance and Facilities 
Managements servicing for the period of 30 years.  All three schools were 
completed during 2009 and are operated by Scottish Borders Education 
Partnership (SBEP) through Bilfinger RE Asset Management and 

Page 16



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

maintained by Amey FM Services.  (Bilfinger RE have now rebranded as 
Apleona GVA Real Estate Advisors).

6.9 A series of structural surveys have been undertaken in recent years at all 
three PPP schools following wall collapses at Liberton High School and 
Oxgangs Primary School. 

6.10 During April 2014, initial surveys at each of the three schools were 
undertaken by Robertson Eadie Consulting Engineers, as a result of 
cracking to walls and lintels identified through visual inspections 
undertaken by Amey Services (and post the Liberton School incident).  

6.11 The surveys identified that several lintels at Eyemouth and Earlston High 
School were found to be inadequate and remedial steel angles were 
installed to a specification provided by the structural engineer.  The 
surveys at both Earlston and Eyemouth High Schools concluded that 
cracking identified on walls was associated in the main with thermal 
movement and were of no structural concern.  Whilst the report relating 
to Berwickshire High School concluded that the building had been 
constructed in a workmanship like manner with few defects and where 
any defects were evident these were associated with shrinkage or 
deflection of supporting structures.

6.12 On the basis of the Robertson Eadie reports, and as a precautionary 
measure Graham Construction (original builders) instructed McFarland 
Associates in June 2014 to undertake a further inspection of the internal 
concrete lintels spanning doors and openings at Earlston and Eyemouth 
High School following the reported concerns surrounding their structural 
adequacy.   Remedial works to coat and seal the lintels were undertaken 
in line with the structural engineer’s recommendations.  Following the 
completion of the recommended works Graham Construction also 
removed a concrete head lintel for analysis and lab testing by the 
structural engineer to provide further re-assurance regarding their 
adequacy.   Information received confirmed that the remediations 
completed to the lintels were adequate and that no risk remained. 

6.13 In May 2015, concerns raised in relation to internal wall cracking and 
ground subsidence in a courtyard area at Eyemouth High School led to 
further structural surveys being commissioned by SBEP (Currie & Brown) 
and Scottish Borders Council (Christie Associates, Consulting Engineers).  
Both surveys confirmed that the cracking within the building was non-
structural in nature and attributable to movement caused by moisture 
and temperature changes.   In addition, the reports concluded that the 
external ground settlement was not connected with the cracking evident 
on the internal walls.

6.14 During the same period Graham Construction appointed Coffey as 
principal designer to design a system to prevent future ground 
subsidence of the block paving within the external courtyard.  The 
extensive remedial works completed in the early part of 2016 included 
altering carrier pipes, adding additional attenuation and diverting existing 
drainage lines.

Page 17



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

6.15 In April 2016 because of the wall collapse and failures in the Edinburgh 
City Councils school estate, SBEP appointed an external consulting 
engineer (Curtins) to undertake structural surveys at all three sites. The 
scope of the surveys at each of the three sites was to inspect the 
principal structural elements and although not confined to, paid particular 
attention to the wall ties, size of cavities, head restraint details and wind 
post designs.

6.16 Each of the reports provided recommended actions to be undertaken at 
the three sites and areas for follow up or intrusive investigation.  Graham 
Construction completed the intrusive investigations in line with required 
actions and confirmed that as a result of the inspections there was no 
further evidence of structural distress or required works in connection 
with structural issues.  All other items noted within the report which were 
confirmed as non-structural or aesthetic were completed as part of an 
active plan of work.

6.17 In addition to the various structural surveys that have been undertaken a 
planned and preventative maintenance programme is undertaken by 
Amey Services at regular intervals to retain the function and operation of 
the assets along with a programme of lifecycle replacement.

6.18 Monitoring and Contractual Compliance – although the PPP contract is in 
effect, ‘self-monitoring’, following discussions and initial input from SFT’s 
PPP team, SBC engaged Turner & Townsend to review the service 
specification provision.  The outcome of this review identified mixed 
service performance with Berwickshire and Eyemouth High Schools being 
well maintained whilst issues were uncovered at Earlston High School.  As 
a result of the findings, an increased focus was placed on contract 
performance and this continues to be monitored by Council Officers.

7 GRENFELL TOWER, LONDON

7.1 Grenfell Tower was a 24-storey residential tower block in North 
Kensington, London which was completed in 1974, as part of the first 
phase of the Lancaster West Estate.  Following its most recent 
refurbishment in 2015/16 it had a total occupancy of 127 flats and 227 
bedrooms.  It also received new windows and a new ACM cladding 
system with external thermal insulation during this refurbishment.  A 
major fire seriously damaged the building on 14 June 2017 and at least 
72 people were confirmed or presumed dead, a further 70 were injured 
while 223 escaped.  It was the deadliest structural fire in the United 
Kingdom since the 1988 Piper Alpha disaster and the worst UK residential 
fire since the Second World War. The fire is currently subject to a public 
inquiry, police investigation and coroner's inquests.

7.2 As previously noted in 6.6, and at the same meeting which by 
coincidence took place the day after the Grenfell Tower incident, the 
Scottish Minister took the opportunity to instruct Local Authorities of his 
expectations to provide a co-ordinated response to Government, 
irrespective of whether the Local Authority was a stock transfer Authority 
or not.  This was followed by correspondence requesting that all 
Authorities provide an update on both high rise and low-rise residential 

Page 18

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tower_block
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/North_Kensington
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/North_Kensington
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lancaster_West_Estate
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cladding_(construction)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Building_insulation
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Grenfell_Tower_fire
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Piper_Alpha


Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

accommodation, particularly focussing on those which may have been 
over clad or refurbished using an ACM (Aluminium Composite Materials)

7.3 Through coordination with the Council’s Housing team at the time, there 
was significant engagement with the relevant Housing Associations within 
the Scottish Borders area – primarily comprising SBHA, Eildon HA, 
Waverley HA and Berwickshire HA and others – it was determined that 
there were no high rise properties meeting the relevant criteria (a 
habitable floor 18m above ground level) or low-rise properties which had 
been retrofitted with ACM type cladding.

7.4 SBC also undertook a review of non-housing projects, for example, the 
sports centre building adjacent to Peebles High School which had been 
fairly recently constructed using a modular cladding system (although 
different) and determined that the same sort of risk identified in the use 
of ACM cladding at Grenfell was not applicable to any SBC properties. 

8 OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR CAPITAL PROJECT DELIVERY

8.1 Capital projects have typically been delivered over recent years using a 
scalable approach where a project development team is assembled to 
cover the overall project management and professional service elements 
followed by the delivery team including a main contractor.  In all projects 
the use of industry standard conditions of contracts and scope of service 
allow for all parties to be clear about the responsibility for safety at both 
design and construction stage, including the roles of Principal Designer 
and Principal Contractor.  These are required by controlling legislation 
such as the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 
which ensures that an industry standard approach to health and safety is 
adopted.

8.2 The development stage of a project is controlled by relevant SBC Officers 
with skill and experience so that design and specification choices are 
managed to avoid, manage or mitigate risks.  The selection of a main 
contractor includes a quality assessment within which Health and Safety 
is a major component.  Issues relating to Health and Safety are reported 
to Officers on projects regularly and are a prerequisite of successful 
project delivery.

8.3 Construction quality during the delivery stage of a project is monitored 
using site-based procedures and policies typically managed by the main 
contractor supplemented using Independent Checkers, a Clerk of Works 
and/or members of the design team as appropriate.

8.4 In addition, recent projects such as Broomlands and Langlee Primary 
Schools have made use of specific digital technology (Multivista) with 
regular site-based information gathered (Photography/Video/Drone) to 
ensure that records are kept of the key stages of the construction 
process.

8.5 Any issues identified during the construction stage are dealt with by the 
delivery team and managed to a successful conclusion 

Page 19



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

9 OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR PROPERTY MAINTENACE

9.1 SBC’s Property and Estates team are responsible for the on-going 
maintenance and repair of the Council’s operational estate using a variety 
of systems and processes. 

9.2 As part of a wider restructure within Assets & Infrastructure, the 
Corporate Landlord model is being introduced in stages.  The concept of 
a Corporate Landlord is that the ownership of an asset and the 
responsibility for its management and maintenance is transferred from a 
service department to the Corporate Landlord, in this instance the 
Property & Estates team within Assets & Infrastructure directorate.

9.3 All property and facilities information is currently held in a central (HQ 
only) system called Technology Forge.  This will shortly be upgraded (by 
CGI) to a cloud-based solution called TF Cloud which will allow remote 
access and updating of this data as required to provide a more flexible 
and agile solution.  This could potentially include allowing access to the 
data by trusted partners, for example, when undertaking PAT testing of 
electrical equipment or fire alarms within schools meaning that there is 
no ‘double handling’ of this information by Officers.  TF Cloud is used a 
by several Local Authorities in Scotland who have all previously 
transitioned from Technology Forge.

9.4 All properties are subject to a regular survey and inspection regime 
which ensures that a detailed condition survey is undertaken at 
maximum five-year periods.  Some properties, such as the school estate, 
are undertaken on a more regular basis due to the requirement to report 
a ‘Core Facts Summary’ to Scottish Government on an annual basis, 
which includes data on condition, suitability and sufficiency (capacity).

9.5 Secondly, there is an on-going programme of (revenue) activities, at a 
variety of frequencies, that ensures that all planned and cyclical 
programmes of work, in relation to the overall hard facilities 
management of the property, are undertaken.  This can include PAT 
(electrical) testing, asbestos inspections, water and legionella testing, 
heating and gas installations, and every aspect which requires regular 
inspections. 

9.6 Beyond the planned and cyclical works, and because of finite revenue 
funding through the Property Maintenance fund, Property Officers 
primarily direct and prioritise reactive revenue resources to the following 
areas: 

1. Emergency response and repairs
2. Health and Safety related matters
3. Wind and Watertight

9.7 Changes are also currently being implemented in the Council’s reactive 
property maintenance arrangements and a new external supply chain 
framework will be implemented during 2019. 

Page 20



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

10 DRINKING WATER / LEAD TESTING PROGRAMME

10.1 Subsequent to a request received from the Drinking Water Quality 
Regulator for Scotland (DWQR) regarding the presence of lead in drinking 
water in schools, SBC commenced a programme of water sampling 
initially within all our schools built before 1970 which totalled 54 
education sites.

10.2 The use of lead pipework was effectively banned in 1969 and therefore 
those sites deemed to be higher risk – those built before 1970 - have 
been prioritised initially but the intention is to undertake testing across 
all sites, irrespective of age and irrespective of end use - not just schools

10.3 The Drinking Water Quality Regulator for Scotland (DWQR) exists to 
ensure that drinking water in Scotland is safe to drink.  The current UK 
drinking water quality standards state that the level of lead in any water 
supply must not exceed 10µg/l (parts per billion).  This came into force in 
December 2013 after the previous standard of 25µg/l was tightened from 
a previous level of 50µg/l and therefore the direction of travel to reduce 
lead levels is evident.

10.4 Although only drinking water outlets were required to be assessed, it is 
not considered reasonable to assume that water was only being ingested 
from specific sinks and that others, such as in classrooms or toilet WHB’s, 
would also be potentially used by pupils or indeed staff.  A decision was 
taken therefore to sample and test all outlets within the 54 initial sites.

10.5 This work has been undertaken in conjunction with our water supplier 
(Anglian Water) using an approved methodology requiring multiple 
samples to be taken at various times including stagnation periods, with 
secondary sampling being undertaken where required.  Advice as to next 
steps is also provided as part of the reporting.

10.6 Sampling commenced on 16 October 2018 with the first phase being 
complete mid-December 2018.  These initial results identified 12 sites 
with elevated results from specific outlets that would require secondary 
sampling which was undertaken between mid-December 2018 and mid-
January 2019.  The final report was received 30 January 2019 which 
highlighted 3 primary schools still with marginally elevated results, those 
schools being Trinity, St Boswells & Ednam.  The specific findings for 
each site are as follows:

10.7 Trinity Primary School

Header tank within attic space which serves only the staff W.C. within the 
school kitchen was found to be lead lined with a lead pipe outlet which 
then connected to copper pipe.  This tank was immediately isolated by a 
plumber as a result of the report and supporting advice.  Work is 
scheduled during the upcoming Easter break to drain, dismantle & 
remove the water tank and to replace with a smaller plastic tank. 

Page 21



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

10.8 St Boswells Primary School

A single outlet located within a P5/6 classroom sink was found to have 
elevated levels however a further survey of school found that all internal 
pipework was of a good standard and therefore the problem had to relate 
to an external section of public (i.e. Scottish Water network) pipework 
causing the raised levels.  The advice is that the pipe from the Springfield 
Terrace lane stopcock to the school’s stopcock be replaced to eliminate 
this likely source of lead.  This work is currently being costed at present 
and will be undertaken as soon as possible with assistance from Scottish 
Water where necessary.

10.9 Ednam Primary School

Both the initial and secondary survey of the school found that while the 
internal pipework was generally of an acceptable standard with no header 
tank present, the school continued to yield elevated lead levels of circa 
30µg/l at several outlets.  The advice was to replace the affected 
pipework immediately and therefore the decision was taken to provide 
the school with bottled drinking water, and subsequently decant the 
pupils (approx. 45no.) to the nearby Broomlands Primary School for the 
duration while remedial works are undertaken.  A rapid response group 
was formed, and this decision was taken jointly between the Education 
and Property teams within an hour of the report being made available to 
SBC. 

10.10 The remedial works are currently being costed and will progressed as 
soon as possible.  In addition, fixed electrical testing has been 
undertaken while the school is vacated with no further works being 
necessary – it had originally been anticipated that an electrical upgrade 
would be required in the 20/21 timeframe.

10.11 Officers will also use the opportunity while having vacant possession of 
the property to undertake some minor asbestos removal works (the 
presence of which was known and there is a well-established protocol for 
dealing with such matters) which will be undertaken in the coming weeks 
along with some accelerated internal refurbishment works in conjunction 
with the Education capital block allocations.

10.12 The testing programme will continue across them remainder of the school 
estate and other sites, with appropriate remedial action being taken 
immediately any concerns are identified. 

11 SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT BUILDING STANDARDS COMPLIANCE AND FIRE 
SAFETY CONSULTATION

11.1 In the wake of the Grenfell Tower fire in London and the prior Oxgangs 
Primary School collapse in Edinburgh in January 2016, a Ministerial 
Working Group (MWG) was set up to oversee a review of building and fire 
safety regulatory frameworks for Scotland’s buildings.

11.2 The focus of the MWG was on safety in high rise domestic buildings and 
other actions around fire and safety advice, and the adequacy of current 
fire and building regulatory frameworks.

Page 22



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

11.3 Following on from this two expert review panels were established to 
consider relevant aspects of the Scottish building standards system:

a) A Review Panel on Building Standards (Fire Safety) in Scotland, 
which looked at functional standards and associated guidance for 
building work in Scotland. In June 2018, it concluded that while the 
structure of mandatory standards should be retained, the status and 
limitations of the guidance needed to be made clearer.

b) A Review Panel on Building Standards Compliance and Enforcement
examined the current operation of the building standards system, 
including its strengths, weaknesses and potential changes that could 
be introduced to address the identified weaknesses.

11.4 The recommendations of those two panels form the basis of a 
consultation managed by the Scottish Government’s Building Standards 
Division.  The consultation was live during August and September 2018, 
with views collected via an online survey and supporting face to face 
consultation events.  In total 222 survey responses were received, and 
246 individuals attended the events.

The consultation findings were analysed by Pye Tait Consulting and were 
presented in a report which Scottish Government published in late 
December 2018.

Scottish Borders Council’s Building Standards Team (part of Regulatory 
Services) provided a response to the consultation which was included in 
the initial report. 

11.5 The consultation garnered a generally positive response, with most 
respondents being in favour of the proposals.  In response to the 
consultation there is a generally optimism with a majority in favour of the 
proposals, demonstrated through the high levels of agreement with most 
of the consultation questions.  Key areas of uncertainty and concern 
centre around whether Construction, Design and Management (CDM), 
Health and Safety, Construction Compliance and Notification Plan (CCNP) 
or other legislation and regulations meet the requirements of the new 
proposals. 

11.6 Other areas relate to the practicality of implementing aspects of the
proposal, for example, the resourcing of further Local Authority 
verification capabilities or the risk of losing local expertise through the 
generation of a central hub.

11.7 Concerns were primarily focused on the resourcing, both in financial and 
personnel terms, and the impact of the proposal without a robust 
enforcement capability that has legislative reinforcement.  These are also 
key themes from the face-to-face consultation events.  Enforcement is an 
issue that is deemed to have ramifications for aspects of other proposals 
within the consultation.  Three quarters of respondents and the vast 
majority consulted in face-to-face events agreed that the enforcement 
capabilities are insufficient.  Without a greater level of deterrence, 
perceptions are that for private developers “Cash is King” with the 

Page 23



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

priority being the bottom line and in public projects that political pressure 
could impact the quality of verification due to conflicting interests.  
Nearly all of those consulted deemed that a more proactive approach in 
enforcement was required and that this should be driven at the national
level.

11.8 Resourcing was identified as a key concern for Local Authorities, and 
there were indications, anecdotally at least, they were deemed to be 
overstretched by all stakeholder groups.  In many cases, affirmative 
responses to proposals were caveated with a need for increased 
resourcing, with a recognition that long-term support is required i.e. not 
just for the period it remains relevant.  The introduction of a central hub 
is an area where competing interests seemed to rise in terms of 
resourcing, responsibility and who would be involved.  It was deemed 
that the introduction of a central hub could reduce vital resources in rural 
Local Authorities, with preference given to urbanised authorities and the 
loss of expertise at the local level.

12 CONCLUSIONS / FUTURE PROPOSALS

12.1 Scottish Government have recently published interim guidance entitled 
“Scottish Procurement Construction Policy Note CPN 1/2017” dated 20 
July 2017 which sets out to provides interim guidance following the 
publication of the Independent Inquiry into the Construction of Edinburgh 
Schools.

12.2 The key message is that “contracting authorities engaged in construction 
must make appropriate arrangements for the independent inspection of 
construction activities”.  As such, contracting authorities cannot abdicate 
responsibility for independent inspections irrespective of the form of 
procurement or contract being adopted and must maintain a degree of 
control over the site inspection process. 

12.3 In response, SBC will reinforce their Clerk of Work capabilities through 
the continuing use of internal and external resource where appropriate. 
In addition, Officers propose to amend standard scopes of service for 
each consultant appointment (architect, engineer etc) to ensure that they 
(irrespective of procurement route) provide regular written reporting on 
the qualitative aspects of the construction period. 

13 IMPLICATIONS

13.1 Financial 

There are no additional revenue costs attached to any of the 
recommendations contained in this report.  Any additional capital costs, 
for example in amending consultant scopes of service, will be 
accommodated within agreed capital project budgets.

13.2 Risk and Mitigations

The report sets out the systems and processes that are in place to 
manage and mitigate risk wherever possible in respect of the Council’s 
operational estate. Officers will continue to address any issues identified 

Page 24



Audit & Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019

or raised in a responsive manner.  There are no adverse impacts as a 
consequence of this report.

13.3 Equalities

There are no equalities impacts as a consequence of this report. 

13.4 Acting Sustainably

There are no adverse impacts as a consequence of this report.

13.5 Carbon Management

There are no adverse impacts as a consequence of this report.

13.6 Rural Proofing

No adverse impacts are anticipated as a consequence of this report. 

13.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

No changes are anticipated as a consequence of this report

14 CONSULTATION

14.1 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Chief Officer HR, the Clerk to the 
Council and Corporate Communications have been consulted and any 
comments received have been incorporated into the final report.

Approved by

Martin Joyce
Service Director Assets & Infrastructure  Signature ......................................

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Martin Joyce Service Director Assets & Infrastructure

Background Papers:  none

Previous Minute Reference:  none

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Local government in Scotland

Challenges and 
performance 2019 

Prepared by Audit Scotland
March 2019

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



The Accounts Commission
The Accounts Commission is the public spending watchdog for local 
government. We hold councils in Scotland to account and help them improve. 
We operate impartially and independently of councils and of the Scottish 
Government, and we meet and report in public.

We expect councils to achieve the highest standards of governance and 
financial stewardship, and value for money in how they use their resources 
and provide their services.

Our work includes:

• securing and acting upon the external audit of Scotland’s councils  
and various joint boards and committees

• assessing the performance of councils in relation to Best Value and 
community planning

• carrying out national performance audits to help councils improve  
their services

• requiring councils to publish information to help the public assess  
their performance.

You can find out more about the work of the Accounts Commission on  
our website: www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/about-us/accounts-commission 

Audit Scotland is a statutory body set up in April 2000 under the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. We help the Auditor General 
for Scotland and the Accounts Commission check that organisations 
spending public money use it properly, efficiently and effectively.Page 28

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/about-us/accounts-commission


Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019    | 3

Contents

Chair's introduction 4

Summary 6

Part 1. The context for councils 10

Part 2. How councils are responding 21

Part 3. Council performance and the impact on communities 34

Endnotes 47

Audit team

The core audit team consisted 
of: Carol Calder, Kathrine Sibbald, 
Ashleigh  Madjitey and Ruth Azzam, with 
support from other colleagues and under 
the direction of Claire Sweeney. 

Links
PDF download

Web link

Information box

 Exhibit data

When viewing this 
report online, you can 
access background 
data by clicking on 
the graph icon. The 
data file will open in a 
new window.

These question 
mark icons appear 
throughout this 
report and represent 
questions  
for councillors.

Page 29



4 |

Chair’s introduction

Councils have an increasingly challenging role. They need to respond to the 
changing needs of their local population. At the same time, they have a pivotal 
role in helping to deliver a range of key national priorities for Scotland. This is 
at a time when the outlook is for finances to tighten further and for demand 
for services to continue to increase, as populations change and there are more 
people living in poverty. 

The important role councils play is clear, but there are many uncertainties, which 
makes planning for the future more challenging as it becomes more critical than 
ever. The UK’s withdrawal from the EU is imminent as I write this introduction, 
but the process and implications remain unclear. The medium to longer-term 
impact of changes to the Scottish Government’s financial powers and the details 
surrounding the local governance review are also still unknown.

However, we find that councils across Scotland have continued to work hard to 
maintain services to their communities, despite the increasing challenges and 
pressures. They have stepped up and have continued to improve how they use their 
resources. But, in many councils the change and improvement work has focused 
on efficiencies. To address the growing gap between demand and resources, more 
fundamental, transformational changes are needed in service provision, and the 
pace of change needs to improve in some councils. Transformational change is 
about more than just efficiency. There needs to be a focus on how services are best 
delivered to communities and, in particular, how councils protect and empower the 
most vulnerable members of those communities.

Objective and relevant data are essential. Nationally, across councils, data are 
fundamental for the assessment of performance, benchmarking and improvement. 
Locally, data should support the redesign and change of processes and services. 
It is important for councils to have good-quality workforce data to inform 
organisation-wide workforce planning that supports the shape of future  operations.

The pressure on council budgets has led to the exploration of alternative 
approaches to increasing income such as extending fees and charging schemes 
and the options for introducing local taxes. This is a development of interest to 
the Commission that we will monitor and consider in future overview reports. 

Page 30



Chair's introduction    | 5

We published an update report Health and social care integration  in 
November 2018, which found that although integration authorities have made 
some progress they must overcome significant barriers to speed up change. 
The  Commission will continue to have a close interest in the progress of 
integration authorities and in their financial management.  

I hope you find this overview useful and I would welcome any feedback you 
may  have.

Graham Sharp  
Chair of the Accounts Commission

Page 31

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181115_health_socialcare_update.pdf


6 |

Summary

Key messages

1 Councils face an increasingly complex, changing and uncertain 
environment which places different demands and expectations on 
them. Councils are also central to delivering many high-level public 
sector objectives, such as the integration of health and care services 
and involving citizens more in decisions about public services.

2 These reforms require councils to collaborate with partners, with the 
third sector and with communities, to think differently about how 
they deliver and fund services. Thinking differently about services 
is important to meet the growing and changing needs of their 
communities in the coming years. New ways of working can lead to 
increasingly complicated lines of accountability. 

3 Scottish Government revenue funding to councils has reduced in real 
terms between 2013/14 and 2019/20, while national policy initiatives 
continue to make up an increasing proportion of council budgets. This 
reduces the flexibility councils have for deciding how they plan to use 
funding. At the same time, demands for council services are increasing 
from a changing population profile. All councils expect an increase in 
the proportion of people aged over 65 and almost a third of councils 
expect an increase in the proportion of children under 15. 

4 Councils have made good progress in developing medium-term 
financial planning and continue to manage their funding gaps through 
savings and use of reserves. All councils increased council tax to the 
maximum three per cent in 2018/19 and many increased their fees and 
charges to raise income. Some councils are looking at other options to 
raise income.

5 Councils need to ensure they have the staff, skills and leaders to deliver 
change. This requires effective workforce planning, but the quality of 
planning is inconsistent across councils. An increasing proportion of 
the workforce is nearing retirement. If there is insufficient succession 
planning, skills and knowledge will be lost as these people retire. 
Recruitment into some service areas is becoming increasingly difficult, 
but national workforce data is insufficient to clearly understand how 
individual services areas are affected. 

Page 32



Summary   | 7

6 Despite reducing funding and increasing demands, across local 
government most performance indicators are improving or being 
maintained, although some service areas show more strain. There 
remains performance variation among councils that cannot be readily 
explained by differences in context or spend. Better use of data and 
benchmarking could lead to further improvement and efficiencies. 

Recommendations

While councils have continued to find ways to manage funding gaps and 
have made good progress with medium-term financial planning, they face 
an increasingly complex, changing and uncertain time ahead. To continue to 
improve the outcomes for their communities within this context, councils need 
to be open to transformational change and implement new ways of working. 

To make effective progress councils should: 

• assure themselves that they have adequate leadership and 
management capacity in place. This should include development 
arrangements that prepare and support councillors and senior 
managers to respond to the challenging and changing local and  
national demands  

• undertake long-term financial planning to set out how they will 
deliver national policy commitments, while continuing to sustain local 
services with reducing budgets and increasing demands

• continue to seek and implement innovative ways of working and 
collaborate with communities, partners and the third sector to drive 
transformational change

• improve data to:  

 – help inform the difficult decisions councils have to make 

 – support benchmarking, learning and sharing of experience and 
effective practice with others that will contribute to improving 
service quality, efficiency and outcomes for communities  

• ensure they have workforce planning that is clear about the 
workforce needed now and in the future, where the gaps are and 
what training or other action is needed to fill them. This should be 
supported by better workforce data

• be able to demonstrate how spending decisions and priorities have 
impacted on service delivery and the outcomes of residents, as well as 
how they are delivering against the national performance framework.

Page 33



8 |

About this report

1. This report provides a high-level, independent view of the challenges facing
councils in Scotland, how councils are responding to tightening budgets and
how this has affected services. It draws on findings from Local government
in Scotland: Financial overview 2017/18 , published performance data and
local government audit work in 2018. This includes annual audits, Best Value
Assurance Reports (BVARs) and national performance audits. All national and
individual council audit reports are available on our website .

2. The report highlights key challenges councils face and looks at some of the
main ways councils are responding to increasing demand and reduced funding.
Where specific examples of council activities or circumstances are referenced,
this is not intended to imply that the named councils are the only ones engaging
in these activities or experiencing these circumstances. The report aims to inform
the public and its representatives and, in particular, local government councillors
and senior council officers to support them in their complex and demanding roles.
It covers three areas:

• The current and future challenges facing councils.

• How councils are responding to these challenges.

• The impact on performance in key service areas and public satisfaction.

3. To help councillors, we have produced the following supplements to
accompany this report:

• A scrutiny tool  with examples of questions that councillors could ask
to help them understand their council’s position, scrutinise performance
and assist in making difficult decisions. Councillors should feel they fully
understand, and are satisfied with, the answers to the questions that are
most relevant to them in their role within the council.

• An online tool  that shows how councils are performing. It is designed
to allow councillors, officers and members of the public to better
understand how their council is performing compared to others.

4. We draw on a range of sources of evidence for this report. Financial
information is taken from the Local Government Financial Circulars,1 Local
Government finance statistics,2 the Scottish Government’s provisional outturn
and budget estimates3 and councils' annual accounts. Performance information
is gathered from the Local Government Benchmarking Framework (LGBF),

4 the
National Performance Framework (NPF) indicators

5
 and relevant reports from

other scrutiny bodies, such as Education Scotland and the Care Inspectorate.

5. To make financial information clear and comparable in the report we:

• Refer to real terms changes, this means we have adjusted the figures to
take account of inflation. Our analysis of local government funding adjusts
figures into 2018/19 prices to reflect the current year.

Page 34

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181129_local_government_finance.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181129_local_government_finance.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/about-us/accounts-commission
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2019/nr_190321_local_government_performance_supp1.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/local-government-in-scotland-challenges-and-performance-2019


Summary   | 9

• Look at historical trends in financial data using data from 2013/14 where 
possible. National police and fire services were established in 2013 and 
so were not included in local government accounts from 2013/14. It is not 
always possible to use 2013/14 as some information is only available for 
more recent years. 

• Adjusted figures to 2017/18 costs where the report comments on council 
performance in 2017/18.

Page 35



10 |

Part 1
The context for councils

Councils must respond to an increasingly complex policy agenda 
while dealing with a high degree of uncertainty     

6. Councils have a responsibility to provide a wide range of services to their 
residents and communities. These include educating children, looking after the 
elderly, collecting bins, maintaining local roads and ensuring buildings meet safety 
standards. Councils’ work is influenced by the wider economic and political 
environment, UK and Scottish Government policy and demographics. 

7. The context that councils are working in has become characterised by reducing 
budgets (paragraphs 25–36), increasing demand for services (paragraphs 37–41) 
and the delivery of an increasingly complex range of national policies. Within this 
challenging context, councils need to continue to work towards local priorities and 
improving outcomes for their communities. Exhibit 1 (page 11) illustrates some of 
the major current examples of policy and legislative change.

8. Some policy changes by the UK and Scottish governments increase 
expectations on councils, many come with financial implications and others 
increase uncertainty. Significant current issues include: 

• Withdrawal from the European Union (EU) – At the time of writing this 
report, it is planned that on 29 March 2019, the UK will leave the EU. 
As  the process is still on-going there is a high level of uncertainty about 
what this will mean for councils, which makes planning difficult. This is an 
area which is fast changing and will have a long-term impact on councils.

• Scotland’s new financial and social security powers – The 2012 and 2016 
Scotland Acts introduced new financial and social security powers. As a result, 
Scotland’s budget is influenced by Scottish ministers’ tax decisions and how 
well the Scottish economy performs compared to the rest of the UK. This 
means the Scottish budget is likely to become more variable than it has been 
through the block grant from the UK Government. In its five-year strategy, the 
Scottish Government estimates that the Scottish budget could vary by up to six 
per cent by 2022/23.

6
 If the Scottish budget varies, funding to local government 

through the Scottish Government settlement will also be affected, in particular, 
services that are not financially protected as Scottish Government priorities. 

• Local governance review – In 2018, the Scottish Government and COSLA 
launched a review of how powers and responsibilities are shared across 
national and local government and with communities. The aim of the 
review is to give local communities more say in how public services in 
their area are run. The Scottish Government and COSLA plan to continue 
consulting with stakeholders through 2019 as legislation is developed. It 
is not yet clear how this review will affect councils and how it will affect 
partnership working with other organisations, such as the NHS.

Have you 
considered 
how policy and 
legislative change 
will affect how 
your council 
operates?

What scenario 
planning has your 
council done for 
events such as EU 
withdrawal and 
increasing budget 
uncertainty?

 
Audit Scotland 
published a briefing 
paper on the EU 
withdrawal 
in October 2018 
highlighting the risks 
including workforce, 
funding and financial 
implications.

Audit Scotland has 
produced a policy 
briefing on new 
financial powers  

Page 36

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/paper_181011_eu_withdrawal.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/paper_181011_eu_withdrawal.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/briefing_181016_financial_powers.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/briefing_181016_financial_powers.pdf


Part 1. The context for councils  | 11

Community 
empowerment

Community assets

Community 
engagement

Participatory budgets Wider

Withdrawal from  
the EU

Scotland’s new 
financial powers

Local governance 
review

Regional economy

City Region and 
Growth Deals

Islands Act

Barclay review

Improving 
outcomes

Fairer Scotland Act

Early learning and 
childcare

Education reform

Impact of welfare 
reform

Local Outcome 
Improvement Plans

National Performance 
Framework

Health and social care 
integration

Child Poverty Act

Exhibit 1
Current major policy and legislative changes affecting local government 
Many of the changes in national policy are interdependent.

Source: Audit Scotland

9. This context makes it difficult for councils to know how they will need to 
respond in the future and makes longer-term financial planning challenging but 
even more vital. With increased uncertainty, scenario planning within medium 
and longer-term planning becomes increasingly important. We will continue to 
monitor national developments, councils’ preparations and their responses to 
these issues through our audit work.

10. The examples in Exhibit 1 contribute to a complex picture of interacting policy 
initiatives. Many of the policy changes and initiatives are interdependent and will 
influence each other. For example, good community empowerment (giving people 
more influence over how services are planned) should contribute to a range of 
initiatives and activities that improve outcomes. This complex picture means that: 

• Councillors and senior officers need to have a wide and current 
understanding of policy issues and how these relate to local priorities and 
needs, to plan and make complex decisions locally. This can be challenging 
where capacity is already stretched. 

• It is more important than ever for councils to plan for different scenarios in 
terms of funding and demand for services. This includes finding different 
ways to deliver services efficiently and effectively.

• There is an increasing need for effective partnership working with other 
public, private and third-sector organisations and their communities.

Are you clear 
what Community 
Empowerment 
involves and what 
it means for your 
council? 

Page 37



12 |

Improving outcomes is a priority both at a local and national level but 
reporting arrangements still need to develop 
11. In June 2018, the Scottish Government and COSLA launched their revised 
National Performance Framework (NPF).

7
 All councils signed up to the priorities 

and vision for Scotland it sets out. There is a strong focus on increased wellbeing, 
improving outcomes, and economic growth that is sustainable and benefits all 
sections of society. 

12. Councils are key contributors to delivering this vision to improve the outcomes 
for the people of Scotland, alongside their community planning partners. Councils 
and their partners need to have regard to the NPF and consider how this 
framework fits with local decision-making, local outcome priorities and measures. 
A significant amount of council activity is already focused on themes that reflect 
those of the NPF. For example, most councils have a strategic focus on reducing 
inequality within their communities.

13. Councils also have a role in delivering a range of national initiatives that will 
contribute to the themes of the NPF, such as: 

• Delivering 1,140 hours of free childcare to all three-year olds and eligible 
two-year olds. 

• Improving educational outcomes, especially for the most deprived pupils, 
through the Pupil Equity Fund (extra money to some schools with children 
from poorer backgrounds) and a commitment to maintain teacher numbers. 

• Contributing to the delivery of 50,000 affordable homes including 35,000 
for social rent.

• Implementing the requirements of the Fairer Scotland Duty which 
places a legal responsibility on public bodies in Scotland, including 
councils, to actively consider how they can reduce inequalities caused by 
socioeconomic disadvantage, when making strategic decisions.

Although there is ongoing work that will contribute, it is not yet clear what role 
councils are expected to have in achieving all of the NPF aims, what that would 
mean for councils’ resources or how progress and targets will be monitored and 
reported on. 

Councils cannot deliver their priorities alone

14. Councils have a long history of working closely with other organisations. 
This includes delivering some services through the third and private sectors 
and through arm’s-length external organisations (ALEOs). This also includes 
local partnership working with other public sector bodies, such as the NHS, the 
third sector and other local and national organisations through local partnership 
activities, including Community Planning Partnerships. Councils need to build on 
their partnership working experience to respond to the changing context. 

15. Councils face a difficult balance of a move towards more regional working 
and collaboration, and a need to maintain a focus on local priorities, local decision-
making and local accountability. Many of the national policies introduced in recent 
years have involved some elements of working with partners, for example in 
regional partnerships to deliver economic development or through the health and 
social care integration joint boards. 

 
Councils and the 
Scottish Government 
are focused on 
improving outcomes 
across Scotland. 
Examples of these 
include improving 
employment 
opportunities, 
reducing anti-social 
behaviour, giving 
children the best start 
in life and helping 
people live longer and 
healthier lives.

Do you know if 
your council’s 
governance and 
accountability 
structures are 
fit for purpose, 
given increasingly 
complex ways of 
working?

If you sit on a 
board, do you fully 
understand your 
responsibilities to 
that board and the 
council?

Page 38



Regional economic developments mean more collaborative and 
partnership working
16. Councils are pursuing City Region Deals and Growth Deals as ways to 
drive local economic growth. These involve significant partnership working. The 
Scottish Government has committed to all areas in Scotland being part of a deal:

• There are four signed City Region Deals in Scotland, involving 17 councils 
and various other partners.

• A further six councils are developing two City Region Deals.

• The remaining councils are working on alternative investment proposals, 
such as Growth Deals and Island Deals.

17. Councils work with their partners to propose projects to include in their deal, 
based on the anticipated benefits to their regional economies. The Scottish 
and UK governments then decide which projects to fund, typically over a ten 
to 20-year period. To date, the governments have jointly committed £2.1  billion 
to the four signed City Region Deals. This is supported by around £1.6 billion 
committed by councils and other partners. Most of the funding for the four 
signed deals has been allocated to infrastructure projects, such as roads and 
buildings. However, deals also include innovation, employability and skills, 
technology, housing and digital projects such as improved broadband. The 
Scottish Government expects that councils and partners signed up to deals will 
form Regional Economic Partnerships to work together on regional issues. 

18. We are carrying out an audit of City Region and Growth deals which will be 
reported towards the end of 2019. 

The Community Empowerment Act gives citizens a greater role and this 
requires a change in how councils operate 
19. The Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 gives people more 
influence over how their councils and their partners plan services. It is intended 
that councils will devolve power to communities to make a difference to their 
local areas through: 

• Community asset transfers – where communities can take responsibility 
for land and buildings.

• Participation requests – where people can ask to take part in decisions 
about council services. 

• Participatory budgeting – where communities can have a say in how the 
council should spend public money locally.

20. As part of the Act, local authorities also have statutory oversight of 
community councils and are required by statute to consult community councils 
about planning applications and licensing matters.

21. Councils are considering how they balance an increase in community 
involvement with a responsibility and accountability for the sustainability of 
services delivered to their citizens. Some progress is being made with community 
empowerment, particularly with ensuring formal arrangements are in place. We 
consider this further in Part 2 (paragraphs 70–78). 

Part 1. The context for councils  | 13

 
City Region and 
Growth Deals 
are long-term 
agreements between 
the Scottish 
Government, the 
UK Government and 
councils to improve 
regional economies. 

Page 39



14 |

Accountability is increasingly complex
22. A result of a more collaborative way of working is an increasingly complex 
governance and accountability landscape. This has implications for councils: 

• Councillors now sit on more boards than before. In our May 2018 report, 
Councils’ use of arm’s-length external organisations  (ALEOs) we 
noted that this can make it difficult for small councils to manage potential 
conflicts of interest.

• There can be disagreements around shared governance arrangements. In 
our Health and social care integration update  report we noted that a 
lack of collaborative leadership and different cultures in councils and health 
boards were affecting the pace of change.

• Councils still have a responsibility to track performance management and 
provide scrutiny proportionate to the risk involved. The roles of councillors 
and officers in overseeing collaborative activities needs to be clear.

• There is a duty to ensure that communities are involved in decision-making 
processes where appropriate. This may be more difficult to manage with 
more complex governance structures. 

23. The discussion and decision-making on some issues is moving further from 
councils themselves, but councils retain the overall accountability to the local 
community. It is increasingly important that councillors and officers have an 
appropriate understanding of their roles and skills, including in governance and 
leadership, when leading work delivered through complex partnerships, boards 
and other mechanisms. 

24. Formal governance arrangements must be kept current to cover local 
decisions made about representation, delegation, scope of responsibilities 
and reporting. Councils, and their partners, should ensure arrangements meet 
their needs but take care to minimise additional complexity of governance 
arrangements as new ways of working are adopted.  

Scottish Government funding to councils has reduced in real terms 
since 2013/14 but increased slightly between 2018/19 and 2019/20

25. Councils need to continue to deliver on the increasingly complex range of local 
and national priorities and initiatives, despite several years of reducing funding and 
increasing demands on services. Between 2013/14 and 2019/20, total revenue 
funding has fallen six per cent in real terms. Scottish Government funding to 
councils is forecast to continue to reduce in the medium-term. 

26. Scottish Government funding is the largest source of income for councils. 
Overall, total revenue funding will increase by 1.1 per cent in real terms between 
2018/19 and 2019/20 (Exhibit 2, page 15). 

 
Governance 
describes the 
structures, systems, 
processes, controls 
and behaviours for 
managing activities. 

Accountability is 
the way individuals 
or groups are held 
responsible for 
managing and planning 
how resources 
are used and how 
well performance 
aims are achieved. 
For example, chief 
executives in councils 
are accountable to 
councillors.

 
Revenue funding is 
funding from Scottish 
Government to 
councils for day-to- day 
services.

Total revenue funding 
consists of general 
resource grants, 
specific revenue grants 
and non-domestic 
rates income (NDR).

Core revenue funding 
includes the general 
resource grant and 
non-domestic rate 
income, and reflects 
the funding councils 
have control over to 
provide services.

Page 40

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_180518_councils_aleos.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181115_health_socialcare_update.pdf


27. On 28 March 2018, the Scottish Government paid £34.5 million of additional 
funding to councils. Although this was funded from Scottish Government 
underspends and paid in 2017/18, it was shown as 2018/19 funding in the local 
government settlement:   

• By recognising the £34.5 million as 2018/19 funding the Scottish 
Government showed an increase in funding to local government of 1.7 per 
cent in cash terms and 0.2 per cent in real terms compared to 2017/18.8 

• In the 2019/20 settlement, the 2018/19 total revenue funding figures no 
longer include the £34.5 million. The settlement makes no reference to this 
adjustment or that it is included in 2017/18 funding. Taking this adjustment 
into account, between 2017/18 and 2018/19, the Scottish Government’s 
total revenue funding to councils increased by 1.1 per in cash terms but 
this was a 0.7 per cent decrease in real terms. Our figures now include the 
£34.5 million as 2017/18 income.

28. The presentation of the £34.5 million within the annual settlements, and failure 
to refer to the change or how it has been treated, has made it harder to compare 
annual changes in local government funding. It is important that funding allocations 
are transparent and consistently applied across years to allow public bodies to plan 
and manage their finances effectively and support parliamentary scrutiny.

Exhibit 2
Funding from Scottish Government to councils
Total revenue funding increased slightly between 2018/19 and 2019/20. 

Cash
Change 

17/18 to 18/19
Change 

18/19 to 19/20
Change 

17/18 to 19/20

2017/18 
(£m)

2018/19 
(£m)

2019/20 
(£m)

Cash 
(%)

Real 
(%)

Cash 
(%)

Real 
(%)

Cash 
(%)

Real 
(%)

General 
Resource Grant

6,808 6,885 6,718 1.1 -0.7 -2.4 -4.2 -1.3 -4.8

Non-domestic 
rate income

2,666 2,636 2,853 -1.1 -2.9 8.2 6.3 7.0 3.3

Core revenue 
funding

9,474 9,521 9,571 0.5 -1.3 0.5 -1.2 1.0 -2.5

Specific 
revenue grants

211 274 508 29.7 27.4 85.5 82.3 140.6 132.2

Total revenue 
funding

9,685 9,795 10,078 1.1 -0.7 2.9 1.1 4.1 0.4

Note: We have used the most current information available. This means we have used 2019/20 budgeted funding and compared this with 
2017/18 and 2018/19 outturn funding. This does not include £355 million allocated in 2018/19 and 2019/20 from the Scottish Government's 
health budget to Integration Authorities. The additional funding of £34.5 million is included in the 2017/18 cash funding column above.

Source: Audit Scotland; Scottish Budget 2019/20; Local Government finance circulars 04/2018, 08/2018, 02/2019

Part 1. The context for councils  | 15

Page 41



16 |

National policy initiatives make up an increasing amount of council budgets
29. A growing proportion of Scottish Government total revenue funding to 
councils is protected to support Scottish Government priorities. Our analysis 
shows that revenue funding to support specific Scottish Government policies has 
increased from 6.6 per cent of total revenue funding (£643 million) in 2018/19, to 
12.1 per cent (£1.2 billion) in 2019/20 (Exhibit 3, page 17). This is because:

• The Scottish Government funding that must be spent on specific policy 
initiatives (specific revenue grants), such as the Pupil Equity Fund, now 
makes up an increasing proportion of total revenue funding. In 2018/19, 
this represented 2.8 per cent of total revenue funding and in 2019/20 will 
increase to five per cent.

• Alongside the specific revenue funding set out in the settlement, several 
of the Scottish Government’s policy initiatives have funding attached to 
them. Although these are not explicitly ring-fenced, if the council does not 
meet the objectives it may lose out on the funding. These have grown 
from 3.8 per cent of total revenue funding in 2018/19 to 7.1 per cent in 
2019/20 and are predominantly for education and social care services.

If these funding obligations are excluded from councils’ total revenue funding, the 
amount remaining was £9.2 billion in 2018/19 and £8.9 billion in 2019/20. This is a 
decrease of £449 million in real terms, five per cent of 2019/20 total revenue funding.

30. Councils face other obligations which limit where they can make savings, for 
example:

• Councils must make repayments on their debt. In 2018/19 they budgeted 
to spend £1.2 billion, ten per cent of their budgeted net revenue 
expenditure, on debt repayments. 

• In December 2018, COSLA made a pay offer for a three-year settlement 
for 2018/19 to 2020/21. The offer included an increase of 3.5 per cent for 
2018/19 (capped at £80,000) and a three per cent increase in each of the 
following years. Any settlement that is accepted will need to be funded 
from revenue funds.

• In February 2019, Glasgow City Council approved the settlement of its equal 
pay claim. It has agreed to make payments of around £548 million (44 per 
cent of its 2019/20 revenue funding from Scottish Government and council 
tax) in 2019/20. Our auditors will monitor this as part of the annual audit work.

• In 2019/20, councils can only reduce their allocations to Integration 
Authorities by 2.2 per cent compared to 2018/19.   

31. Social care and education make up a large proportion of councils’ budgets. In 
2018/19 councils budgeted to spend £3.3 billion on social care and £5.2 billion on 
education. This includes £2.4 billion on primary and secondary teachers' salaries. 
Together, this represents 69 per cent of their net revenue expenditure. Although 
it is possible for councils to make savings in these areas, national priorities, 
statutory obligations and demand for services make this challenging.  

 
Net revenue 
expenditure is financed 
through Scottish 
Government funding, 
council tax and the use 
of reserves.

Individual revenue 
allocation consists of 
Total revenue funding 
and assumed council 
tax contribution.

Page 42



Part 1. The context for councils  | 17

Exhibit 3
Spend on national priorities in 2018/19 and 2019/20
In 2019/20 councils will spend 12.1 per cent of their revenue funding meeting national priorities.  

2018/19

2019/20

93.4% 3.8%

7.1% 5%

2.8%

87.9%

Total 
revenue 
funding

Remaining revenue funding Policy initiatives Specific revenue grants

Source: Audit Scotland, Local Government finance circular 2/2019, Scottish Budget 2019/20

£9.79 billion

£10.08 billion

6.6%

12.1%

32. As a result, as we have previously reported, councils have made larger 
reductions to services other than education and social work. These include 
economic development, waste management and planning services, which 
are still important for maintaining the health, safety and wellbeing of residents. 
Between 2013/14 and 2017/18 spending was reduced as follows: 

• planning and development services (28 per cent)

• cultural and related services (14 per cent)

• roads and transport (seven per cent).

33. The Commission recognises that councils cannot be expected to deliver 
continuous performance improvement across all services in the current financial 
climate. Councils should set their priorities and invest in line with them. However, 
it is more difficult to do if increasing amounts of their budgets are protected. There 
is a risk that these budget reductions will have an impact on the sustainability 
of services as they are currently delivered. Councils need to continue to seek 
innovative ways to improve the efficiency of how they deliver all services and be 
clear about the anticipated impact on performance and service scope. 

Some council service areas can expect further funding reductions
34. The Scottish Government’s five-year strategy sets out its spending priorities 
to 2022/23; these are health, police, early learning and childcare, secondary 
school attainment, higher education and social security. Council services outside 

Page 43



18 |

education and early years are not identified as Scottish Government priorities and 
so will be disproportionately affected by any reductions to the Scottish budget. We 
calculated that other services outside the Scottish Government’s priorities could 
face between one and 16 per cent real terms reduction to their budgets.9 

Councils are managing reducing budgets despite local challenges 

35. We have previously reported that councils will have their own social and 
demographic circumstances to manage alongside funding reductions. An ageing 
population increases demand for social care services, rurality can make it more 
difficult to deliver services cost-effectively, and deprivation and poverty have 
wide-ranging impacts which can affect council services. However, the majority 
of revenue funding is allocated according to the size of the council’s population. 
Other factors are not always as clearly reflected in the funding allocations 
(Exhibit  4, page 19). For example:

• Eilean Siar and Argyll and Bute have seen some of the largest reductions in 
their funding allocations since 2013/14 due to a declining population but are 
also two of the most rural areas and have growing elderly populations.

• Some of the councils with high levels of deprivation, including Inverclyde, 
Glasgow and West Dunbartonshire, have also seen higher than average 
reductions to their core budgets.

36. Medium and long-term scenario planning will help councils understand what 
the likely implications are for them which will in turn help inform how best to 
provide services in the future. 

Population change is affecting demand for services. 
37. Demographic pressures, including an ageing population continue to increase 
the demands on council services. Over the period 2016 to 2041, ten councils 
expect an increase in both the over-65 population and the under-15 population. 
The Improvement Service estimates that, because of changing demographics, 
demand for services will increase by 2.6 per cent between 2018/19 and 2019/20. 
This represents an additional £248 million of spend for councils.10  

38. All councils are projected to have an increase in the number of people over 65 
by 2041. West Lothian council has a projected 45 per cent increase in the over-65 
age group, the highest in Scotland. An ageing population represents a significant 
challenge for councils especially in delivering social care services:

• The Institute for Fiscal Studies estimates that over the next 15 years, social 
care funding in the UK will need to increase by 3.9 per cent in real terms 
each year to meet the needs of an ageing population and more younger 
adults living with disabilities.11 

• The Scottish Government estimates an additional £683 million will be 
required by 2023/24 to meet additional social care demand.12

39. Ten councils are expected to see an increase in the proportion of people 
aged under 15 during the period 2016 to 2041, while 22 expect a decrease. 
For example, East Lothian Council expects its under 15-year-old population to 
increase three times faster than the Scottish average between 2016 and 2026. 
This increase means the council will need to fund:

Do you have a clear 
understanding of 
the demographic 
circumstances 
within your council 
area? 

Do you know 
how effectively 
your council uses 
this information 
to decide how to 
provide services in 
the future?

Page 44



Exhibit 4
Changes to council core revenue funding in real terms between 2013/14 and 2018/19, illustrated with 
socio-demographic factors that can impact on service demand and costs  
Demographic change, rurality and deprivation will all have implications for council services. The majority of core 
revenue funding is allocated based on population factors so funding reductions largely follow population change.

Eilean Siar
Shetland
Argyll and Bute
Edinburgh
Glasgow
Dumfries and Galloway
Inverclyde
North Lanarkshire
Aberdeen
West Dunbartonshire
Highland
South Lanarkshire
Renfrewshire
Clackmannanshire
South Ayrshire
East Ayrshire
Angus
Scottish Borders
Fife
Falkirk
Perth and Kinross
Stirling
Orkney
North Ayrshire
East Lothian
Dundee
East Renfrewshire
East Dunbartonshire
Moray
Aberdeenshire
West Lothian
Midlothian

-15.4%
-14.1%
-13.2%
-11.4%
-10.5%
-10.4%
-10.3%
-10.0%
-9.9%
-9.8%
-9.8%
-9.5%
-9.0%
-8.4%
-8.4%
-8.3%
-8.3%
-8.2%
-7.8%
-7.4%
-7.3%
-7.1%
-6.7%
-6.5%
-6.4%
-6.4%
-5.5%
-5.3%
-5.3%
-5.0%
-5.0%
-4.4%

Change in core revenue funding 
2013/14 to 2018/191

Cha
ng

e i
n p

op
ula

tio
n 

20
13

 to
 20

17
2

Rura
lity

3

Dep
riv

ati
on

4

Perc
en

tag
e o

f c
hild

ren
 

in 
po

ve
rty

5

Perc
en

tag
e o

f 

no
n-w

ork
ing

 ag
e 

po
pu

lat
ion

2

More
Less

Note: The darker the colour the more significant an issue it may be to that council, Rurality can make it more difficult to deliver services 
cost effectively, an ageing population increases demand for services and deprivation and poverty can have wide ranging impact on 
residents and councils (Paragraph 41).

Sources: 1. Scottish Government financial circulars 2013, 2014 and 2019. 2. National Records Scotland mid-year population estimates 2013 and 
2017. 3. Scottish Government Urban Rural Classification 2016. 4. Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016. 5. Children in families with limited 
resources across Scotland 2014-16, Scottish Government, 2017. 

Part 1. The context for councils  | 19

Page 45


Exhibit 4

		Local government in Scotland

		Challenges and performance 2019



		Exhibit 4

		Changes to council core revenue funding in real terms between 2013/14 and 2018/19 illustrated with socio-demographic factors that can impact on service demand and cost



				Change in core funding		Change in population		Rurality		SIMD (percentage of 30% most deprived)		Percentage of children in poverty		Non working age population

		Aberdeen		ERROR:#N/A		0.8		28		18.7		26.9		41.9

		Aberdeenshire		ERROR:#N/A		1.6		7		4.4		5.3		56.6

		Angus		ERROR:#N/A		-0.0		17		14.8		20.3		62.3

		Argyll & Bute		ERROR:#N/A		-1.4		4		19.2		12.1		63.6

		Clackmannanshire		ERROR:#N/A		0.3		19		43.1		18.3		56.0

		Dumfries & Galloway		ERROR:#N/A		-0.7		6		16.9		18.5		65.0

		Dundee		ERROR:#N/A		0.4		31		47.9		26.4		48.5

		East Ayrshire		ERROR:#N/A		-0.4		11		45.4		15.6		56.2

		East Dunbartonshire		ERROR:#N/A		2.2		24		12.3		11		62.3

		East Lothian		ERROR:#N/A		3.4		15		15.9		8		58.5

		East Renfrewshire		ERROR:#N/A		3.5		26		9.0		8.1		63.1

		Edinburgh		ERROR:#N/A		5.3		30		19.8		14.1		41.5

		Eilean Siar		ERROR:#N/A		-1.6		1		2.8		23.2		66.2

		Falkirk		ERROR:#N/A		1.9		23		33.2		26.7		54.0

		Fife		ERROR:#N/A		1.2		18		30.2		24.1		56.9

		Glasgow		ERROR:#N/A		4.1		32		57.1		40.9		40.2

		Highland		ERROR:#N/A		1.0		5		14.4		16.3		59.2

		Inverclyde		ERROR:#N/A		-2.0		27		51.8		18.1		55.3

		Midlothian		ERROR:#N/A		6.4		20		29.6		10.3		57.6

		Moray		ERROR:#N/A		1.5		9		8.7		10.1		58.3

		North Ayrshire		ERROR:#N/A		-0.8		13		50.0		25.7		59.9

		North Lanarkshire		ERROR:#N/A		0.6		22		49.2		21.2		52.2

		Orkney		ERROR:#N/A		2.0		3		3.4		18.6		61.0

		Perth & Kinross		ERROR:#N/A		2.3		8		11.3		16		60.6

		Renfrewshire		ERROR:#N/A		1.7		25		37.3		15.7		52.8

		Scottish Borders		ERROR:#N/A		1.0		10		11.2		24.4		64.7

		Shetland		ERROR:#N/A		-0.5		2		0.0		8.7		57.5

		South Ayrshire		ERROR:#N/A		-0.2		14		28.8		29.2		63.9

		South Lanarkshire		ERROR:#N/A		1.1		16		33.6		18.1		54.1

		Stirling		ERROR:#N/A		3.0		12		18.2		12.2		52.0

		West Dunbartonshire		ERROR:#N/A		-0.2		29		53.7		25.1		53.2

		West Lothian		ERROR:#N/A		2.9		21		31.4		16.7		53.0



		Source: Scottish Government finance circulars 2013, 2014 and 2019, National Records for Scotland mid year population estimates 2013 and 2017, Scottish Government urban rural classification 2016, the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016, Children in families with limited resources across Scotland 2014-2016









































































































































Accounts Commission
Exhibit 4
Exhibit 4 - background data



20 |

• the capital cost of building four new primary schools and a secondary 
school

• the costs of developing the roads and utilities to these developments

• the day-to-day costs of running and staffing the schools. 

The number of people living in poverty has increased, putting additional 
pressure on council services 
40. The Scottish Government reports that relative poverty rates are slowly 
increasing and that since the period 2012 to 2015, there has been a rise in income 
inequality. Between 2013 and 2016, the top ten per cent of the population in 
Scotland had 21 per cent more income than the bottom 40 per cent; in 2014 
to 2017 this increased to 24 per cent more income.13 The Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation also reported an increase in child poverty rates during this period.14

41. There are implications for councils from more residents living in poverty, as 
they are more likely to need support from their council or have difficulty paying 
their council tax or rent:

• As part of the Child Poverty Act, councils are expected to produce an 
annual joint report with the NHS on their activities to address child poverty 
at a local level. It is not clear what resources councils will choose to allocate 
to their child poverty duties and reporting arrangements, but it may be 
substantial for those councils with high or growing rates of child poverty.

• Libraries now help people apply for benefits using their computers but a 
survey by Citizen’s Advice found that people from the most deprived areas 
were less likely to be able to use a computer than those from the least 
deprived areas. It also found that of people seeking benefits advice, 25 per 
cent would need help and 27 per cent would not be able to manage at all.15

• There is also evidence to suggest that individuals’ levels of debt have 
increased, and this could affect councils in council tax collection or rent 
arrears. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation found that in the UK six per cent 
of adults in the most deprived areas had council tax debt compared to 0.1 
per cent in the least deprived.16

• Council accounts show that rent arrears have increased by nine per cent 
between 2016/17 and 2017/18; as councils have different procedures 
for managing and writing off rent arrears the level varies by council. The 
National Audit Office (NAO) found that local authorities in England reported 
higher rent arrears following the introduction of Universal Credit.17

• Homelessness applications have increased by one per cent between 
2016/17 and 2017/18. During this period 17 councils saw an increase in the 
number of applications. Of those assessed as homeless or threatened with 
homelessness, 47 per cent had at least one additional support need, such 
as mental health problems, compared to 34 per cent in 2012/13.18 

Page 46



Part 2
How councils are responding

Part 2. How councils are responding  | 21

42. In Part 1 we described the complex financial, policy and legislative challenges 
that councils face. Effectively led councils are clear about how these issues 
impact locally. They also recognise that the financial and demand pressures mean 
that planning and implementing changes to find efficiencies alone is no longer 
enough and the redesign of service delivery is needed. Part 2 focuses on some 
of the main considerations for councils and how they are responding to this need. 

Transformational change requires strategic leadership, planning 
and good governance

43. Councils have worked hard to make efficiency savings. These have mostly 
focused on service review and improvement activity, property rationalisation, 
and improvements in back office functions such as human resources, payroll and 
finance systems. In many councils, these activities are unlikely to be sufficient to 
address the growing gap between demand and resources, and more fundamental 
changes are needed. 

44. In making more fundamental changes councils have different approaches; 
many have a transformation programme, although it is not always called 
this, whereas some integrate service redesign work into mainstream council 
management and improvement activity. Transformation activity does not have to 
change everything at once; it can deliver change incrementally. 

45. Making change through transformation to the services and functions of 
the council requires effective leadership and good governance arrangements. 
Transformation and change initiatives should contribute to the council’s strategic 
and outcome priorities. It should also be a consideration in strategic planning. This 
includes decisions relating to arrangements such as: 

• implementing digital approaches 

• financial planning and funding approaches 

• working in partnership 

• community empowerment activity 

• workforce planning and development. 

These issues are all linked, and their interdependence needs to be understood by 
councillors and senior management. 

Do you understand 
how your council's 
approach to 
transformational 
change will 
improve services 
and save money? 

How will you 
monitor and 
scrutinise progress 
of transformational 
projects?

What is your 
council’s risk 
appetite for 
transformational 
change? Are 
risks properly 
monitored?

Do you know 
what the financial 
repercussions will 
be if your council's 
transformation 
activity fails to 
meet its savings 
targets?

Page 47



22 |

46. To make good decisions about opportunities and options for change, councils 
need to ensure that they make effective use of good-quality information and 
data. This includes benchmarking with other councils and using performance 
information to identify and understand why performance varies across councils 
and where this offers opportunities to improve. Part 3 of this report sets out an 
overview of current performance across councils and some notable variances.  

Good transformation is well scoped, addresses the needs of people who 
use services and should have proportionate governance structures.  
47. The aim of transformational change is to improve outcomes for service users 
by making services to communities more efficient and effective. Transformation 
requires moving away from established ways of delivering services and this can 
bring considerable challenges. Successful projects dedicate time at the start to 
fully understand the issues that need to be addressed. To deliver transformative 
change, councils should:

• Adopt a holistic approach to service design. Transformation benefits 
from different departments working together to find the best solutions to 
improving services. 

• Engage with service users and staff from the outset, to make the right 
decisions about where problems and opportunities lie, and what needs 
to  change.

• Allow time for staff involved in transformation to properly scope and 
appraise options before committing to savings estimates.

To do this councils will have to consider how to incorporate some flexibility and 
freedom into their change and improvement arrangements, to allow some of 
the early thinking and design work to take place. This is difficult when budgets 
are reducing.

48. Good governance arrangements and effective management are essential in 
enabling the successful delivery of transformation activity. Councils report that 
they are adopting some key elements of good governance. Almost all councils 
have specific planning, decision-making and reporting arrangements in place for 
transformational or change activities. Over two-thirds show evidence of using 
options appraisals and around half have a dedicated team of staff to support 
change and transformation. 

49. Good transformation should result in a service that better meets the needs of 
the people that use it, as well as being more efficient. There is scope for councils 
and other public bodies to share examples of successful transformation activity 
and learn from each other. Examples include: 

• NHS Highland and partners have adapted homes in the ‘FitHome’ village in 
Dalmore to enable residents, who are elderly or have physical disabilities, 
to live safely and independently. The adaptations include sensor equipment 
that captures data as residents move around their homes and can be used 
to predict and prevent events such as falls. The first 14 residents moved 
into their new homes in Summer 2018.

• Glasgow City Council’s family group decision making aims to allow children 
to remain within their wider family group rather than being taken into care. 

Is your council's 
transformation 
activity 
supported by 
good governance 
arrangements 
and robust 
management? 

Do you know if 
the governance 
arrangements 
factor in time 
needed to ensure 
projects are 
properly scoped?

Page 48



Children and their families are involved in creating a plan to meet the child’s 
needs. There are more than 1,300 children looked after by extended family 
or close friends, known as Kinship Care, in Glasgow. They are supported 
by 1,017 Kinship Carers with an annual budget of £8.1 million.

There are examples of digital approaches being used to drive 
improvement 

50. Thirty-one councils are involved in the Digital Office (DO) for Scottish local 
government, a collaborative organisation created to improve the core digital skills 
held by council workers, digital leadership, and digital services within councils. All 
councils play an active role in delivering the projects that the DO runs by taking 
the lead on projects where their officers have expertise. This approach:

• pools in-demand skills and expertise

• shares best practice amongst councils

• fosters a strong culture of collaborative support. 

51. Through the DO, councils are sharing their experience of using digital 
technology to improve service delivery. Some examples include:

• The E-sgoil programme in Eilean Siar uses technology to allow pupils to 
access teachers, classes or resources from any school within the council or 
elsewhere in Scotland. Previously a lack of teachers restricted the range of 
subjects the council could offer. The programme has been offered to other 
schools and is being used by some other councils. Comhairle nan Eilean 
Siar is now considering whether it could raise income by extending the 
programme’s reach to other groups from outside the council area.

• City of Edinburgh Council has been working with a private company on its 
tram systems, using artificial intelligence to identify potentially hazardous 
situations and ensure that they are avoided. 

• Glasgow City Council used data to change its approach to tracking and 
allocating school clothing grants in Glasgow. It was able to identify those 
eligible for a grant by analysing data it had already collected. This allowed 
them to identify 5,000 families who were entitled to funding but had not 
previously claimed. 

There are specific challenges that councils need to recognise to 
successfully deliver digital transformation
52. People increasingly expect to be able to access services online, and digital 
provides many options for transformation within a council. However, digital 
approaches will often be only part of the solution. In many cases, digital can 
improve services and make them more efficient, but more complex or unusual 
tasks may require other approaches. Digital transformation also has specific 
features that councils need to consider:

• Not all service users will be able to access digital services. It is often the 
most vulnerable within society who have the greatest need for council 
services but who are least able to access them digitally. They include 
people living in poverty, the elderly, people living in remote rural locations, 

Part 2. How councils are responding  | 23

 
Digital technology:

Technologies used 
by councils to deliver 
services and change 
the way that residents 
and staff interact with 
the council.

Page 49



24 |

and people living with mental and physical disabilities. By enabling 
digital access to services for those who are able to use them, staff and 
funding can be redirected to provide other options, such as face to face 
or telephone contact, for those who struggle to engage through digital 
platforms or have more complex problems. 

• Procurement of digital-enabled projects may be different to other things 
the council buys; so its existing arrangements may not be appropriate. 
Councils should understand that potential savings may not be immediately 
quantifiable, that investing for the future may be necessary, and that ‘agile’ 
management (where projects are broken down into small stages and 
adapted frequently), may be the best option. For this approach, councils 
need to invest in training staff and leaders.   

• Digital projects can bring significant cultural change to councils. Those 
leading and managing change need to be sensitive to the potential for 
disruption in the working environment and for individuals in particular roles. 
Councils need to ensure that their workforce is included and informed at 
every stage of a digital change programme. 

• Digital projects need to be led and staffed by officers with the right skills 
in the relevant areas. These skills can be difficult to find in the wider 
workforce and come at a high cost. The DO has been working with 
councils to develop these skills.

• The failure of digital projects can open a council up to the risk of losing data 
or of data being accessed and exploited by external groups. The internal 
mishandling of data could also leave councils vulnerable to being penalised 
for General Data Protection Regulation non-compliance.

53. Before embarking on digital transformation activity, councils should 
understand these challenges and the complexity of what they are trying to do. 
Our Principles for a digital future  briefing sets out five principles that should 
be considered when planning and delivering digital programmes. We will be 
carrying out an audit on digital progress in local government in 2020/21 which will 
consider councils’ digital activity in greater detail. 

Good progress has been made with medium-term financial planning 

54. The Commission has previously commented on the importance of medium 
and long-term financial planning, particularly in the context of the increasing 
financial challenges and wider demands on services. 

55. Funding settlements from the Scottish Government to councils continue to 
be provided on an annual basis. This makes it challenging for councils to plan and 
budget effectively for the medium term, given such a significant proportion of 
their income comes from Scottish Government funding.

56. In 2018/19, councils reported a funding gap of £0.3 billion (two per cent of 
expenditure), £0.1 billion less than in 2017/18. Councils planned to address this 
through making savings, using reserves and increasing fees and charges. 

57. The need to find and deliver savings is expected to continue. We emphasise 
the increasing importance of medium and long-term planning to manage these 

Does your council 
have medium and 
long-term financial 
planning in place? 

Page 50

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2017/briefing_170511_digital_future.pdf


financial challenges and to make well-informed decisions which are aligned to 
council priorities. Medium-term financial planning has been adopted by almost 
all councils, but less than half have significant long-term plans. Of those councils 
with longer-term plans, only five consider the impact of population and demand 
change on their services. The Commission encourages all councils to continue to 
develop and refine their medium and long-term planning and the use of scenario 
planning to support both. 

Councils are under pressure to find different ways to increase income

All councils increased council tax by the maximum allowable three per cent 
in 2018/19 for the first time since the council tax freeze was lifted
58. As revenue funding has fallen in real terms, council tax represents an 
increasingly large proportion of the total funding available to councils, from 16 per 
cent in 2013/14 to 18 per cent in 2018/19. In the 2017/18 budget, the Scottish 
Government announced the end of the nine-year council tax freeze, but capped 
the amount councils could increase it by to three per cent: 

• In 2017/18, 24 councils increased their council tax, including 21 that 
increased rates by the maximum allowed.

• In 2018/19, all councils increased council tax by three per cent.

In 2019/20, the Scottish Government increased the cap to 4.8 per cent in cash 
terms, or three per cent in real terms. Twelve councils decided to increase council 
tax by the full amount. Thirteen councils increased it by three percent and the 
other seven by between 3.9 and 4.5 per cent.

59. In 2017/18, an estimated additional £110 million was raised through council 
tax reforms, these included a change to higher rate council tax bands and an end 
to council tax relief on second homes. 

Councils have looked for other ways to increase income
60. We reported in our Local government in Scotland: Financial overview 
2017/18  that there is variation in how councils approach increases to charges. 
Some councils are making increases to all charges, some are making significant 
increases to certain charges such as commercial waste and some are introducing 
new charges, for example for garden waste and public toilets.

61. From information provided by auditors, we found that councils had increased 
11 types of charges by more than inflation between 2016/17 and 2018/19. The 
highest increases were in relation to burials. The cost of a burial plot increased by 
an average of 20 per cent (22 councils responded) and the cost for burial services 
increased by 12 per cent (23 councils responded). 

62. COSLA and some councils are seeking opportunities to raise local taxes. 

• City of Edinburgh Council is the first council to propose a transient visitor 
levy or ‘tourist tax’ to raise funds to manage and promote tourism in 
their local area. In February 2019, the council approved plans for a £2 or 
two per cent per room per night charge which it expects will raise up to 
£14.6  million.19 It now requires legislation from the Scottish Government to 
implement the tax. The Scottish Government committed to a consultation 
on the tourist tax in January 2019. 

Part 2. How councils are responding  | 25

Does your council 
link budgets 
to plans and 
outcomes and 
report on these?

Do you know 
what options 
your council is 
considering to 
maximise income? 

How is your council 
considering the 
impact that these 
changes might 
have on equalities? 

If your council 
is considering 
generating 
commercial 
income, do you 
know how it plans 
to mitigate the 
risks?

Page 51

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181129_local_government_finance.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181129_local_government_finance.pdf


26 |

• In the 2019/20 budget the Scottish Government agreed to support an 
amendment from the Scottish Green Party to the Transport (Scotland) 
Bill that would give powers to councils to introduce a workplace levy. This 
means employers would pay the council a tax for any car parking spaces 
they offered.  

Councils are considering development of commercial services, but risks 
need to be well managed
63. As part of longer-term financial planning, councils are considering how they 
can develop approaches to generate commercial income, beyond local fees and 
charges for current services. If councils choose to do this they need to consider; 
whether they have the skills and staff numbers to deliver it, the impact it may 
have on the local economy, and how they will mitigate the risks of investing 
public money in the commercial market.

64. Given that there has been more development of commercial arrangements 
in England, it is useful to consider the learning from this. Councils in England 
have experienced very significant reductions in funding (funding to local 
government has fallen by 49 per cent between 2010/11 and 2017/18) and have 
used several commercial approaches to support their finances in response.20 
The NAO reported that between 2013/14 and 2016/17, there had been a 31  per 
cent increase in external interest payments and a 16 per cent increase in trading 
profits.21 Some councils have borrowed money to invest in property from which 
they then earn an income or profit. The UK Government reports that:

• spending on trading services has increased from £323 million in 2014/15 to 
£2.9 billion in 2017/18

• land and buildings acquisitions increased by 43 per cent in the last year to 
£4 billion in 2017/18.22

65. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) is 
concerned by the level of borrowing by councils and is producing guidance for 
those considering this route; it has cautioned councils against:

• becoming dependent on commercial income

• taking out too much debt relative to their total spending

• taking on debt to finance commercial investments, such as shopping malls 
or office blocks.23

Good partnership working is critical if councils are to deliver 
priorities and improved outcomes for communities

66. The Commission has consistently highlighted the increasing importance of 
good partnership working in the Scottish public sector. Working well with local 
partners in the public, private and third sectors is becoming increasingly important 
as councils try to deliver more for less. Given the significance and the potential 
efficiencies, both financial and non-financial, that collaborative working in the 
public sector can achieve, this will continue to be an area the Commission will 
have an interest in over future years.

Does your council 
consider sharing 
services in 
options appraisals 
and change 
programmes? 

Do you know if 
there are processes 
in place in your 
council to facilitate 
collaborative 
working on a local, 
regional or national 
basis?

Page 52



67. Shared services are one potential approach to partnership working. Through 
our audit work, we have seen only a limited number of examples of councils 
sharing services. These include: 

• East and South Ayrshire work together to deliver roads-related services 
through the Ayrshire Roads Alliance 

• East and West Dunbartonshire share an IT data centre 

• Renfrewshire, East Renfrewshire, Inverclyde and West Dunbartonshire are 
part of a joint emergency planning service.  

Although integration authorities have made some improvements they 
must overcome several significant barriers to speed up change and 
improve  outcomes 
68. The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 (the Act) established 
31 integration authorities (IAs) which are partnerships between NHS boards and 
councils. They are responsible for directing almost £9 billion for the delivery of 
adult health and social care, and in some council areas, for other services, such 
as children’s services. Our report Health and social care integration  and 
our Local government in Scotland: Financial overview , both published 
in November 2018, found that although progress has been made there are 
significant challenges to overcome (Exhibit 5). 

Part 2. How councils are responding  | 27

Do you know 
how your council 
is ensuring the 
good governance 
and financial 
sustainability of 
its Integration 
Authority?

Do you know what 
your council is 
doing to ensure 
that it works with 
partners to be 
more open and 
realistic about 
changes needed? 

Exhibit 5
Challenges to health and social care integration in Scotland
There are significant changes required if integration is going to make a meaningful difference to the people of Scotland. 

Note: 1. Disagreements are often due to differing views on responsibility, especially about who is responsible for service 
performance and quality of care and when accountability for a decision rests with individuals who are no longer responsible 
for taking them.

Source: Health and social care: update on progress , Audit Scotland, November 2018

Issues sharing data Disagreement over arrangements1

No evidence of long-term planning

Issues linking 
resources to priorities

Large funding gaps

Difficulties agreeing budgets

Lack of collaborative leadership

Lack of strategic 
capacity

Lack of knowledge 
and understanding 

among leaders
High turnover 

in leadership teams

Governance

Challenges with health and 
social care integrationFinancial Leadership

Page 53

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181115_health_socialcare_update.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181129_local_government_finance.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181115_health_socialcare_update.pdf


28 |

69. Performance of IAs in terms of the outcomes experienced by patients is 
discussed further in Part 3 (paragraphs 114–118).

The Community Empowerment Act fundamentally changes the 
relationship between council and communities 

70. Councils are committed to community empowerment and most are beginning 
to implement their arrangements at a local level. Effective use of community 
empowerment can contribute to change and transformation by generating ideas 
and by involving communities in the difficult decisions that need to be made 
about priorities and options. 

71. Our work shows that some councils:

• have well-established arrangements in place to empower communities 
(Case study 1)

• are providing training to elected members and officers to enhance their 
knowledge of community empowerment 

• are working to develop community capacity, including providing information 
and training to communities on how to deliver a service and support 
through the community asset transfer process. 

Case study 1
East Ayrshire Council’s ‘Vibrant Communities’ approach

The Vibrant Communities approach is to work ‘with people’ rather than 
‘for people’. It focuses on two areas: 

• Early intervention and prevention – acting as soon as possible to 
tackle problems for children, families and vulnerable people. 

• Sustainable communities – empowering and enabling communities 
to get more involved where they live.

Communities discuss their local needs and priorities and then agree 
actions to improve their local area. Since 2014, the council has supported 
19 communities to develop and implement community action plans 
through their Vibrant Communities approach. Community workers 
support community representatives in developing and implementing 
their plans. Once the plans are established community representative 
groups monitor progress.

Vibrant Communities has a dedicated community asset transfer team 
to offer legal, planning and business advice, and advise on alternative 
funding streams for communities applying for an asset transfer. 

Sources: Best Value Assurance Report: East Ayrshire  , Accounts Commission, May 2018, 
East Ayrshire Council

 
Audit Scotland 
produced a briefing 
paper in April 2018 
What is integration  

Does your council 
engage with 
communities on 
decisions about 
services, budget 
proposals and 
priorities?

Are you clear on 
what community 
empowerment 
involves what it 
means for your 
council?

What is your 
council doing 
to implement 
community 
empowerment 
arrangements at a 
local level?

Does the Local 
Outcome 
Improvement 
Plan focus on 
areas where 
the Community 
Planning Partnership 
can make the 
biggest impact?

Do you know what 
your council is 
doing to reach out 
to ‘seldom heard’ 
and disadvantaged 
groups? 

Page 54

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/bv_180529_east_ayrshire.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/briefing_180412_integration.pdf


72. While we have seen examples of good progress, some councils still need 
to do more to meet their obligations under the Act and ensure communities are 
empowered by building their capacity further. 

73. The Act also places a duty on each Community Planning Partnership (CPP) 
to develop a local outcomes improvement plan (LOIP). LOIPs set out local 
outcomes that the CPP will prioritise for improvement. Audit Scotland, the 
Improvement Service and NHS Health Scotland conducted a review of LOIPs in 
2018. We found that:

• the scale and scope of LOIPs varies across Scotland, however progress is 
being made against the expectations of the Act and associated guidance

• LOIPs need to be more focused on areas where the CPP can make the 
biggest impact

• there are genuine attempts to enhance community engagement and 
participation 

• there is a lack of clarity around how CPPs are reaching those who are under-
represented in council decisions, or the most disadvantaged communities.

Councils are engaging with communities but there is less evidence of 
successful engagement with people from deprived areas
74. Consultation with communities continues to take place mostly through citizens’ 
panels, residents’ surveys and council webpages. Our auditors reported that 
26 councils involve communities in decisions about services, budget proposals and 
priorities and nine councils had either a dedicated team or staff member to support 
community engagement. Some examples of good practice include:

• Argyll and Bute Council carries out an annual consultation exercise on its 
budget for the coming financial year. It collates and analyses responses and 
publicly reports the impact of residents’ feedback on decisions. 

• East Lothian Council has established six local area partnerships to enable 
community engagement for the CPP. Each partnership is chaired by 
a member of the community and is made up of elected members, 
local bodies, interest groups and residents. Locality plans for each area 
partnership outline their priorities for improvement and help focus budgets 
around local priorities. 

75. The Scottish Household Survey results suggest that councils are less 
successful in engaging with people from deprived areas. The percentage of all 
people surveyed who felt they could influence local decisions was 23 per cent 
in both 2016 and 2017, whereas for people living in deprived areas the figure was 
21 per cent in 2016 and 19 per cent in 2017. 

Although councils are responding to the requirements of the Act, they need 
to do more
76.  Participatory budgeting is part of the Community Empowerment Act. It gives 
residents the opportunity to vote on how local money is spent and to have a 
say on issues important to them. Councils benefit from a better understanding 
of their residents' needs and communities feel more engaged and empowered. 
Dumfries and Galloway Council used its participatory budgeting exercise to focus 
on reducing inequality (Case study 2, page 30). Councils should also consider 

Part 2. How councils are responding  | 29

 
The Community 
Empowerment Act 
(Scotland) 2015 
requires that councils 
ensure communities 
are actively involved in 
deciding how public 
services are planned 
and provided and 
seeks to empower 
community bodies 
through transferring 
ownership of land and 
buildings. 

As part of the Act, 
local authorities have 
statutory oversight of 
community councils 
and are required by 
statute to consult 
community councils 
about planning 
applications and 
licencing matters.

What is your council 
doing to ensure 
that one per cent of 
revenue budgets is 
allocated through 
participatory 
budgeting by 
2020/21?

Page 55



30 |

whether their approach to participatory budgeting is inclusive of a range of groups 
within their area, including disadvantaged and hard-to-reach groups, and the 
impact on improving outcomes.

Case study 2
Dumfries and Galloway Council’s tackling poverty 
participatory budgeting exercise

Dumfries and Galloway Council allocated £240,000 from its Tackling 
Poverty fund towards a participatory budgeting exercise, 0.08 per cent 
of its total revenue funding. Sixty-three projects from across the region 
progressed to public voting events. Successful projects were focused on 
alleviating different aspects of poverty. Examples of successful projects 
included provision of: 

• emergency power payments, sanitary products and essential 
toiletries (low income and financial poverty) 

• school holiday breakfast and lunch clubs for low income families 
(food poverty) 

• transport for access to services and activities (fuel poverty, rurality 
and isolation) 

• ICT learning activities for those who require access to benefits 
and who are seeking employment (access to information and 
educational activities/opportunities).

The council evaluated the project and used feedback to identify how the 
process could be improved in the future, such as increasing the number 
of voting events and improving communications to build awareness and 
generate interest.

Sources: Best Value Assurance Report: Dumfries and Galloway Council , Accounts Commission, 
November 2018. Participatory Budgeting Evaluation Report, Dumfries and Galloway Council, 2018 

77. We are aware of 13 councils that have held participatory budgeting exercises; 
however, they remain small in scale. COSLA is supporting councils’ work towards 
the Scottish Government’s target of allocating one per cent of revenue budgets 
to participatory budgeting by 2020/21. For example, Dundee City Council held a 
participatory budgeting exercise in 2017/18 where 11,000 people voted on which 
priority projects should be allocated a share of £1.2 million (0.3 per cent of the 
council’s £343 million revenue funding). Communities, existing representative 
groups and elected members were involved in the selection of projects and the 
council held a community conference to shape ideas. Feedback on the exercise 
was positive and the council will use learning to shape future exercises. 

78. The Accounts Commission has a continuing interest in community 
empowerment, and will consider the pace and level of progress in future Best 
Value work and performance audits. 

Page 56

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/bv_181122_dumfries_galloway.pdf


Workforce reductions have changed how councils are structured 
and the skills available, but the quality of workforce planning is 
inconsistent

79. Councils spend a substantial part of their revenue budgets on their staff. 
They directly employ around 243,000 people, around 197,500 full-time equivalent 
(FTE) staff. This is 48 per cent of the public-sector workforce, meaning councils 
are the largest employer in the Scottish public sector. Reducing the workforce 
is one of the main ways councils have made savings. For example, in Dumfries 
and Galloway the council saved £60 million in the past five years partly through 
reducing its workforce by 11.3 per cent.24 Councils need to do more to ensure they 
understand in detail the profile and capacity of the management and workforce 
they currently have and need in the future. This is fundamental for being able to 
effectively respond to the challenging context and deliver effective change.

80. The Scottish Government reports quarterly on total local government staff 
and every year on social workers and teacher numbers.

• Between September 2017 and September 2018, there has been a small 
decrease, 0.2 per cent, in FTE staff numbers within councils. Since 2013, 
staff numbers have fallen by almost 5,000, a decrease of two per cent.25

• In the past five years there has been a 0.1 per cent reduction in social 
workers and a 1.6 per cent increase in teachers compared to a two per 
cent reduction for total council workforce. 

Therefore, teachers and social workers now make up an increasing proportion of 
council employees, 29 per cent in 2017 compared to 27 per cent in 2013.  

The quality of workforce planning varies across councils
81. The Commission believes that integrated workforce planning is essential for 
robust medium and long-term planning and effective transformation. This should 
include an analysis of what the council will need in the future, where the gaps 
lie and how to address them, either through training, recruitment, restructuring 
current resources, shared arrangements with other organisations, or procuring 
specialist skills. 

82. Workforce planning is an area where progress is mixed across councils. 
Glasgow City, as an example, has a coordinated approach to workforce planning. 
Each service has a workforce plan which forecasts its requirements. Quarterly 
updates are collated centrally to identify gaps and surpluses which are then used 
to develop budgeting and resourcing plans including redeployment and retraining 
opportunities. However, there are other councils where it is not clear what the 
workforce will look like in terms of numbers and skills in the medium or long term.

Councils need to plan to ensure they have the staff, skills and leaders to 
deliver change, but there is no national data on workforce by service
83. Effective leadership is fundamental to the successful implementation of 
change in a complex and changing policy landscape. Councils need to ensure 
they have the best possible political and management leadership. This means 
ensuring there is appropriate training and development to support both councillors 
and management. For senior management this also means building the best 
strategic team possible and ensuring there is enough capacity to lead change and 
wider responsibilities. The Commission considers that this means recruitment 

Part 2. How councils are responding  | 31

What is your 
council doing 
to ensure that 
it has the right 
capacity, skills and 
leadership in its 
workforce?

What training does 
your council make 
available to officers 
and councillors to 
ensure they have 
the skills to deliver 
services in the 
future?

Page 57



32 |

to chief executive posts should include open competition to secure the best 
possible pool of candidates. Unless there is a clear rationale, which should be 
articulated in public council papers, key senior management positions, such as 
director and head of service level posts, should also be advertised externally.   

84. There is a lack of national data on workforce by service. This makes it difficult 
to be able to determine what is needed in terms of skills or training for staff 
across Scotland, how services have been affected by the overall reduction in 
workforce and to inform benchmarking and sharing good practice. Other available 
data indicates reductions in some services, for example:

• The Royal Institute of Town Planners report a 23 per cent reduction in the 
planning workforce in Scotland from 2009 to 2016.26

• The Society of Chief Officers of Environmental Health in Scotland report 
that the number of professionally and technically qualified environmental 
health staff has decreased by 12 per cent from 2016 to 2018.27

• The number of librarians has fallen by 22 per cent and the number of library 
staff by seven per cent between 2014 and 2018.28

85. Councils continue to report staff shortages in key service areas:

• Two-thirds of councils reported a shortfall in mental health officers, the 
additional hours needed per week to make up this shortfall is equivalent to 
41 full-time officers.29

• Care Inspectorate reports for Eilean Siar and Renfrewshire observed the 
continued difficulties in recruitment and retention of social care workers 
and the impact this has on services. 

86. The UK’s withdrawal from the EU could exacerbate problems of staff 
shortages as it could result in a loss of non-UK EU nationals from the workforce 
or difficulty recruiting from Europe. The Scottish Government estimates that there 
are 9,830 non-UK EU nationals working in social care in Scotland, 5.6 per cent of 
the workforce.

87. Councils are competing with other organisations for the same skills, for 
example digital, project management, planning and engineering expertise. 
Difficulties with recruitment and retention are compounded by an ageing 
workforce within councils and with a smaller working age population to recruit 
from. Also, many of the reductions in the workforce are from those approaching 
retirement, meaning that their skills and experience are lost to the organisation. 
For example, in Dumfries and Galloway Council 44 per cent of staff are over 
50 years old. 

88. Councils need to ensure there is sufficient training for their staff to allow them 
to respond to the changing and more pressured environment. There is no national 
data on skills training programmes; however, in our BVAR reports we have 
highlighted how some councils have approached this: 

• In West Dunbartonshire Council, staff have a skills passport which sets out 
mandatory learning for staff at various career milestones. This allows them 
to plan for their ongoing development and encourages continuous learning. 

Does your 
council have an 
organisation-wide 
workforce plan? 
Does it contain 
information about 
the numbers, costs 
and skills of the 
actual and desired 
workforce?

Does the training 
you are offered 
meet your needs? 
If not, do you know 
who to speak to?

Page 58



• Dumfries and Galloway Council’s 'Grow your Own' scheme retrains staff 
in areas where there are recruitment issues. As a result, it has been 
successful in filling teacher vacancies.

Councils should consider the impact of change on their staff
89. Savings programmes and staff reductions mean some uncertainty for council 
staff. Unless managed well, this could have an impact on the morale of the 
workforce and individual staff’s wellbeing. Surveys carried out by Unison found 
that in 2018: 

• 75 per cent of Environmental Health and 70 per cent of Trading Standards 
employees interviewed reported that morale in their organisation was low

• 90 per cent and 78 per cent respectively said that workload was higher 
than five years ago.30 

90. Councils should be aware of the impact savings programmes are having on 
their workforce and put measures in place to address any issues. Many councils 
do this through staff surveys. Common findings from staff surveys indicated 
people not feeling valued for what they do, not being asked for their views on 
change and feeling that working for the council had worsened in recent years due 
to workload. 

91. The average number of sickness days for non-teaching staff has increased 
from 10.9 days in 2016/17 to 11.4 days in 2017/18. There is significant variation 
among councils, from an average of 16.8 days in Clackmannanshire to 8.4 days 
in East Ayrshire. For teachers, the average number of sickness days has fallen 
slightly from 6.1 days in 2016/17 to 5.9 days in 2017/18, varying from 9.1 days in 
Clackmannanshire to 4.2 days in East Ayrshire.

92. We have calculated in previous reports that if councils reduced sickness 
absence they could improve their productivity. If councils with higher rates of 
sickness absence levels reduced these in line with the top eight performing 
councils, they would gain the equivalent of 619 non-teaching staff across 
Scotland, and 248 teaching staff.

Part 2. How councils are responding  | 33

Do you know how 
your council is 
ensuring changes 
to staff numbers 
and working 
practices do not 
have a negative 
impact on morale 
and wellbeing?

Page 59



34 |

Part 3
Council performance and the impact on 
communities

Councils understand the challenges facing their communities, but 
resources need to be better linked to their vision and priorities

93. Our audit work shows that councils continue to clearly set out their strategic
priorities and plans. Councils understand the local context of their communities
and have a strategic focus on improving social inequality, particularly in areas of
high deprivation.

94. Over half of councils clearly link their budget setting to their strategic priorities
or plans. This should be evident in all councils. More also needs to be done to
demonstrate how spending is linked to outcomes and performance. A positive
example that contributes to clearer links is evident at North Ayrshire Council.
Officers include information on what outcomes could be achieved for each
level of investment when presenting strategic investment options. This allows
councillors to consider whether the impact on the council’s priorities would be
significant enough to warrant the investment.

Councils are focused on performance management and improvement
95. Our Best Value assurance reports to date indicate councils have improved
their approaches to managing performance and improvement. Good performance
management should link to the council’s strategic priorities and be able to
demonstrate a link between spend and outcomes.

96. A good council is self-aware, understands its own performance and uses
that to make improvements. Our auditors reported evidence of self-evaluation in
14 councils in their 2017/18 Annual Audit Reports. For example, North Lanarkshire
Council reviewed its position against the Best Value characteristics and the
recommendations in previous Best Value assurance reports to help develop its
rolling programme of reviews. Many councils have structured self-evaluation
programmes. These can include corporate level and service level assessment
tools, for example in West Lothian Council all services complete a bespoke
assessment model and attend an officer-led scrutiny panel once in a three-year
cycle to provide challenge to the service and promote improvement.

Councils need to show they are delivering against their high-level outcomes 
97. As part of setting its 2018 Statutory Performance Information Direction  ,
the Commission reviewed performance information available on council websites.
It found that:

• Auditors in 20 councils concluded that performance information was
satisfactory.

• 90 per cent of councils published an annual performance report and 80 per
cent published service level performance information.

Does your council 
clearly link its 
budget setting 
to its strategic 
priorities and plans? 

Are you assured 
that performance 
reporting by your 
council is accurate 
and accessible?

Can your council 
demonstrate 
progress in 
delivering its key 
outcome priorities?

Page 60

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/um/pi_direction_2018.pdf


Part 3. Council performance and the impact on communities  | 35

• There are large amounts of performance information online, however websites 
could be easier to navigate, and the information was sometimes out of date. 
Councils may also want to consider whether having fewer, but better focused, 
performance indicators would allow them to demonstrate performance against 
their key priorities more clearly and effectively to the public.

• While 90 per cent of councils report performance against their priorities, 
few outlined progress against outcomes.

98. It is important that councils clearly report their performance to local citizens 
and the community. Good performance reporting includes clearly stating how 
performance and spend are linked to the council’s priorities; local indicators 
which demonstrate quality of service; public satisfaction levels; and an overall 
assessment of the council’s performance against outcomes.

Most national indicators have improved or been maintained but 
performance varies between councils.

Despite funding reductions, councils have maintained performance against 
several national indicators 
99. The National Performance Framework measures progress across 81 
indicators, although some of these are still in development and some do not have 
the data to allow trend analysis. We have selected 16 of the available indicators, 
these show that many outcomes have improved across Scotland in the last 
five years (Exhibit 6, page 36). However, there has been less progress with 
health  outcomes. 

100. Many of the NPF indicators are not available at a local level but the 
Improvement Service has developed a Community Planning Outcomes Profile 
(CPOP) tool which tracks performance against a set of identified measures at 
a CPP level. There is a helpful interactive tool on the Improvement Service 
website  which allows communities and councils to drill into the data and to 
compare performance between CPPs, councils and over time. Analysis of the 
CPOP data shows that the majority of outcome measures have improved over 
the last five years. 

101. There are limitations with the availability of both the NPF and CPOP data. 
Better data would allow councils to understand differences in demand and 
performance, report how well they are delivering against their outcomes and 
enable more informed decisions. 

Since 2010/11 performance against most Local Government Benchmarking 
Framework indicators has been maintained or improved 
102. The Local Government Benchmarking Framework (LGBF) is produced 
by the Improvement Service in partnership with councils. Since 2010/11 it 
has produced comparative performance information for councils to help them 
improve. The LGBF contains over 70 indicators covering a broad range of service 
areas. In previous years and in our BVARs we report on a sample of eight 
measures to give an indication of council performance.31 Over the past seven 
years performance for these indicators has improved slightly or remained stable 
(Exhibit 7, page 37). This year, the LGBF reports that across all indicators 
there is some evidence that performance improvement is slowing down for the 
first time since 2010/11.32

Does your council 
make use of LGBF 
data to consider 
where and how 
it might make 
improvements to 
service delivery?

Have you 
considered what 
lessons your 
council can learn 
from other councils 
who are delivering 
services well?

Page 61

https://scotland.shinyapps.io/is-community-planning-outcomes-profile/
https://scotland.shinyapps.io/is-community-planning-outcomes-profile/


36 |

Exhibit 6
Changes in performance measures for Scotland's outcomes between 2013 and 2017
Performance against many outcome measures has improved but there has been less progress with health outcomes.

Children, young 
people and 
education

-0.5%Percentage of settings providing funded early learning 
childcare achieving good or better across all themes 

2%Percentage of adults who rate their neighbourhood 
as a very good place to live 

6%

Fair work and 
business

8%The total number of private sector enterprises 
in Scotland per 10,000 adults

0.1%Percentage of workers earning less 
than the living wage

-3.4%The difference between male and female full-time earnings, 
expressed as a percentage of male full-time hourly earnings

Health
-0.2%Average Mental Wellbeing Score1

1%Percentage of adults with two or more health risk behaviours 
(current smoker, harmful drinking, low physical activity, obesity)

-0.6%Proportion of adults usually travelling to work by 
public or active transport

-2.8%European Age Standardised mortality rates per 100,000 
for people under 75 in Scotland

-1.8%Proportion of adults aged 16-64 with low 
or no qualifications (SCQF level 4 or below) 

Satisfaction

Percentage of respondents who are fairly or 
very satisfied with the quality of local services 
(local health services, local schools and public transport) 

-8.2%

0.7%Percentage of people who agree with the statement 
‘I can influence decisions affecting my local area’ 

2%Percentage of households who report being either 
‘very satisfied’ or ‘fairly satisfied’ with their house or flat 

-0.2%Percentage of adults who have participated 
in a cultural activity in the last 12 months

Proportion of adults making one or more visits 
to the outdoors per week 

Culture and leisure

7.1%Percentage of energy consumption which is 
renewable energy

4.2%Household waste (million tonnes) 

Environment

Note: 1. Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Score.

Source: National Performance Framework

Page 62



Part 3. Council performance and the impact on communities  | 37

Exhibit 7
Performance against selected indicators, 2010/11 to 2017/18
Performance has been maintained or improved.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

20
16

/17

20
17

/18

20
14

/15

20
15

/16

20
13

/14

20
12

/13

20
11

/12

20
10

/11

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Pupils entering positive 
destinations such as work, 
training, or further study

People aged 65 and over 
with long-term care needs, 
receiving care at home

Pupils gaining five or more 
awards at level 6

Pupils from deprived 
backgrounds gaining five 
or more awards at level 6

Self directed support spend on 
adults aged 18+ as a percentage 
of total social work spend on 
adults 18+

Income due from council 
tax received by the end of 
the year

Total household waste 
that is recycled

Percentage of A class roads 
that should be considered for 
maintenance treatment1  

Note: 1. Roads maintenance is measured in two-year time periods therefore 2009-11 is reported in 2010-11.

Source: Local Government Benchmarking Framework, 2017/18

103. We have also analysed council spending against indicators to see the impact 
that funding reductions have had on performance at a national level. This shows 
that since 2010/11 most services have been maintained or improved despite 
reducing budgets (Exhibit 8, pages 38-39). However, in the past year the data 
shows that some services are beginning to spend more or have had a decline in 
performance, for example, the number of library visits has fallen by eight per cent. 

Performance variation is expected as councils have different local priorities, 
but it can also provide opportunities for identifying efficiencies. 
104. The Accounts Commission is clear that ‘It is for councils to make choices in 
where they focus their improvement work, but they need to be able to show how 
they have arrived at such choices’.33 As such performance against the indicators will 
vary depending on both local factors and policy decisions. 

105. Councils should use the LGBF and other benchmarking tools to understand 
where councils with similar circumstances are performing better or spending less 
to provide the same service. Exhibit 9 (page 40) shows that there is a wide 
variation in both performance and unit costs between councils. There could be 
several reasons behind this, but it provides an opportunity to share learning and 
experiences to improve services. Page 63


Exhibit 7

		Local government in Scotland

		Challenges and performance 2019



		Exhibit 7

		Performance against selected indicators from 2010/11 to 2017/18



		Percentage		2010/11		2011/12		2012/13		2013/14		2014/15		2015/16		2016/17		2017/18

		Pupils entering a positive destination such as work, training, or further study		-		90.1		91.7		92.5		93.0		93.3		93.7		-

		Pupils gaining five or more awards at level 6		-		26.0		27.0		29.0		31.0		33.0		34.0		34.0

		Pupils from deprived backgrounds gaining five or more awards at level 6		-		10.0		11.0		14.0		14.0		15.0		16.0		16.0

		Income due from council tax received by the end of the year		89.5		90.2		90.5		91.9		92.5		92.8		93.1		93.2

		Self directed support spend on adults aged 18+ as a percentage of total social work spend on adults 18+		1.6		2.9		6.0		6.4		6.9		6.7		6.5		6.7

		People age 65 and over with intensive needs cared for at home		58.9		59.2		59.8		59.8		60.0		60.7		60.1		61.7

		Total household waste that is recycled		38.7		40.1		41.1		42.2		42.8		44.2		45.2		45.6

		Percentage of A class roads that should be considered for maintenance treatment		30.3		30.5		29.4		28.7		29.0		29.0		29.5		30.2



		Source: Local Government benchmarking framework 2017/18





















Accounts Commission_1
Exhibit 7
Exhibit 7- background data



38 |

Exhibit 8
Performance and spend in key areas, 2010/11 to 2017/18 
There has been a significant increase in expenditure on home care, while the number of hours provided 
has increased at a lower rate.

Spending on residential care and the number of residents has stayed relatively constant in recent years.1 

Spending on culture and leisure continues to fall but visitor numbers to sports facilities, museums, 
and libraries all decreased in 2017/18.

Cont.

Local variations
Clackmannanshire, Perth and Kinross and Stirling 
councils have the lowest costs per hour of homecare. 
The island councils have higher cost per hour of 
homecare than other councils. Midlothian Council’s 
costs are higher than other mainland councils.   

Local variations
Shetland Islands Council spends more than three 
times the Scottish average per week on their care 
home residents, £1,349 compared to £386; while 
Dumfries and Galloway Council spends just over 
half of the Scottish average (£195).

Local variations
The City of Edinburgh Council had the highest 
number of library visits in 2017/18 and some of 
the lowest costs per visit. Glasgow City Council 
had the highest number of museum visitors and 
average costs per museum visit. 

2010/11
2011/12

2012/13
2013/14

2014/15
2015/16

2016/17
2017/18

00

1050

20

30

100
150
200
250 40

50
300
350

60400

N
um

be
r o

f v
is

ito
rs

 (m
illi

on
s)

£ 
(m

illi
on

)

Interactive data  
map available  
on our website

2010/11

2010/11

2011/12

2011/12

2012/13

2012/13

2013/14

2013/14

2014/15

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17

2017/18

2017/18

0

0

0

0

5

4

10

8

100

15

12

20

16

200

25

20

300

24
28

400

32

500

600

Total expenditure on libraries, 
museums and leisure (£ million)

Number of visitors at sports 
facilities (millions)

Number of library visitors
(millions)

Number of museum visitors
(millions)

100
200
300
400
500

700
600

800

Gross expenditure on home care 
(£ million)

Net expenditure on care homes  
for older people (£ million)

Homecare hours per year  
(£ million)

Number of long-stay residents aged 65+ 
supported in care homes (thousands)

H
om

ec
ar

e 
ho

ur
s 

(m
illi

on
s)

R
es

id
en

ts
 (t

ho
us

an
ds

)

£ 
(m

illi
on

)
£ 

(m
illi

on
)

Page 64

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/local-government-in-scotland-challenges-and-performance-2019  

Exhibit 8

		Local government in Scotland

		Challenges and performance 2019



		Exhibit 8

		Performance and spend in key areas, 2010/11 to 2017/18



				2010/11		2011/12		2012/13		2013/14		2014/15		2015/16		2016/17		2017/18

		Total expenditure on home care (£000)		486,906.3		480,909.2		494,419.0		503,956.9		502,629.0		511,771.8		546,314.8		563,471.0

		Home care hours per year		21,602,216.0		22,016,337.0		22,308,242.8		23,400,190.8		23,650,952.0		23,185,759.5		23,685,896.5		23,712,614.9



		Net Expenditure on Care Homes for Older People (£000)		701,564.7		703,578.1		629,913.9		617,390.7		618,885.6		608,591.9		605,130.6		612,398.0

		Number of long-stay residents aged 65+ supported in Care Homes		31,020.0		30,750.0		30,260.0		30,800.0		30,520.0		30,810.0		30,670.0		30,490.0



		Total expenditure on libraries, museums and leisure (£000)		345,563.4		332,149.1		331,317.3		332,890.6		310,968.3		306,712.9		296,411.1		277,884.0

		Number of library visitors		31,800,305.0		32,074,635.0		33,066,250.0		40,415,254.0		40,898,758.0		41,281,169.0		46,773,860.0		43,252,956.0

		Number of museum visitors		9,270,129.0		11,707,609.0		11,102,498.0		11,670,085.0		11,917,948.0		12,663,109.0		12,466,473.0		11,920,594.0

		Number of visitors at sports facilities		45,459,818.0		48,202,343.0		51,624,697.0		53,320,837.0		52,705,262.0		53,084,305.0		54,042,338.0		53,992,733.0



		Cost of maintenance per kilometre of roads (£)		12,555.6		11,490.1		10,935.2		10,647.6		10,392.5		10,709.5		10,534.6		10,546.6

		% of A Class roads that should be considered for maintenance treatment		30.3		30.5		29.4		28.7		29.0		29.0		29.5		30.2

		% of B Class roads that should be considered for maintenance treatment		35.8		36.3		35.0		35.2		36.1		34.8		34.8		35.9



		Net cost of street cleaning per 1,000 population (£)		22,218.5		21,408.9		18,987.6		17,271.5		16,605.7		16,085.9		14,764.5		15,551.2

		Street cleanliness score		95.4		96.1		95.8		96.1		93.9		93.4		93.9		92.2



		Source: Local Government benchmarking framework 2017/18





Accounts Commission_2
Exhibit 8
Exhibit 8- background data



Part 3. Council performance and the impact on communities  | 39

Exhibit 8 (continued)
Performance and spend in key areas, 2010/11 to 2017/18 
Spend on roads has reduced since 2010/11, although it has remained relatively stable in recent years. The 
percentage of roads classified as needing maintenance increased slightly between 2016/17 and 2017/18.2

For the first time since 2010/11 expenditure on street cleaning increased, by six per cent, but the 
cleanliness score continues to fall slightly.

Local variations
Dundee City Council has the lowest percentage of 
roads in need of maintenance and is in the top 25 per 
cent of cost of roads per km. Argyll and Bute Council 
has the most roads in need of maintenance and is in 
the bottom 25 per cent for cost of roads per km.3 

Local variations
In 2017/18, Glasgow City Council spent the most 
per 1,000 of population on street cleaning, more 
than double the Scottish average, but had one 
of the worst street cleanliness scores. Scottish 
Borders Council has one of the highest street 
cleanliness scores and spends roughly two-thirds 
the Scottish average.

Interactive data  
available on our 
website

2010/11

2010/11

2011/12

2011/12

2012/13

2012/13

2013/14

2013/14

2014/15

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17

2017/18

2017/18

0

0

0

0

4
8
12
16
20

20

2

24
28

40

32
36

4

5

10

40

60

6

15

80

8

10

20

100

12

14

25

Cost of maintenance per  
kilometre of roads (£ thousand)

Net cost of street cleaning per  
1,000 population(£ thousand)

Percentage of A class roads that should be 
considered for maintenance treatment

Percentage of B class roads that should be 
considered for maintenance treatment

Street cleanliness score

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
Sc

or
e

£ 
(th

ou
sa

nd
)

£ 
(th

ou
sa

nd
)

Notes: 
1. 2010/11 and 2011/12 expenditure includes support costs so is not directly comparable to later years.
2. The percentage of roads that should be considered for maintenance treatment indicator is measured over two-year 
periods, for example 2009-11 is plotted as 2010/11.
3. The cost of roads per km includes both revenue and capital expenditure.

Source: Audit Scotland; and Local Government Benchmarking Framework 2017/18, Improvement Service

Page 65

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/local-government-in-scotland-challenges-and-performance-2019 

Exhibit 8

		Local government in Scotland

		Challenges and performance 2019



		Exhibit 8

		Performance and spend in key areas, 2010/11 to 2017/18



				2010/11		2011/12		2012/13		2013/14		2014/15		2015/16		2016/17		2017/18

		Total expenditure on home care (£000)		486,906.3		480,909.2		494,419.0		503,956.9		502,629.0		511,771.8		546,314.8		563,471.0

		Home care hours per year		21,602,216.0		22,016,337.0		22,308,242.8		23,400,190.8		23,650,952.0		23,185,759.5		23,685,896.5		23,712,614.9



		Net Expenditure on Care Homes for Older People (£000)		701,564.7		703,578.1		629,913.9		617,390.7		618,885.6		608,591.9		605,130.6		612,398.0

		Number of long-stay residents aged 65+ supported in Care Homes		31,020.0		30,750.0		30,260.0		30,800.0		30,520.0		30,810.0		30,670.0		30,490.0



		Total expenditure on libraries, museums and leisure (£000)		345,563.4		332,149.1		331,317.3		332,890.6		310,968.3		306,712.9		296,411.1		277,884.0

		Number of library visitors		31,800,305.0		32,074,635.0		33,066,250.0		40,415,254.0		40,898,758.0		41,281,169.0		46,773,860.0		43,252,956.0

		Number of museum visitors		9,270,129.0		11,707,609.0		11,102,498.0		11,670,085.0		11,917,948.0		12,663,109.0		12,466,473.0		11,920,594.0

		Number of visitors at sports facilities		45,459,818.0		48,202,343.0		51,624,697.0		53,320,837.0		52,705,262.0		53,084,305.0		54,042,338.0		53,992,733.0



		Cost of maintenance per kilometre of roads (£)		12,555.6		11,490.1		10,935.2		10,647.6		10,392.5		10,709.5		10,534.6		10,546.6

		% of A Class roads that should be considered for maintenance treatment		30.3		30.5		29.4		28.7		29.0		29.0		29.5		30.2

		% of B Class roads that should be considered for maintenance treatment		35.8		36.3		35.0		35.2		36.1		34.8		34.8		35.9



		Net cost of street cleaning per 1,000 population (£)		22,218.5		21,408.9		18,987.6		17,271.5		16,605.7		16,085.9		14,764.5		15,551.2

		Street cleanliness score		95.4		96.1		95.8		96.1		93.9		93.4		93.9		92.2



		Source: Local Government benchmarking framework 2017/18





Accounts Commission_3
Exhibit 8
Exhibit 8- background data



40 |

Exhibit 9
Variation between councils 2017/18
The percentage of unemployed people helped into work by a council employment scheme varied from two per 
cent in Argyll and Bute to 30 per cent in Renfrewshire.

 
Note: Scotland figures are the Scottish average.

Source: Local Government Benchmarking Framework 2017/18

Interactive data  
available on our 
website

The cost of council tax collection is significantly higher in the island councils.

Argyll and Bute
2% 

Percentage of unemployed people assisted into work from council operated or funded employability programmes

N
um

be
r 

of
 c

ou
nc

ils

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

3230282624222018161412108642

East Lothian
3% 

Scotland
14% 

Renfrewshire
30% 

Cost per premise of collecting council tax

0

2

1

4

3

6

5

8

7

10

9

12

11

323130292827262524232221201918171615141312111098765432

Fife £2.78

Clackmannanshire £2.90

Dundee City £12.17

Eilean Siar £27.02Orkney £16.93

Inverclyde £12.73

Shetland Islands £12.80

Scotland 
£7.35

N
um

be
r 

of
 c

ou
nc

ils

Note: There is no data for employability in Shetland in 2017/18.

Page 66

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/local-government-in-scotland-challenges-and-performance-2019 

Exhibit 9

		Local government in Scotland 

		Challenges and performance 2019



		Exhibit 9

		Variation between councils 2017/18



				The percentage of unemployed people helped into work by a council employment scheme		The cost of council tax collection (£)

		Aberdeen		5.8		7.92

		Aberdeenshire		9.1		9.20

		Angus		9.1		7.98

		Argyll & Bute		2.2		8.32

		Clackmannanshire		12.5		2.90

		Dumfries & Galloway		19.3		7.39

		Dundee		16.4		12.17

		East Ayrshire		23.3		4.01

		East Dunbartonshire		6.1		6.12

		East Lothian		3.0		8.65

		East Renfrewshire		13.2		7.32

		Edinburgh		8.2		6.66

		Eilean Siar		5.5		27.02

		Falkirk		22.1		6.57

		Fife		17.6		2.78

		Glasgow		13.0		6.29

		Highland		4.9		8.36

		Inverclyde		21.0		12.73

		Midlothian		6.7		9.25

		Moray		8.7		9.30

		North Ayrshire		22.7		7.65

		North Lanarkshire		25.0		7.66

		Orkney		4.0		16.93

		Perth & Kinross		26.2		6.94

		Renfrewshire		29.9		11.42

		Scottish Borders		4.2		4.24

		Shetland		0.0		12.80

		South Ayrshire		8.5		6.66

		South Lanarkshire		18.4		7.08

		Stirling		12.5		7.46

		West Dunbartonshire		23.5		8.17

		West Lothian		10.5		5.15

		Scotland		14.4		7.35



		Source: Scottish Government finance circulars 2013, 2014 and 2019, National Records for Scotland mid year population estimates 2013 and 2017, Scottish Government urban rural classification 2016, the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016, Children in families with limited resources across Scotland 2014-2016







Accounts Commission_4
Exhibit 9
Exhibit 9- background data



Part 3. Council performance and the impact on communities  | 41

• The percentage of unemployed people helped into work through a council 
operated or funded employability programme ranged from two per cent in 
Argyll and Bute to 30 per cent in Renfrewshire. We calculated that if all councils 
could increase their number to the Scottish average of 14 per cent, an additional 
3,500 people would have been helped into employment in 2017/18. 

• The cost of council tax collection is significantly higher in the island 
councils; it costs £27 per property to collect council tax in Eilean Siar and 
£17 per property in Orkney Island compared to the Scottish average of 
£7. Clackmannanshire and Fife councils spend less than £3 per premise 
to collect council tax. We calculated that if the 16 mainland councils 
who spend more than the Scottish average reduced costs to that level 
they would save £1.7 million and if the Eilean Siar and Orkney reduced 
their costs to those of Shetland Islands, they would save £209,000 and 
£179,000 respectively. 

Education performance has improved since 2011, but progress 
slowed in 2017/18 and the attainment gap between the most and 
least deprived pupils has widened in the last year 

106. Education is the largest area of council spend, and the focus of considerable 
national policy attention. In 2017/18, councils spent £3.9 billion on schools, and 
a further £0.4 billion on pre-schools. This is a one per cent and three per cent 
respective real terms increase on the previous year. Spending on schools has 
reduced by two per cent since 2011/12, but has been increasing since 2015/16, 
when the Scottish Government introduced its Scottish Attainment Challenge.34 

107. Nationally pupil attainment has been improving. Across Scotland, there has 
been a 16 per cent improvement in average tariff score since 2011/12. However, 
2017/18 data shows that:

• For the first time there has been no change in the percentage of pupils 
gaining five or more awards at level 6 and the proportion of pupils gaining five 
or more awards at level 5 has increased at a slower rate than previous years. 

• The gap between average tariff scores of the most deprived pupils and the 
least deprived pupils increased from 2016/17 to 2017/18. In 2017/18, pupils 
from the most deprived areas saw a 1.1 per cent reduction in their tariff 
scores while those in the least deprived saw a 0.9 per cent increase. This 
increased the gap between the most and least deprived by three per cent 
since 2016/17.35

108. Performance in exams is not the only way to measure attainment. The 
LGBF also reports on the percentage of 16 to 19 year-olds in work, training or 
learning which has increased year on year since first measured in 2015/16. 

Some councils have done well to improve attainment
109. We reported last year that there is variation in education performance that 
cannot be explained by deprivation. This is still the case. This year we have 
considered how councils’ performance has changed since 2011/12. All councils 
have improved their performance despite a reduction in spend. But some 
councils have improved considerably faster than others and the gap between the 
best and worst performing council has widened (Exhibit 10, page 42):

 
Average Tariff Score

Is an overall measure 
of secondary 
attainment, taking 
account of all 
qualifications a pupil 
earns from age 14 
until leaving school.

Tariff scores strongly 
reflect the total 
number of subjects 
studied which may 
not reflect curriculum 
decisions taken by the 
council.

Page 67



42 |

Exhibit 10
Improvement in average tariff score 2011/12 to 2017/18
All councils have seen an improvement to their overall tariff scores despite reducing budgets but the gap between 
best and worst performing has increased. 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

2017-182016-172015-162014-152013-142012-132011-12

Best performing

Worst performing

50 per cent of councils

Scotland average 16% improvement

Falkirk 34%

Glasgow 29%

Dundee City 1%

A
ve

ra
ge

 ta
rr

iff
 s

co
re

s

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

Note: As leaver information is not available when the LGBF publishes its data, the LGBF uses data based on the year pupils 
are expected to leave school rather than the actual year they left. This means there are some small differences between it and 
data published by the Scottish Government later in the year.

Source: Local Government Benchmarking Framework 2017/18

• Falkirk Council’s attainment has improved by 34 per cent since 2011/12. It 
is now in the top quartile for attainment, whereas in 2011/12 it was in the 
bottom quartile.

• Glasgow City Council has seen a 29 per cent improvement in their tariff 
scores although it remains in the bottom quartile. 

• Dundee City Council has seen only a one per cent improvement in its tariff 
scores since 2011/12. It had a ten per cent drop in tariff score in 2016/17 which 
affected the overall trend. It has been in the bottom quartile since 2011/12. 

110. The reasons behind why Glasgow and Falkirk have seen big improvements 
in attainment and Dundee has not, cannot be explained simply by the amount 
spent on education nor levels of deprivation:

• Dundee City Council spends more than the Scottish average per secondary 
pupil while Falkirk and Glasgow spend less. 

• Both Dundee and Glasgow City councils have reduced their spend per 
secondary pupil by five per cent since 2011/12, a bigger reduction than the 

Page 68


Exhibit 10

		Local government in Scotland

		Challenges and performance 2019



		Exhibit 10

		Average tariff score 2011/12 to 2017/18



				2011/12		2012/13		2013/14		2014/15		2015/16		2016/17		2017/18

		Aberdeen		775.48		764.30		782.89		808.36		807.22		821.21		838.82

		Aberdeenshire		820.84		814.83		832.12		843.95		873.62		864.75		911.68

		Angus		741.60		769.55		790.05		836.67		820.00		826.61		810.33

		Argyll & Bute		841.86		793.58		879.93		859.34		861.92		891.25		892.85

		Clackmannanshire		653.09		698.98		688.09		698.71		765.40		744.44		745.72

		Dumfries & Galloway		765.30		818.90		823.14		870.40		855.15		882.60		834.49

		Dundee		676.88		723.37		735.94		764.19		742.87		769.43		685.61

		East Ayrshire		692.73		755.32		772.95		799.96		821.45		816.66		815.91

		East Dunbartonshire		1,090.78		1,154.93		1,134.98		1,192.18		1,269.32		1,305.08		1,311.21

		East Lothian		798.84		829.71		877.49		873.85		934.97		923.26		923.95

		East Renfrewshire		1,184.55		1,155.29		1,265.28		1,296.52		1,319.28		1,352.72		1,387.53

		Edinburgh		797.32		838.44		863.67		885.72		930.66		912.28		937.02

		Eilean Siar		861.17		830.50		889.32		0.00		935.68		940.46		914.79

		Falkirk		708.62		772.04		791.75		828.72		862.02		917.35		949.25

		Fife		738.58		764.86		799.56		811.63		835.10		814.82		833.31

		Glasgow		600.40		657.71		706.64		725.26		738.88		750.47		775.76

		Highland		789.70		832.35		826.56		862.09		878.70		839.20		847.71

		Inverclyde		781.10		814.06		770.22		844.35		888.74		923.54		881.83

		Midlothian		715.87		752.09		753.55		787.49		889.28		800.51		831.67

		Moray		759.88		788.07		837.69		870.00		791.73		818.05		791.26

		North Ayrshire		674.66		744.32		754.43		817.58		804.29		884.36		853.83

		North Lanarkshire		699.67		733.00		772.81		829.63		853.08		865.50		871.16

		Orkney		823.92		814.44		909.20		948.03		901.97		956.90		907.12

		Perth & Kinross		872.45		887.64		875.31		982.46		943.60		945.94		924.52

		Renfrewshire		788.12		787.09		863.88		882.92		840.44		905.10		930.62

		Scottish Borders		833.72		824.61		846.58		920.81		878.95		892.71		906.16

		Shetland		851.74		899.92		895.33		-		1,010.42		1,040.58		989.96

		South Ayrshire		884.74		868.92		883.38		925.26		941.18		971.82		952.20

		South Lanarkshire		751.43		762.13		792.20		840.51		877.58		888.90		917.65

		Stirling		868.03		901.87		925.65		948.62		991.85		1,012.12		1,022.68

		West Dunbartonshire		712.69		726.64		792.38		807.91		806.19		823.00		806.35

		West Lothian		748.55		789.52		862.41		864.39		926.55		916.95		931.74

		Scotland		769.68		797.61		826.62		860.04		877.23		887.95		891.39



		Source: Local Government benchmarking framework 2017/18







Accounts Commission_5
Exhibit 10
Exhibit 10-background data



Scottish average of one per cent. Falkirk Council has reduced spend per 
pupil by one per cent. 

• All three councils have high levels of children living in families with limited 
resources compared to the Scottish average of 20 per cent. Dundee City 
and Falkirk have similar levels, 26 per cent and 27 per cent respectively. 
Forty-one per cent of children in Glasgow live in families with limited 
resources.36, 37 

• Dundee City Council reports that the drop in tariff scores in 2017/18 is due 
primarily to a higher than usual number of children leaving school at S4 in 
2015/16.

111. This variation provides an opportunity for councils such as Glasgow and 
Falkirk to share what has helped them make these improvements. Our Best 
Value work, engagement with scrutiny partners and 2014 report on School 
education  suggest that the leadership and culture of the organisations have a 
part to play:

• We highlighted in our 2015 Best Value report on Falkirk Council  
that it had good performance management arrangements and a strong 
improvement culture embedded in its education department.

• Our Best Value Assurance Report: Glasgow City Council  reported 
that targeted actions have helped improve attainment through the Glasgow 
Improvement Challenge. The Care Inspectorate and Education Scotland’s 
2017 inspection of young people’s services in Glasgow found that 'strong 
leadership is driving an ambitious vision to improve life chances for all 
children and young people in Glasgow'.38

• During engagement with scrutiny partners for Dundee City Council, 
Education Scotland highlighted that the council will need to move from 
incremental to transformational change to improve attainment.39 In its 
2018 inspection of Dundee’s Attainment Challenge progress, Education 
Scotland found that strong leadership and higher aspirations are beginning 
to improve the pace of change. It also highlighted strong use of data and 
collaboration with Dundee University to help understand the pupils' needs 
and improve attainment.40 

112. In February 2019, Education Scotland rated Renfrewshire Council excellent 
in its inspection of the Scottish Attainment Challenge. It found that highly 
effective leadership and governance and evidence-based interventions had led to 
significant year-on-year improvements in closing the gap between attainment of 
the most and least deprived pupils.  

113. We will be carrying out an audit on educational outcomes in 2019/20 which 
will consider the reasons for variation in attainment.

There is evidence that spending reductions and increasing 
demand are impacting on some services

Social care services continue to struggle to meet demand
114. Adult social care remains one of the largest areas of spend for councils and 
the demand for services will continue to increase as the population ages. Older 

Part 3. Council performance and the impact on communities  | 43

Do you know the 
impact of spending 
reductions on 
the services your 
council provides?

Page 69

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2014/nr_140619_school_education.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2014/nr_140619_school_education.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2015/bv_150827_falkirk_council.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/bv_180823_glasgow.pdf


44 |

people in need of support are either cared for in their home by visiting care 
workers or in a residential care home. This care is given by a range of different 
providers. In 2017:

• Most care home residents were cared for by the private sector, 80 per 
cent, while the NHS and councils cared for 11 per cent of residents and the 
third sector nine per cent. 41 

• The private sector also provided most homecare hours, 42 per cent, 
councils provided 41 per cent, the third sector six per cent and a mixture of 
providers 11 per cent.42

115. We continue to see signs that services are struggling to meet the demand 
for care. We reported in December 2018, that there has not yet been enough 
progress to address the scale of challenges with social work in Scotland and 
there are some outstanding areas where action is needed. In 2017/18, the 
number of hours of personal care at home is at the highest level since 2010/11. 
Between 2016/17 and 2017/18, councils have spent more on both home care and 
residential care, this has increased at a faster rate than the people who are cared 
for. This is in part due to those receiving care having increasing levels of need, as 
well as the payment of the living wage and overnight allowances to social care 
workers. 

• Total spending on homecare has increased by 3.1 per cent despite only a 
0.1 per cent increase in the number of hours of homecare. 

• Net spending on residential care homes increased by 1.2 per cent despite a 
0.6 per cent reduction in the number of residents.

116. Both satisfaction indicators in the LGBF data show a substantial drop in 
satisfaction with social care services. Eighty per cent of adults who receive care 
are satisfied with it and feel it improves or maintains their quality of life. This is 
down from 84 and 85 per cent respectively and is the lowest since it was first 
recorded in 2014/15. 

117. We reported last year that local inspections raised concerns about the ability 
of the City of Edinburgh and Scottish Borders councils to meet the demand from 
older people and the quality of care provided. A progress review of the City of 
Edinburgh Council’s services for older people found that limited progress had 
been made towards improving the outcomes for many older people. They and 
their carers were unable to get help even when their needs were critical, and 
often had to wait lengthy periods for the care they needed. In April 2018, there 
were 1,500 people in the community waiting for an assessment, waiting an 
average of 50 days. 

118. The Care Inspectorate has also carried out follow-up inspections of Eilean 
Siar and Aberdeen City Councils and a full inspection of Renfrewshire Council’s 
adult services. It found that progress has been made but observed issues around 
staff recruitment and retention in Eilean Siar and Renfrewshire and the capacity of 
care services in Aberdeen.

How is your council 
adjusting to meet 
changing demands 
for care services?

How is this 
reflected in the 
performance data?

Page 70



Public satisfaction is falling
119. The Scottish Household Survey reported that in 2017 public satisfaction has 
fallen for another year:

• 52 per cent of adults were satisfied with three public services – local 
health, schools and transport. This is the lowest since first measured in 
2007 (57 per cent) and a reduction of four per cent since 2016.

• Satisfaction amongst schools had dropped from 79 per cent in 2007 to 70 
per cent in 2017.

• Satisfaction with service users was higher than the whole population, 
people who had children at local schools reported 87 per cent satisfaction.

120. Less than half of councils have published a residents' or citizens' survey 
between 2016 and 2018. Of these, five reported a reduction in satisfaction levels 
compared to previous years. In their surveys many councils asked satisfaction 
questions about specific services or aspects of service delivery. The most frequent 
service-specific surveys were in relation to social care, schools and education, 
housing, building standards and planning, children and families services and school 
meals. Overall, the picture varies significantly with both increases and decreases in 
satisfaction levels being reported for the same service across the country. 

Some councils are not meeting their statutory duties in terms of 
homelessness. 
121. The number of homeless applications increased for the first time in nine 
years in 2017/18, from 34,570 households in 2016/17 to 34,972 households 
in 2017/18. Councils have a statutory duty to provide temporary and settled 
accommodation to households assessed as homeless. However, some councils 
have been unable to meet this obligation.

• The Scottish Housing Regulator reported in March 2018 that Glasgow City 
Council had failed to offer temporary or emergency accommodation to 40 
per cent of the 5,377 applications it had for assistance in 2016/17. It had 
also provided settled accommodation to just over half of the households it 
had a duty to provide to.43 

• The Local Government and Communities Committee took evidence from 
the Legal Services Agency who reported up to ten cases a week where 
households had approached them for legal help with councils who had 
been unable to offer temporary accommodation.44

122. When providing accommodation, councils must ensure that households with 
children or a pregnant woman do not stay in unsuitable accommodation for more 
than seven days. In 2017/18, there were 400 cases where the household stayed 
longer than this time, 280 of these were in Edinburgh, 65 in West Lothian and 20 
in East Dunbartonshire. 

123. Councils use temporary accommodation when a permanent home is not 
immediately available. Temporary accommodation is more expensive for councils 
to provide, impacts on existing housing stock and is not the best place for people 
to stay long term. However, there has been an increase in the use of temporary 
accommodation in recent years. In 2017/18:

Part 3. Council performance and the impact on communities  | 45

Do you know 
what your council 
is doing to 
understand how 
satisfaction with 
different services is 
changing?

Is your council 
meeting its 
statutory duty to 
provide temporary 
and settled 
accommodation 
to households 
assessed as 
homeless?

Page 71



46 |

• there were 10,933 households in temporary accommodation, one per cent 
more than in 2016/17 and 6,615 children, nine per cent more than 2016/17

• the average time spent in temporary accommodation is 204 days for 
families and 161 for households without children

• over 13 per cent of households in temporary accommodation spent 
more than a year there. In Shetland, the average time spent in temporary 
accommodation was over a year.

124. Homelessness is a complex problem that is often the symptom of a range 
of different challenges. Shelter believes that the increase in homeless applications 
is due to the impact of welfare reform, a lack of affordable housing, an increase 
in people with complex needs who do not receive the support they need, and 
insufficient and inconsistent prevention work.45 The Scottish Government has 
an objective to end homelessness, this will require a multi-agency approach. 
We will be reporting further on affordable housing in 2019/20 and will consider 
homelessness as part of the scope of this audit. 

Page 72



Endnotes

Endnotes  | 47

1 Local Government Finance Circulars are letters from the Scottish Government to councils. We use the letters which set 
out the annual funding settlement. All circulars can be found on the Scottish Government’s website: 
https://www.gov.scot/publications/local-government-finance-circulars-index/. 

2 Local Government Finance Statistics are annual statistics on council spend from returns from councils. We have not 
audited the information in them. They can be found on the Scottish Government’s website: 
https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Local-Government-Finance/PubScottishLGFStats.

3 Provisional outturn and budget estimates contain initial outturn and budget information provided by councils. We have not 
audited the information in them. They can be found on the Scottish Government’s website: 
https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Local-Government-Finance/POBEStats.

4 The LGBF is published by the Improvement Service and contains over 70 cost and performance indicators for local 
government. It can be found here: http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/benchmarking/explore-the-data.html.

5 National Performance Framework indicators are used to measure progress against the NPF. They can be found here 
https://nationalperformance.gov.scot/measuring-progress/national-indicator-performance.

6 Scotland's Fiscal Outlook, Scottish Government, May 2018. 

7 The 2018 National Performance Framework is set out at: https://nationalperformance.gov.scot/ 

8 Local government in Scotland: Financial overview 2017/18 , Audit Scotland, November 2018.

9 Scotland’s new financial powers briefing paper , Audit Scotland, October 2018.

10  Projected cost pressures for Scottish local government, Improvement Service, 2018.

11 Securing the future of health and social care to the 2030s, Institute of Fiscal Studies, May 2018.

12 Health and Social care medium term financial framework, Scottish Government, October 2018.

13 Poverty and inequality in Scotland: 2014-2017, Scottish Government, March 2018.

14 Poverty in Scotland 2018, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

15 Citizens Advice, Disconnected, 2018.

16 UK Poverty 2018, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

17 Rolling out Universal Credit, Comptroller and Auditor General, HC 1123, June 2018.

18 Homelessness in Scotland 2017-18, Scottish Government.

19 City of Edinburgh, Council papers, 7 February 2019.

20 Financial sustainability of local authorities 2018, Comptroller and Auditor General, HC 834, March 2018.

21 Ibid.

22 Local Authority Capital Expenditure and Receipts, England: 2017-18 Final Outturn, Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government. 

23 Statement from Rob Whiteman and Richard Paver on borrowing to invest, CIPFA, October 2018.

24 Workforce strategy and metrics update 2018, Dumfries and Galloway Council, November 2018.

Page 73

https://www.gov.scot/publications/local-government-finance-circulars-index/
https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Local-Government-Finance/PubScottishLGFStats
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181129_local_government_finance.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/briefing_181016_financial_powers.pdf
https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/12994
https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/publication/2018/10/scottish-government-medium-term-health-social-care-financial-framework/documents/00541276-pdf/00541276-pdf/govscot%3Adocument
https://www.gov.scot/publications/poverty-income-inequality-scotland-2014-17/pages/1/
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-scotland-2018
https://www.cas.org.uk/system/files/publications/cas_disconnected_report.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/uk-poverty-2018
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748292/Local_Authority_Capital_Expenditure_and_Receipts__England_2017-18_Final_Outturn.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748292/Local_Authority_Capital_Expenditure_and_Receipts__England_2017-18_Final_Outturn.pdf
http://ishare/LocGov/ovw/Reporting/Statement from Rob Whiteman and Richard Paver on borrowing to invest, CIPFA, October 2018
https://dumfriesgalloway.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s2845/Final report - Workforce Strategy and Metrics Update 2018.pdf


48 |

25 These figures do not include staff who are employed by arm's-length external organisations.

26 Royal Institute of Town Planners written submission to Local Government and Communities Committee, 2018. 

27 Data provided by Society of Chief Officers of Environmental Health, 2019.

28 Public library statistics, CIPFA, 2014 and 2017/18.

29 Social work in Scotland - Impact report , Account Commission, December 2018.

30 Tipping point, Unison, November 2018 and Trading safety, Unison, May 2018. Both are reports on surveys carried out 
by UNISON of their members. For environmental health workers, members from 21 councils responded, for trading 
standards members from 29 councils. The overall number of respondents is not stated.

31 The full range of indicators includes unit cost and public satisfaction. These are available on the improvement services 
website: www.improvementservice.org.uk/benchmarking. 

32 National benchmarking overview report 2017-18, LGBF, 2019.

33 Accounts Commission Strategy and annual action plan 2018-23 , Accounts Commission, June 2018.

34 LGBF included educational attainment information for the first time in 2011/12.

35 As leaver information is not available when the LGBF publishes its data, the LGBF uses data based on the year pupils are 
expected to leave school rather than the actual year they left. This means there are some small differences between it 
and data published by the Scottish Government later in the year.

36 Children in families with limited resources across Scotland 2014-2016, The Scottish Government.

37 The Scottish Government, through its Attainment Challenge provides additional funding to the councils it defined as 
having the highest concentration of deprivation. Glasgow and Dundee are challenge authorities. The other authorities are 
Clackmannanshire, East Ayrshire, Inverclyde, North Ayrshire, North Lanarkshire, Renfrewshire and West Dunbartonshire. 

38 Joint inspection of services for children and young people in Glasgow, May 2017.

39 Dundee City Council Local Scrutiny Plan 2018/19 , Audit Scotland, April 2018.

40 How well is Dundee City Council improving learning, raising attainment and closing the poverty-related attainment gap? 
Education Scotland, June 2018.

41 Care home census for adults in Scotland, 2018, NHS Scotland.

42 Social Care Services, Scotland, 2017, Scottish Government. 

43 Scottish Housing Regulator, March 2018.

44 Local government and communities committee, Report on homelessness, February 2018.

45 Briefing for Scottish Government debate on ending homelessness together, Shelter, November 2018.

Page 74

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/ir_181205_social_work.pdf
http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/benchmarking
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/ac_strategy_plan_18-23.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/statistics-publication/2017/11/children-families-limited-resources-scotland-2014-2016/documents/00528170-pdf/00528170-pdf/govscot%3Adocument
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/lsp_180404_dundee.pdf
https://education.gov.scot/assets/contactorganisationinspectionreports/dundeecitycouncilins250618.pdf
https://education.gov.scot/assets/contactorganisationinspectionreports/dundeecitycouncilins250618.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/statistics-publication/2017/12/social-care-services-scotland-2017/documents/00529425-pdf/00529425-pdf/govscot%3Adocument
https://www.scottishhousingregulator.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/Housing people who are homeless in Glasgow - 29 March 2018 - FINAL_0.pdf
https://scotland.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/1623858/Shelter_Scotland_Briefing_Note_-_Debate_on_Homelessness_FINAL.pdf/_nocache


Local government in Scotland

Challenges and 
performance 2019 
This report is available in PDF and RTF formats,  
along with a podcast summary at:  
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk 

If you require this publication in an alternative  
format and/or language, please contact us to  
discuss your needs: 0131 625 1500  
or info@audit-scotland.gov.uk 

For the latest news, reports  
and updates, follow us on:

Audit Scotland, 4th Floor, 102 West Port, Edinburgh EH3 9DN
T: 0131 625 1500  E: info@audit-scotland.gov.uk 
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk 

ISBN 978 1 911494 81 2

Page 75

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/
mailto:info%40audit-scotland.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/follow-us-on-social-media
mailto:info%40audit-scotland.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Local government in Scotland: 
Challenges and performance 2019

Prepared by Audit Scotland  |  March 2019SUPPLEMENT

Key messages 

1 Councils face an increasingly complex, changing and uncertain environment which places different
demands and expectations on them. Councils are also central to delivering many high-level public 
sector objectives, such as the integration of health and care services and involving citizens more in 
decisions about public services.

2 These reforms require councils to collaborate with partners, with the third sector and with
communities, to think differently about how they deliver and fund services. Thinking differently about 
services is important to meet the growing and changing needs of their communities in the coming 
years. New ways of working can lead to increasingly complicated lines of accountability. 

3 Scottish Government revenue funding to councils has reduced in real terms between 2013/14 and
2019/20, while national policy initiatives continue to make up an increasing proportion of council 
budgets. This reduces the flexibility councils have for deciding how they plan to use funding. At 
the same time, demands for council services are increasing from a changing population profile. All 
councils expect an increase in the proportion of people aged over 65 and almost a third of councils 
expect an increase in the proportion of children under 15.  

4 Councils have made good progress in developing medium-term financial planning and continue to
manage their funding gaps through savings and use of reserves. All councils increased council tax to 
the maximum three per cent in 2018/19 and many increased their fees and charges to raise income. 
Some councils are looking at other options to raise income.

P
age 77



Supplement. Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019  | 2

5 Councils need to ensure they have the staff, skills and leaders to deliver change. This requires 
effective workforce planning, but the quality of planning is inconsistent across councils. An increasing 
proportion of the workforce is nearing retirement. If there is insufficient succession planning, skills 
and knowledge will be lost as these people retire. Recruitment into some service areas is becoming 
increasingly difficult, but national workforce data is insufficient to clearly understand how individual 
services areas are affected. 

6 Despite reducing funding and increasing demands, across local government most performance 
indicators are improving or being maintained, although some service areas show more strain. There 
remains performance variation among councils that cannot be readily explained by differences in context 
or spend. Better use of data and benchmarking could lead to further improvement and efficiencies. 

Recommendations

While councils have continued to find ways to manage funding gaps and have made good progress 
with medium-term financial planning, they face an increasingly complex, changing and uncertain time 
ahead. To continue to improve the outcomes for their communities within this context, councils will 
need to be open to transformational change and implement new ways of working. To make effective 
progress, councils should:

• assure themselves that they have adequate leadership and management capacity in place. This 
should include development arrangements that prepare and support councillors and senior 
managers to respond to the challenging and changing local and national demands

• undertake long-term financial planning to set out how they will deliver national policy commitments, 
while continuing to sustain local services with reducing budgets and increasing demands

• continue to seek and implement innovative ways of working and collaborate with communities, 
partners and the third sector to drive transformational change

P
age 78



Supplement. Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019  | 3

• improve data to:  

 – help inform the difficult decisions councils have to make 

 – support benchmarking, learning and sharing of experience and effective practice with others 
that will contribute to improving service quality, efficiency and outcomes for communities. 

• ensure they have workforce planning that is clear about the workforce needed now and in the 
future, where the gaps are and what training or other action is needed to fill them. This should be 
supported by better workforce data.

• be able to demonstrate how spending decisions and priorities have impacted on service delivery and the 
outcomes of residents, as well as how they are delivering against the national performance framework.

P
age 79



Supplement. Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019  | 4

Scrutiny tool checklist for councillors 
This scrutiny tool captures a number of potential questions for councillors and relates to our report Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019 . It is 
designed to provide councillors with examples of questions they may wish to consider to help them better understand their council's position and to scrutinise performance.

How well informed am I?

Questions for councillors to consider What do I know? Do I need to ask any further questions?

Factors affecting demand for services and council funding 

Have you considered how policy and legislative 
change will affect how your council operates?

What scenario planning has your council put in place 
for events such as EU withdrawal and increasing 
budget uncertainty?

Do you have a clear understanding of the demographic 
circumstances within your council area? 

Do you know how effectively your council uses this 
information to decide how to provide services in the 
future?

Governance and accountability 

Do you know if your council’s governance and 
accountability structures are fit for purpose, given 
increasingly complex ways of working?

If you sit on a board, do you fully understand your 
responsibilities to that board and the council?

P
age 80

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2019/nr_190321_local_government_performance.pdf


Supplement. Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019  | 5

How well informed am I?

Questions for councillors to consider What do I know? Do I need to ask any further questions?

Transformational change 

Do you understand how your council’s approach to 
transformational change will improve services, benefit 
users and save money? 

How will you monitor and scrutinise progress of 
transformational projects? 

What is your council’s risk appetite for transformational 
change? Are risks properly monitored?

Do you know what the financial repercussions will be 
if your council's transformation activity fails to meet its 
savings targets?

Is your council's transformation activity supported 
by good governance arrangements and robust 
management?

Do you know if the governance arrangements factor in 
time needed to ensure projects are properly scoped?

P
age 81



Supplement. Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019  | 6

How well informed am I?

Questions for councillors to consider What do I know? Do I need to ask any further questions?

Financial planning 

Does your council have medium and long-term 
financial planning in place?

Does your council link budgets to plans and outcomes 
and report on these?

Generating income

Do you know what options your council is considering 
to maximise income?

How is your council considering the impact that these 
changes might have on equalities? 

If your council is considering generating commercial 
income, do you know how it plans to mitigate the risks?

Partnership working

Does your councils consider sharing services in 
options appraisals and change programmes?

Do you know if there are processes in place in your 
council to facilitate collaborative working on a local, 
regional or national basis?

P
age 82



Supplement. Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019  | 7

How well informed am I?

Questions for councillors to consider What do I know? Do I need to ask any further questions?

Integrated joint boards 

Do you know how your council is ensuring the 
good governance and financial sustainability of its 
Integration Authority?

Do you know what your council is doing to ensure that 
it works with partners to be more open and realistic 
about changes needed?

Community empowerment 

Does your council engage with communities in 
decisions about services, budget proposals and 
priorities? 

Are you clear what community empowerment 
involves and what it means for your council?

What is your council doing to implement community 
empowerment arrangements at a local level? 

Does the Local Outcome Improvement Plan focus on 
areas where the Community Planning Partnership can 
make the biggest impact? 

Do you know what your council is doing to reach out 
to ‘seldom heard’ and disadvantaged groups?

What is your council doing to ensure that one per cent 
of revenue budgets is allocated through participatory 
budgeting by 2020/21?

P
age 83



Supplement. Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019  | 8

How well informed am I?

Questions for councillors to consider What do I know? Do I need to ask any further questions?

Workforce 

What is your council doing to ensure that it has the 
right capacity, skills and leadership in its workforce?

What training does your council make available to 
officers and councillors to ensure that they have the 
skills to deliver services in the future?

Does the training you are offered meet your needs? If 
not, do you know who to speak to?

Does your council have an organisation-wide 
workforce plan? Does it contain information about the 
numbers, costs and skills of the actual and desired 
workforce?

Do you know how your council is ensuring that 
changes to staff numbers and working practices do 
not have a negative impact on morale and wellbeing?

Strategic priorities and performance reporting 

Does your council clearly link its budget setting to its 
strategic priorities and plans?

Are you assured that performance reporting by your 
council is accurate and accessible?

Can your council demonstrate progress in delivering its 
key outcome priorities?

P
age 84



Supplement. Local government in Scotland: Challenges and performance 2019  | 9

How well informed am I?

Questions for councillors to consider What do I know? Do I need to ask any further questions?

Service performance

Does your council make use of the Local Government 
Benchmarking Framework data to consider where and 
how it might make improvements to service delivery?

Have you considered what lessons you can learn from 
other councils who are delivering services well?

Do you know the impact of spending reductions on 
the services your council provides?

How is your council adjusting to meet changing 
demands for care services?

How is this reflected in the performance data?

Do you know what your council is doing to ensure that 
it understands how satisfaction with different services 
is changing?

Is your council meeting its statutory duty to provide 
temporary and settled accommodation to households 
assessed as homeless?

Audit Scotland, 4th Floor, 102 West Port, Edinburgh EH3 9DN
T: 0131 625 1500  E: info@audit-scotland.gov.uk 
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk 

For the latest news, reports  
and updates, follow us on:

P
age 85

mailto:info%40audit-scotland.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 1

ITEM  

INTERNAL AUDIT WORK TO MARCH 2019

Report by Chief Officer Audit and Risk

AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

13 May 2019

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee with details of the recent work carried out by 
Internal Audit and the recommended audit actions agreed by 
Management to improve internal controls and governance 
arrangements.

1.2 The work Internal Audit has carried out in the period from 24 February to 
31 March 2019 to deliver the Internal Audit Annual Plan 2018/19 is detailed 
in this report. During this period a total of 4 Final Internal Audit Reports 
have been issued. There were 0 recommendations made associated with 
the reports. 

1.3 An Executive Summary of the final Internal Audit reports issued, including 
audit objective, findings, good practice, recommendations (where 
appropriate) and the Chief Officer Audit and Risk’s independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy of the control environment and 
governance arrangements within each audit area, is shown in Appendix 1 
to this report.

1.4 The SBC Internal Audit function conforms to the professional standards as 
set out in Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) (2017) including 
the production of this report to communicate the results of the reviews.

1.5 Further information on the work of Scottish Local Authorities Chief Internal 
Auditors Group (SLACIAG), which is the professional networking group for 
the Councils’ Heads of Internal Audit, is shown in Appendix 2 to this report.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Audit and Scrutiny Committee:
a) Notes the final assurance reports issued in the period from 

24 February to 31 March 2019 associated with the delivery 
of the approved Internal Audit Annual Plan 2018/19; and

b) Acknowledges the assurance provided on internal controls 
and governance arrangements in place for the areas covered 
by this Internal Audit work. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 2

3 PROGRESS REPORT

3.1 The Internal Audit Annual Plan 2018/19 was approved by the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee on 19 March 2018. Internal Audit has carried out the 
following work in the period from 24 February to 31 March 2019 to deliver 
the Plan to meet its objective of providing an opinion on the efficacy of the 
Council’s risk management, internal control and governance.

3.2 The SBC Internal Audit function conforms to the professional standards as 
set out in Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) (2017) including 
the production of this report to communicate the results of the reviews.

Internal Audit Reports
3.3 Internal Audit issued final assurance reports on the following subjects:

 Asset Registers

 Corporate Transformation

 Business World ERP System Key Internal Controls 
(incorporating Procure to Pay, Sales to Cash, Payroll, and 
Record to Report)

 Revenues (Council Tax & NDR)

3.4 An Executive Summary of the final Internal Audit assurance reports issued, 
including audit objective, findings, good practice and recommendations 
(where appropriate), and the Chief Officer Audit and Risk’s independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy of the control environment and 
governance arrangements within each audit area, is shown in Appendix 1.

The definitions for Internal Audit assurance categories are as follows:
Level Definition
Comprehensive 
assurance

Sound risk, control, and governance systems are in place. These 
should be effective in mitigating risks to the achievement of 
objectives. Some improvements in a few, relatively minor, areas 
may be required.

Substantial 
assurance

Largely satisfactory risk, control, and governance systems are in 
place. There is, however, some scope for improvement as current 
arrangements could undermine the achievement of objectives or 
leave them vulnerable to error or misuse.

Limited assurance Risk, control, and governance systems have some satisfactory 
aspects. There are, however, some significant weaknesses likely to 
undermine the achievement of objectives and leave them 
vulnerable to an unacceptable risk of error or misuse.

No assurance The systems for risk, control, and governance are ineffectively 
designed and operated. Objectives are not being achieved and the 
risk of serious error or misuse is unacceptable. Significant 
improvements are required.

Internal Audit Consultancy and Other Work

3.5 Internal Audit staff have been involved in the following for the Council to 
meet its aims and objectives, and its roles and responsibilities in 
accordance with the approved Internal Audit Charter:
a) Provide independent challenge of the evidence to support improvement 

arising from the Joint Older People Services inspection.
b) Engagement in the design and development of the Public Protection Unit 

to support improvement as a critical friend.
c) Engagement in the initial meeting of Corporate Landlord Model / Capital 

Programme Board to provide internal challenge and quality assurance 
on the programme involving major change.

Page 88



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 3

Recommendations
3.6 Recommendations in reports are suggested changes to existing procedures 

or processes to improve the controls or to introduce controls where none 
exist. The grading of each recommendation reflects the risk assessment of 
non-implementation, being the product of the likelihood of the risk 
materialising and its impact:

High: Significant weaknesses in existing controls, leaving the Council or Service open to 
error, fraud, financial loss or reputational damage, where the risk is sufficiently high to 
require immediate action within one month of formally raising the issue. Added to the 
relevant Risk Register and included in the relevant Assurance Statement.
Medium: Substantial weaknesses in existing controls, leaving the Council or Service 
open to medium risk of error, fraud, financial loss or reputational damage requiring 
reasonably urgent action within three months of formally raising the issue.
Low: Moderate weaknesses in existing controls, leaving the Council or Service open to 
low risk of error, fraud, financial loss or reputational damage requiring action within six 
months of formally raising the issue to improve efficiency, effectiveness and economy of 
operations or which otherwise require to be brought to attention of senior management.
Outwith the report, Internal Audit informs operational managers about other matters as 
part of continuous improvement.

3.7 The table below summarises the number of Internal Audit 
recommendations made during 2018/19:

2018/19 Number of Recs
High 0
Medium 0
Low 0
Sub-total reported this period 0
Previously reported 4
Total 4

Recommendations agreed with action plan 4
Not agreed; risk accepted 0
Total 4

4 SCOTTISH LOCAL AUTHORITIES’ CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITORS’ GROUP 
(SLACIAG) ANNUAL REPORT 2018

4.1 The Scottish Local Authorities Chief Internal Auditors Group (SLACIAG) is 
the professional networking group for Heads of Internal Audit from each 
Scottish Local Authority and Strathclyde Partnership for Transport. It is a 
Special Interest Group of CIPFA Scotland and therefore the Chair of 
SLACIAG is a member of the CIPFA Scotland Executive Committee.

4.2 Each year, SLACIAG produces an Annual Report highlighting achievements 
and ongoing workstreams and a copy of the report for 2018 is attached at 
Appendix 2 for information.

4.3 In particular, the Audit and Scrutiny Committee may wish to note that:
4.3.1  The Group considers learning and development needs and procures 

training for its members via the Training Sub-Group. Economies of 
scale make this a cost effective way of undertaking training courses;

4.3.2  Working groups are set up to consider time-specific matters of 
interest; such as the development of the ‘peer review’ approach for 
the periodic (at least 5 yearly) External Quality Assessment against 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); and

4.3.3  Sub-groups are in place to deliver specific remits e.g. the Computer 
Audit Sub-Group (CASG) and the Counter Fraud Sub-Group (SLAIG).  

4.4 The Chief Officer Audit and Risk has been a member of its Management 
Committee for many years, including Chair 2014-2016, and attends 
quarterly meetings. One of the Senior Internal Auditors is a member of 
CASG, and the Corporate Fraud and Compliance Officer is a member of 
SLAIG; thus attend those Sub-Group regular meetings.Page 89



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 4

4.5 In summary, SLACIAG acts as an effective forum for the dissemination of 
best practice within internal audit in local government to reinforce the 
important statutory role of internal audit. It is important that the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee acknowledges the benefits to Scottish Borders Council 
Internal Audit function arising from its participation in this national forum.

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial
There are no costs attached to any of the recommendations in this report.

5.2 Risk and Mitigations
(a) The Objectives of Internal Audit are set out in its Charter. “As part of 

Scottish Borders Council’s system of corporate governance, Internal 
Audit’s purpose is to support the Council in its activities designed to 
achieve its declared objectives.” Specifically as “a contribution to the 
Council’s corporate management of risk.” 

(b) Key components of the audit planning process include a clear 
understanding of the Council’s functions, associated risks, and 
potential range and breadth of audit areas for inclusion within the 
plan. During the development of the Internal Audit Annual Plan 
2018/19 and at the start of each audit engagement, to capture 
potential areas of risk and uncertainty more fully, key stakeholders 
have been consulted and risk registers have been considered. 

(c) If audit recommendations are not implemented, there is a greater risk 
of financial loss and/or reduced operational efficiency and 
effectiveness, and Management may not be able to demonstrate 
improvement in internal control and governance arrangements, and 
effective management of risks.

5.3 Equalities

It is anticipated there will be no adverse impact due to race, disability, 
gender, age, sexual orientation or religious/belief arising from the work 
contained in this report. 

5.4 Acting Sustainably
There are no direct economic, social or environmental issues in this report.

5.5 Carbon Management

No direct carbon emissions impacts arise as a result of this report.

5.6 Rural Proofing 

This report does not relate to new or amended policy or strategy and as a 
result rural proofing is not an applicable consideration.

5.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

No changes are required as a result of this report.

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 The Executive/Service Directors relevant to the Internal Audit reports 
issued have signed off the relevant Executive Summary within Appendix 1.

6.2 The Corporate Management Team, the Chief Financial Officer, the 
Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, the Service Director HR, the 
Clerk to the Council, and the Communications team have been consulted 
on this report and any comments received have been incorporated into the 
final report.

Page 90



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 5

Approved by

Jill Stacey, Chief Officer Audit and Risk Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Jill Stacey Chief Officer Audit and Risk Tel 01835 825036
Sue Holmes Principal Internal Auditor Tel 01835 825556

Background Papers:  Appropriate Internal Audit files 
Previous Minute Reference:  Audit and Scrutiny Committee 11 March 2019

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by using the contact details below. Information on other language 
translations can also be given as well as provision of additional copies.

Contact us at Internal Audit intaudit@scotborders.gov.uk  

Page 91

mailto:intaudit@scotborders.gov.uk


Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 1

APPENDIX 1

RecommendationsReport Summary of key findings and recommendations
H M L

Status

Audit Plan Category: Asset 
Management

Subject: Asset Registers

No:  009/011

Date issued: 3 May 2019

Level of Assurance: 
Comprehensive

The purpose of this assurance audit was to review the systems, 
processes and controls that are in place to ensure complete and 
accurate records of all Property, Fleet, and IT assets that 
underpin Asset Management Plans to deliver the Council's 
strategies, plans and priorities.

The fixed assets module within Business World ERP system has 
not been deployed as an Asset Register. Technology Forge 
system will continue to be used to record the details of individual 
assets, and to calculate depreciation.

The following good practice was found:

 There was evidence that the Business World ERP system and 
Technology Forge system were reconciled on a regular basis. 

 There was evidence that spend within Business World ERP 
system was reviewed to ensure that all capital spend is 
identified and accounted for appropriately.

 We identified evidence that gives assurance that assets are 
regularly inspected for condition and existence, and that any 
obsolescence or impairment is reflected in the Asset 
Register, and in the items carrying value in the accounts. 

 There was evidence that the accounting policy described in 
the Council’s published accounts was being applied 
consistently and that assumptions about the estimated lives 
of assets were reasonable. 

We consider that we are able to provide comprehensive 
assurance. Sound risk, control, and governance systems are in 
place. These should be effective in mitigating risks to the 
achievement of objectives.

0 0 0 Management have 
confirmed the 
factual accuracy 
and accepted the 
findings of this 
report.

Internal Audit is 
aware of 
upcoming 
changes to the 
Technology Forge 
system and will 
review this during 
2019/20 as part 
of our work on 
ICT Business 
Systems.

P
age 92



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 2

RecommendationsReport Summary of key findings and recommendations
H M L

Status

Audit Plan Category: Corporate 
Governance

Subject: Corporate 
Transformation

No:  010/016

Date issued: 3 May 2019

Level of Assurance: Substantial

The purpose of this assurance audit was to review the new 
governance and accountability arrangements of the revised 
Corporate Transformation Programme structure; processes for 
benefit identification (financial and other); tracking and 
realisation (return on investment and value for money); 
evaluation of outcomes and lessons learned including a series of 
Gateway Reviews.

The Corporate Transformation Programme is designed to help 
achieve Council Corporate Priorities and is critical in supporting 
the delivery of significant savings set out in the Council’s 5-year 
Revenue Financial Plan. 

The financial and other benefit realisation from Change and 
Improvement Projects are monitored on a weekly basis by 
Corporate Management Team and through the Council’s Financial 
Plan and associated monitoring to Executive Committee at the 
same meeting as the quarterly performance reports. The latter 
includes a high level summary of the business change 
programmes and projects, including significant highlights, as well 
as periodic case studies to demonstrate return on investment. 

Risk management is applied at both programme and individual 
project level, and risks are subject to regular review.

Internal Audit considers that the level of assurance we are able 
to give is substantial assurance. Largely satisfactory risk, control, 
and governance systems are in place. There is some scope for 
improvement such as the transition from paper-based claims to 
using Business World ERP system for all employees within 
Workforce Transformation, and further alignment of Workforce, 
Business and Financial Planning processes. These are included in 
Management Action Plans and therefore we have made no 
recommendations.

0 0 0 Management have 
confirmed the 
factual accuracy 
and accepted the 
findings of this 
report.

Gateway reviews:
o Workforce 
Transformation – 
Business Travel / 
Staff Travel Costs
o Workforce 
Transformation – 
Overtime Costs
o Corporate 
Landlord Model

Internal Audit will 
continue to act as 
a ‘critical friend’ in 
these areas as 
part of our 
planned work in 
2019/20 on the 
Corporate 
Transformation 
Programme and 
other Internal 
Audit reviews 
where they relate 
to these areas.

P
age 93



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 3

RecommendationsReport Summary of key findings and recommendations
H M L

Status

Audit Plan Category: Financial 
Governance

Subject: Business World ERP 
System Key Internal Controls 
(incorporating Procure to Pay, 
Sales to Cash, Payroll, and 
Record to Report)

No:  073/002

Date issued: 7 May 2019

Level of Assurance for the 
specific areas tested: 

 Procure to Pay – Substantial 
with exception of GL07 
Limited

 Sales to Cash – Substantial
 Payroll – Comprehensive
 Record to Report – 

Substantial
 System Roles / User Access 

– Limited 
 Systems Documentation 

and Training Materials post 
“go live” – Substantial

This Business World ERP System Key Internal Controls review 
was an integration of 4 audits as part of our Financial 
Governance assurance work included within our Internal Audit 
Annual Plan 2018/19 relating to the workstreams: Procure to 
Pay; Sales to Cash; Payroll; and Record to Report.

The Council replaced older legacy systems in April 2017 with an 
integrated Enterprise Resource Planning solution, Business 
World, for HR, Finance and Procurement processes designed to 
reduce redundancy in processing and data handling. Business 
World is one of the cornerstones by which the Council seeks to 
continue to achieve transformational change in the way that it 
operates. The complexity of the new system and the recent 
upgrade in January 2019 has been assessed as high inherent risk 
requiring frequent Internal Audit reviews over the next few years 
including other functionality as it is rolled out.

The purpose of the review was to test the end to end processes 
and internal controls in place which are intended to: 
 ensure complete and accurate processing of transactions with 

suppliers and customers; 
 ensure complete and accurate processing of payments to 

current and former employees; and
 record transactions and payments in an appropriate manner 

for the purposes of budgetary control and financial reporting.

This audit was intended to satisfy three objectives: to provide 
Management with assurance on the operation of the Business 
World system; to contribute towards the production of the 
Internal Audit annual assurance opinion; and to supplement the 
work undertaken by Audit Scotland in the external audit process.

We tested processes and internal controls in place during the 
period April 2018 to February 2019 in order to confirm that 
controls continue to operate as previously assessed and to 
review any changes to processes or controls in recognition of the 
ongoing Business World (BW) work being delivered by CGI.

0 0 0 Management have 
confirmed the 
factual accuracy 
and accepted the 
findings of this 
report.

Internal Audit will 
continue to 
monitor and 
review progress in 
2019/20 with the 
3 remaining 
recommendations 
which are in work 
progress to 
address risks, 
issues and 
concerns.

P
age 94



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 4

RecommendationsReport Summary of key findings and recommendations
H M L

Status

Audit Plan Category: Financial 
Governance

Subject: Business World ERP 
System Key Internal Controls 
(incorporating Procure to Pay, 
Sales to Cash, Payroll, and 
Record to Report)

(cont’d) 

The BW Masterfile records (Supplier, Customer, Employee) 
contain financial and personal data and it is essential that any 
changes to Masterfile records in terms of creation, amendment or 
deletion are tightly controlled and restrictions around access are 
applied.  Substantive testing of these indicated that Masterfile 
amendments were processed by officers authorised to undertake 
those tasks and those changes are generally supported by 
appropriate documentation.

Our review of Audit trails of amendments made to Masterfile 
records in BW for Procure to Pay and Sales to Cash continues to 
reveal some limitations in their usefulness; these were 
incomplete for a number of items in our sample testing.  
Management have agreed to consider how appropriate evidence 
is available in every case in order that the audit trail is 
meaningful and captures relevant information to ensure 
unintended, inaccurate or fraudulent changes are detected.

The testing of P2P transactional processing evidences that valid 
transactions are being accurately and correctly recorded. In 
respect of the continued use of GL07 payment process for both 
non-invoice payments to individuals and invoice payments that 
have been authorised in sub-systems for which no interface with 
Business World exists, there is an Action Plan in place to help 
address the known control risks with relevant Services, and we 
will continue to monitor progress in this area.

The testing of Sales invoices indicates that the time taken to 
raise these has improved, and the narrative supplied on credit 
notes is more detailed allowing appropriate authorisations to be 
made. Both are improvements from the previous year’s audit.

The testing of Payroll transactions, to determine appropriate 
authorisation and notification, relevant supporting 
documentation, and monthly reconciliations (where appropriate), 
highlighted no issues or areas of concern.

P
age 95



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 5

RecommendationsReport Summary of key findings and recommendations
H M L

Status

Audit Plan Category: Financial 
Governance

Subject: Business World ERP 
System Key Internal Controls 
(incorporating Procure to Pay, 
Sales to Cash, Payroll, and 
Record to Report)

(cont’d) 

We consider that sufficient functionality currently exists within 
the Record to Report module and further roll out of Financial 
Information Centre to assist Service Managers with budget 
monitoring and forecasting and moving to self-service will help to 
further achieve objectives.

Role separation within BW has been designed and implemented 
to provide an appropriate separation of duties to ensure officers 
have appropriate and correct permissions to carry out their 
tasks.  As it is not easy to ascertain that the configuration of the 
role profiles fully ensures this in every instance there is a risk 
that fraud or error might occur in the event that an officer has 
inappropriate or conflicting permissions. A role review is 
currently underway but until this role review is completed we can 
only give limited assurance in this area.

The Council’s Financial Regulations were updated to reflect the 
implementation of BW system and approved in November 2018.  
The associated Financial Policies and Procedures require review 
and updating to ensure they reflect current practices thus 
enabling roles and responsibilities to be appropriately discharged. 
This is work in progress.

Our 2017/18 Internal Audit report on Business World ERP 
System Key Controls dated 4 May 2018 consisted of 18 
recommendations (8 Medium Risk; 10 Low Risk). Our follow up 
review of previous recommendations from 2017/18 shows that 
15 of these are now completed and we have been able to 
evidence improvements made, or action plans put in place to 
address issues and concerns.  The outstanding recommendations 
relate to: (R2R) the bank reconciliation module in BW (Medium 
Risk); (R2R) suspense account error transaction report (Low 
risk); and (All modules) audit trails (Medium Risk), all of which 
are work in progress. We made no further recommendations.

P
age 96



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 6

RecommendationsReport Summary of key findings and recommendations
H M L

Status

Audit Plan Category: Financial 
Governance

Subject: Revenues (Council Tax 
and Non Domestic Rates)

No:  084/012

Date issued: 3 May 2019

Level of Assurance: Substantial

The purpose of this assurance audit was to assess the application 
of and key controls relating to Council Tax and Non-Domestic 
Rates (NDR) exemptions, discounts, and reliefs including review 
periods.

The opportunity was taken to combine the audit assurance work 
with an evaluation of fraud prevention controls and detection in 
liaison with the Corporate Fraud & Compliance Officer.

The following good practice was found:

 Samples tested were accurate and consistent with the award 
of appropriate discounts, exemptions and relief for Council 
Tax and NDR accounts.

 There have been further improvements in the completion of 
history sheets for Council Tax and NDR accounts.

We consider that we are able to provide substantial assurance. 
Largely satisfactory risk, control, and governance systems are in 
place. There is, however, some scope for improvement, such as 
planned account reviews, a programme for updating policies and 
procedures to ensure they remain fit for purpose, and further 
counter fraud compliance work, as current arrangements could 
undermine the achievement of objectives or leave them 
vulnerable to error or misuse.

Management actions are either underway or planned, thus we 
have made no recommendations. 

0 0 0 Management have 
confirmed the 
factual accuracy 
and accepted the 
findings of this 
report, and will 
ensure that the 
Management 
actions outlined 
are progressed.

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ANNUAL REPORT FROM THE CHAIR – 2018

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Membership of the Scottish Local Authorities Chief Internal Auditors’ Group (SLACIAG) is made up of 
the Heads of Internal Audit from each Scottish Local Authority and Strathclyde Partnership for 
Transport.  The Group is a Special Interest Group of CIPFA Scotland, with operational arrangements, 
vision, and objectives set out in a formal Constitution.

1.2 The Group’s vision is to be the voice of Internal Audit across Scottish Local Authorities and a driving 
force for best practice in respect of local authority internal audit, governance, and operations.  In 
support of that vision the Group has the following objectives:
 To secure a quality and responsive service for members of the group;
 To develop the influence of the group with key decision makers and institutions in Scotland, as 

the key representative body for internal audit in local government with a particular emphasis 
on governance, risk, control and assurance matters;

 To strengthen links and build long term relationships across the internal audit community 
within the public service;

 To provide an effective group for the discussion of issues of common concern, sharing of good 
practice and commissioner of work to develop advanced practice;

 To consider the development and training needs of our people as a collective to ensure that 
the best available products are procured at the best price;

 To uphold the groups key values including: Respect; Openness and Honesty; Adding Value; 
Professional Team working; Sharing Best Practice; Integrity; Continuous Improvement.

1.3 The purpose of this Annual Report to key stakeholders is to provide an update on the Group’s 
activities and achievements over the course of 2018.

1.4 SLACIAG has two sub-groups whose work is also reflected in this report. 

 The Computer Audit Sub-Group (CASG) and, 

 The Scottish Local Authorities Investigators’ Group (SLAIG). 

2. SLACIAG ACTIVITY AND ACHIEVEMENTS DURING 2018

2.1 We held our AGM in June 2018. The Chair Andrea McMahon completed her two year term of office 
and was succeeded by the Vice-Chair Eilidh Mackay until March 2020. The AGM was delayed from 
March 2018 due to the “Beast from the East” bringing extreme weather conditions and leading to 
the rare cancellation of a scheduled meeting. 

2.2 During 2018 we invited the Chairs of both CASG and SLAIG to join the SLACIAG Management 
Committee to benefit from their sectoral expertise and support our joined up inclusive approach. The 
SLACIAG Constitution was amended to reflect this change. 

2.3 During the year our Constitution underwent a number of other minor changes and remains under 
review to ensure it is fit for purpose going forward. 

2.4 SLACIAG usually meets four times in year but due to the adverse weather conditions referred to at 
section 2.1 met three times during 2018. Business coverage was as follows: 

Page 99



SLACIAG MEETINGS 2018 
Date Host Topics / Speakers 
March 2018 South Lanarkshire 

Council, Hamilton
 Cancelled due to adverse weather 

June 2018 Perth & Kinross 
Council, Perth 

 Health & Social Care Integration with speakers from 
Scottish Government & NHS.

 Training Proposal – IT and Contract Management 
workshops (including contribution from CIPFA 
representative).

 PSIAS External Quality Assessment (EQA) – debrief and 
next steps. 

 Exchange of experience – fraud. 
September 
2018

Fife Council, Cupar  PSIAS External Quality Assessment (EQA) – update. 
 Counter Fraud with speakers from Audit Scotland. 
 Best Value Assurance Reports with speaker from Audit 

Scotland. 
 Exchange of Experience – fraud.  

November 
2018

CIPFA Offices, 
Edinburgh 

 Agile Projects with speaker from ISACA. 
 Care Inspectorate speaker. 
 SLACIAG Conference 2019 – planning. 
 Consultation on new Audit Scotland publication “How 

Councils Work: Managing risk through internal
controls” with a speaker from Audit Scotland. 

2.5 All of the meetings continue to be well attended, re-affirming the value of the Group to members 
through the variety of topics considered by the Group over the course of the year and the calibre of 
speakers who attended and presented.  This is particularly pleasing as we continue a period of 
significant change across Local Government and for Internal Audit. The Group strives to ensure 
involvement across the whole profession with an ever increasing emphasis on the involvement of 
members of Internal Audit teams, particularly through CASG and SLAIG, as well as Heads of Internal 
Audit.

2.6 There is a continuing healthy interest in supporting various working groups (e.g. training and PSIAS 
External Quality Assessment) and the Management Committee. However at the AGM in June 2018 
there were no nominations or volunteers for the position of Vice-Chair. Also due to a lack of 
volunteers the Secretary (Paul Doak, North Ayrshire Council) and Treasurer (Kevin O’Kane, Stirling 
Council) agreed to remain in office. 

2.7 The Management Committee from June 2018 is as follows: 

SLACIAG MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 2018

Eilidh Mackay East Ayrshire Council Chair SLACIAG

Paul Doak North Ayrshire Council Secretary SLACIAG

Kevin O’Kane Stirling Council Treasurer SLACIAG

Andrea McMahon Renfrewshire Council former Chair SLACIAG

Jill Stacey Scottish Borders Council / 
Midlothian Council 

former Chair SLACIAG

Colin McDougall West Dunbartonshire Council SLACIAG member 

Francis Scott Glasgow City Council SLACIAG member 

Jackie Clark Perth & Kinross Council SLACIAG member 

Pamela Redpath Dundee City Council SLACIAG member 

Crawford McIntyre Shetland Islands Council SLACIAG member (retired 2018)

Page 100



Paul Macaskill Western Isles SLACIAG member (appointed to 
Committee on retirement of 
Crawford McIntyre)

Peter Moore East Lothian Council Chair CASG 

Barry Moncur East Dunbartonshire Council Chair SLAIG

2.8 March 2018 marked the first PSIAS deadline for completion of External Quality Assessments (EQAs), 
an exercise to be completed at least 5 yearly. Most members participated in a SLACIAG peer review 
approach. Learning from that first EQA process informs the peer review approach going forward. 

2.9 At the AGM In June 2018 the Treasurer presented the draft annual accounts which were approved 
for audit. The Group’s healthy financial position allowed the subscription rates to be held at the 
current level for another year and will allow a variety of training opportunities to be promoted as 
well as subsidised delegate fees for the 2019 conference to allow maximum attendance. 

2.10 At the June 2018 meeting a discussion of training proposals around IT and Contract Management has 
informed planning for our 2019 Conference. The SLACIAG Conference is held every two years, in 
June. The next conference is scheduled for 13-14 June 2019 and will be held at Dumfries House, 
Cumnock. 

2.11 The SLACIAG Management Committee meets twice each year and during 2018 met in June and 
December. The Chair represents SLACIAG at meetings of the CIPFA Scotland Branch Executive 
Committee. 

3. COMPUTER AUDIT SUB-GROUP

3.1 The main aim of the Computer Audit Sub-Group (CASG), which is a permanent sub-group of SLACIAG, 
is to provide a forum to share and discuss computer audit practices and developments.  This includes 
raising awareness of new standards, updates to legislation, new and current topics of interest, and 
computer audit developments, resources, and techniques. CASG meets three times per annum and 
the meetings continue to cater for computer audit knowledge from novice through to professional 
level and were attended by auditors from Local Authorities as well as from Strathclyde Partnership 
for Transport and Scottish Water.

3.2 Meetings have included presentations and discussions on a range of topics with speakers from within 
and out-with the group with business as follows: 

CASG MEETINGS 2018 
Date Host Topics / Speakers 
March 2018 East Renfrewshire 

Council
 Cyber Essentials presentation by Scottish Canals 

including carrying out an in-house “phising” exercise
 SEEMIS audit carried out by Fife Council
 GDPR update presented by Glasgow City Council

August 2018 South Ayrshire Council  Information security presentation from the Digital Office
 Training proposals – Digital Change and Contract 

Management
 Public Contracts Scotland presentation

November 
2018

CIPFA Offices, 
Edinburgh 

 GDPR update speaker from Information Commissioners 
Office

 Group discussion cover common systems register and 
internal audit coverage

 Duplicate payment testing carried out by Falkirk Council
 Starters and leavers audit carried out by South 

Lanarkshire Council

Page 101



4. SCOTTISH LOCAL AUTHORITY INVESTIGATORS SUB-GROUP (SLAIG)

4.1 The main aim of SLAIG, which is a permanent sub-group of SLACIAG, is to provide a forum to share 
and discuss counter fraud practices and developments.  This includes raising awareness of updates to 
legislation, new and current topics of interest, and developments in counter fraud activities. SLAIG 
meets four times per annum and there is regular engagement with the Crown Office and Procurator 
Fiscal Service (COPFS). The absence of statutory offences and the reliance on common law offences 
continues to be of concern and representation on this issue has been made to the Scottish 
Government to consider legislative powers similar to those available to Local Authorities in England.

4.2 West Dunbartonshire Council concluded Pilot initiatives with the DWP in relation to joint working in 
relation to council tax reduction scheme (CTRS) fraud.  Joint working is now available to all local 
authorities, this having commenced in November 2018. 

4.3 Inter authority benchmarking has been developed by Renfrewshire Council. 

4.4 The Group has heard from speakers on various topics of interest as follows:

SLAIG MEETINGS 2018 
Date Host Topics / Speakers 
22/02/2018 CIPFA Ricky Hutton Police Scotland, Scottish Social Security Agency
31/05/2018 CIPFA Information Commissioner, Skills Development Scotland, Food 

Standards Agency
12/09/2018 CIPFA Police Scotland, Barry Moncur East Dunbartonshire
29/11/2018 CIPFA Ricky Hutton Police Scotland, OSCR, Cabinet Office

5. SUMMARY

5.1 In summary, SLACIAG has had another successful year, and I believe that, individually and 
collectively, this professional network helps to reinforce the important statutory role of internal 
audit.

5.2 Firstly, I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Committee and all Group members for their 
strong support and contributions during my first year as Chair, and for the high levels of attendance 
at the quarterly meetings. The network relies on contributions from every one of us. The group 
considered the final draft of this report, and agreed minor changes, at our AGM in March 2019. 

5.3 Secondly, I would particularly like to thank those colleagues who have remained as office bearers 
beyond their expected term and look forward to colleagues volunteering for current office-bearer 
vacancies (Vice-Chair) and for future opportunities to ensure the continued strength of our network. 

5.4 Thirdly, I would like to thank those Councils who hosted our meetings during the year and all of the 
speakers who gave up time in their busy schedules to contribute to our learning and exchange of 
experience. 

5.5 Finally, I would like to note the contributions of Crawford McIntyre, Shetland Islands Council, who 
retired at the end of 2018, for his longstanding and active contribution to the Management 
Committee and to Olwen Sinclair, Orkney Islands Council, who took up a new job opportunity in year, 
for her support to the group over many years. They will both be missed. 

Eilidh Mackay B.A. (Hons), CPFA
Chair of SLACIAG
5 April 2019

Page 102



Audit and Scrutiny Committee, 13 May 2019 1

ITEM  

RISK MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

Report by Chief Officer Audit & Risk

AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

13 May 2019

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an overview 
of Scottish Borders Council’s responsibilities in respect of risk 
management and an update on the risk management activity during 
2018/19.

1.2 Effective Risk Management is one of the foundations of effective Corporate 
Governance and is recognised as such in the Council’s Local Code of 
Corporate Governance. Compliance with the principles of sound Corporate 
Governance requires the Council to adopt a coherent approach to the 
management of risks that it faces every day. Better and more assured risk 
management will bring many benefits to the Council and the people it 
serves.

1.3 Management have the primary responsibility to systematically identify, 
analyse, evaluate, control and monitor risks to the achievement of the 
Council’s objectives. Internal Audit is required to give independent 
assurance on the effectiveness of all internal controls and other 
arrangements put in place by Management to manage risk. Part of the 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee’s role (Audit function) is to scrutinise the 
framework of internal financial control, risk management and governance 
throughout the Council to ensure its adequacy.

1.4 In 2018, a revised Risk Management Policy statement and a 3-year Risk 
Management Strategy were endorsed by this Committee and approved by 
the Council to continue to refine its approach to managing risks with a 
focus on quality of reporting to enable sufficient Senior Management 
monitoring and oversight. This is the first annual report on progress to be 
presented to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

1.5 The Council continues to refine its approach to Risk Management and 
embed these key aspects into the management practices of the Council, as 
shown within this report which outlines progress made during 2018/19.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Audit and Scrutiny Committee 
a) Acknowledges that it is satisfied with the arrangements for 

managing risks at the Council to ensure their on-going 
effectiveness in support of the Council’s risk management 
policy and strategy; and

b) Considers whether any further action is required.
Page 103

Agenda Item 9



Audit and Scrutiny Committee, 13 May 2019 2

3 BACKGROUND

3.1 Effective Risk Management is one of the foundations of effective Corporate 
Governance and is recognised as such in the Council’s Local Code of 
Corporate Governance (approved by Council, June 2018). Compliance with 
the principles of sound corporate governance requires the Council to adopt 
a coherent approach to the management of the risks that it faces every 
day. Common sense serves to underline the message that better and more 
assured risk management will bring many benefits to the Council and the 
people it serves.

3.2 The Roles and Responsibilities are set out within the Council’s Risk 
Management Policy. Management have the primary responsibility to 
systematically identify, analyse, evaluate, control and monitor risks that 
potentially endanger or have a detrimental effect upon the achievement of 
the Council’s objectives and its people, property, reputation and financial 
stability whether through core service delivery or through a programme of 
change. 

3.3 Management continue to be advised and supported by corporate support 
resources to fulfil their responsibilities for managing risk. The Risk 
Management support team schedule and facilitate risk reviews with Senior 
Managers / Risk Owners using established guidelines, toolkits and 
practices, and maintain an overview of risk management across the Council 
to ensure systems of identification, evaluation and management of key 
risks facing the Council continue to be robust.

3.4 Internal Audit is required to give independent assurance on the 
effectiveness of all internal controls and other arrangements put in place 
by Management to manage risk, and to make recommendations designed 
to improve the management and mitigation of risks, in particular where 
there is exposure to significant financial, strategic, reputational and 
operational risk to the achievement of the Council’s objectives.

3.5 Part of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee’s role (Audit function) is to 
scrutinise the framework of internal financial control, risk management and 
governance throughout the Council to ensure its adequacy. 

3.6 The risk management landscape is dynamic and as the Council, in common 
with other local authorities, increasingly moves towards partnerships and 
alternative delivery models, the spectrum of risks that the Council is 
exposed to also increases.

3.7 In 2018, a revised Risk Management Policy statement and a 3-year Risk 
Management Strategy were endorsed by this Committee and approved by 
the Council. Refinements to the Council’s approach to managing risks 
include a focus on ensuring that risk management reporting is of a high 
quality so that decisions can be taken with full clarity of the risks involved. 
Quality reporting will also ensure sufficient monitoring and oversight is 
provided by Senior Management to allow them to fulfil their risk 
management role, as detailed in the Risk Management Policy 2018. 

3.8 The other key change in focus for the Risk Management Strategy 2018, 
which sets out the arrangements for applying the risk management policy 
in practice, is to ensure that those contracted to deliver services on behalf 
of the Council and through partnership arrangements have robust risk 
management framework in place. It is essential that the Council recognises 
that outsourcing services through contracts and commissioned services 
does not remove the statutory obligation and therefore the consequences 
of any failure of these arrangements.

Page 104



Audit and Scrutiny Committee, 13 May 2019 3

4 RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITY 2018/19

4.1 The Council has a standard risk management process with risk registers at 
Corporate and Service levels uploaded to Pentana, the Council’s 
performance management system. Risk registers have been developed for 
all Service areas. Risks are formally reviewed with the Risk Owner and the 
relevant Management Team on a quarterly basis, and Pentana system is 
updated to reflect this. The Corporate Risk Officer (to November 2018) / 
the Risk Management support team (from February 2019) advised and 
supported Management to fulfil their responsibilities for managing risk. 
Staffing changes briefly resulted in a backlog of Corporate and Service risk 
register reviews due to a lack of capacity, however this has now been 
addressed. 

4.2 In addition to the Corporate and Service risk reviews detailed above, 
facilitated Risk workshops have also taken place to develop risk registers as 
requested relating to projects and programmes, and joint working and 
partnership arrangements. For example, Tweedbank Programme Board and 
Older Peoples Strategy.

4.3 During 2018/19 various Service Directors representing the diverse range of 
Council services have made presentations to the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee at each of their meetings on the strategic risks facing their 
respective Services and the internal controls and governance in place to 
manage / mitigate those risks to demonstrate how risk management is 
embedded within Services. This approach has provided the opportunity to 
the Elected and External Members of the Committee as part of their 
oversight remit to gain a fuller understanding of how Management are 
discharging their risk management responsibilities in practice and to enable 
them to hold Management to account on the application of the Risk 
Management Policy.

4.4 Liaison with Internal Audit on an on-going basis to ensure that risk is 
considered in every assurance audit and risk reviews take account of 
improvements arising from audit work continues to take place.

4.5 Improved Pentana system functionality has provided the opportunity for 
Service Managers to monitor their Business Plan Actions, Performance 
Indicators, Risks and Audit Actions through dedicated portals, creating a 
valuable management information tool that needs to be fully exploited to 
its best use. Activity will continue to look at ways in which digital solutions 
can be used to achieve this, including further developing the use of Portals 
in Pentana system.

4.6 The Council recognises that outsourcing services through contracts and 
commissioned services does not remove the statutory obligation and 
therefore the consequences of any failure of these arrangements. The CMT 
agreed to establish an officer Contract Management Framework Working 
Group to devise a Contract Management Framework, as previously 
recommended by Internal Audit to enhance contract monitoring and review 
systems. The Group met monthly from March 2018 and the Corporate Risk 
Officer led one of the eight workstreams to develop a contract risk 
assessment process as part of the Contract Management Framework.

4.7 Risk management advisory and support services were provided to SB 
Cares, Live Borders, and the Scottish Borders Health and Social Care 
Integration Joint Board using the same systematic approach as part of their 
respective business or strategic planning processes.

Page 105



Audit and Scrutiny Committee, 13 May 2019 4

4.8 The Corporate Risk Officer (to November 2018) commented on the Risk 
and Mitigations section of Committee reports, a new role described in the 
revised Risk Management Policy 2018, to ensure that decision makers are 
cognisant of the risks associated with the proposals/decisions to be taken. 
This has proved to be very successful with positive feedback from report 
authors. It also further embeds risk management practice into the 
Council’s decision making methodology. The Chief Officer Audit & Risk is a 
mandatory consultee for all Committee reports which provides the 
opportunity to check that full risk information is provided.

4.9 The Corporate Risk Officer once again reviewed the Risk Management 
training course for Managers in April 2018 to refresh the content and keep 
it relevant to the dynamic environment faced by the Council, and delivered 
two training events during 2018/19, one in June and one in September 
2018, attended by 18 delegates in total. There was an increased focus on 
risk management within programmes, projects and decision making. The 
Course Objectives are: Understand why the management of risk is an 
essential part of management responsibilities; Understand how managing 
risks is fundamental to business plan/programme/project/strategy/decision 
making; Be able to identify risks to achieving objectives and to put actions 
in place to mitigate these risks; and Understand how risks are analysed, 
assessed, recorded and monitored in the Council.

4.10 Risk Management Guidelines, Templates and Prompt Lists were updated 
during 2018, to ensure their continued relevant and effectiveness, and 
published on the Intranet for Managers to use.

Conclusion

4.11 The above demonstrates that the management of risks is being embedded 
and is recognised as an essential part of management practice above and 
beyond the business planning remit. It is becoming an essential part of 
decision making and should help to ensure that decisions are taken and 
risks are fully understood. Risk management is moving away from solely 
being a process to being an essential part of management activities which 
is the key objective of the Corporate Risk Management Policy.

5 RISK MANAGEMENT NEXT STEPS 2019/20

5.1 Refinements will continue on the most effective way for Managers to 
undertake risk management activity in future, building on the foundation of 
existing risk management arrangements and adding value by aligning risk 
management to the business planning and performance management 
processes. The Risk Management support team will continue to support 
Senior Management to embed a risk management culture into the day to 
day operation of the Council and its decision making and Risk Owners to 
fulfil their role to systematically identify, analyse, evaluate, control and 
monitor risks to deliver the Risk Management Strategy and apply Risk 
Management policy in practice. 

5.2 Whilst the Corporate risk register and all Service risk registers held in 
Pentana system are reviewed on a quarterly basis, there is still a gap in 
linking them to the business plans and the business planning process. If a 
risk is to be treated further, then mitigating actions should be identified 
and assigned to the relevant risk within this system so Managers have an 
overview of all KPI’s, actions and risks in one place. If the Risk 
Management framework and strategy is to work to full efficacy then the use 
of Pentana system should be encouraged (enforced) for all Services. This 
will require ongoing engagement with Risk Owners.

Page 106



Audit and Scrutiny Committee, 13 May 2019 5

5.3 Risk Management update reports will be developed using the Pentana 
system and rolled out to ensure appropriate oversight and understanding of 
the Corporate and Service risks by CMT and Service Directors / Managers 
on at least a quarterly basis.

5.4 The options for the delivery of the corporate Risk Management training 
courses will be evaluated as will appropriate training on the Pentana 
system to support Risk Owners to self-serve. Training will be provided in 
2019 on a regular basis to ensure that all relevant Risk Owners have the 
skills and competency to fulfil their roles.

5.5 Reviews of the Council’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy will be 
carried out to check if any updates are required arising from staff changes 
or refinements in the approach. Any significant changes will be brought to 
the Audit and Scrutiny Committee for approval.

5.6 Elected Members are encouraged to seek out the Risk and Mitigations 
section of Committee reports that they are asked to approve. Challenge is 
welcomed to ensure that the Elected Members are satisfied that the risks 
to the decisions they are being asked to make are fully considered and 
mitigated appropriately.

6 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Financial

There are no financial implications as a direct result of the report. The 
corporate staff resource costs involved are contained within budgets. Any 
additional costs arising from enhanced risk mitigation will have to be 
considered and prioritised against other pressures in the revenue budget.

6.2 Risk and Mitigations

The report sets to assure the Audit and Scrutiny Committee that the 
Council is undertaking its risk management responsibilities adequately. It 
also allows the Committee to fulfil their remit as set out in the revised Risk 
Management Policy. 

6.3 Equalities

It is anticipated there will be no adverse impact due to race, disability, 
gender, age, sexual orientation or religious/belief arising from the work 
contained in this report.

6.4 Acting Sustainably

No direct economic, social or environmental issues with this report.

6.5 Carbon Management

No direct carbon emissions impacts as a result of this report.

6.6 Rural Proofing 

This report does not relate to new or amended policy or strategy and as a 
result rural proofing is not an applicable consideration.

6.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

No changes to the Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation are 
required as a result of this report.

Page 107



Audit and Scrutiny Committee, 13 May 2019 6

7 CONSULTATION

7.1 The Corporate Management Team has been consulted on this report and 
any comments received have been incorporated in the final report.

7.2 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Service Director HR, the Clerk to the Council and the Communications 
team have been consulted on this report and any comments received have 
been incorporated in the final report.

Approved by
Jill Stacey, Chief Officer Audit & Risk Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Jill Stacey Chief Officer Audit & Risk Tel 01835 825036
Rachel Wigmore Business Support Officer Tel 01835 826614

Background Papers:  Scottish Borders Council’s Corporate Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Corporate Risk Management Strategy
Previous Minute Reference:  Audit and Scrutiny Committee 14 May 2018

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various computer 
formats by contacting the address below.  Rachel Wigmore can also give information on 
other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Rachel Wigmore, rwigmore@scotborders.gov.uk

Page 108

mailto:rwigmore@scotborders.gov.uk


Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019 1

ITEM  [insert Item No. ]

COUNTER FRAUD ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

Report by Report by Chief Officer Audit & Risk

AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

13 May 2019

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides the Audit and Scrutiny Committee with details 
of the Council’s counter fraud responsibilities and an update on the 
fraud prevention, detection and investigation activity during the 
year to 31 March 2019.

1.2 The Council is committed to minimising the risk of loss due to fraud, theft 
or corruption and to taking appropriate action against those who attempt 
to defraud the Council, whether from within the authority or from outside.

1.3 The primary responsibility for the prevention, detection and investigation 
of fraud rests with Management, supported by the Corporate Fraud and 
Compliance Officer. Internal Audit provides advice and independent 
assurance on the effectiveness of processes put in place by Management. 
Part of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee’s role is to oversee the 
framework of internal financial control including the assessment of fraud 
risks and to monitor counter fraud strategy, actions and resources.

1.4 In 2018, a revised Counter Fraud Policy statement and a 3-year Counter 
Fraud Strategy were endorsed by this Committee and approved by the 
Council to continue to refine its approach to tackling fraud with a focus on 
prevention and detection and promotion of anti-fraud culture across the 
Council, taking account of reducing resources. This is the first annual 
report on progress to be presented to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

1.5 Assurances about the effectiveness of the Council’s existing systems and 
arrangements for the prevention, detection and investigation of fraud can 
be taken from the results in the Annual Fraud Report 2018/19 contained 
herein.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Audit and Scrutiny Committee:

(a) Considers the counter fraud work undertaken in support of 
the Council’s counter fraud policy and strategy; and

(b) Notes the content of the Counter Fraud Annual Report 
2018/19 that outlines the outcomes.

Page 109

Agenda Item 10



Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019 2

3 BACKGROUND

3.1 The size and nature of the Council’s services, as with other large 
organisations, puts the Council at risk of loss due to fraud, theft or 
corruption. The Council’s Counter Fraud Policy states the roles and 
responsibilities in tackling fraud; the primary responsibility for the 
prevention, detection and investigation of fraud rests with Management

3.2 Establishing a counter fraud culture is fundamental to ensuring an effective 
response to fraud, theft, corruption or crime and the leadership part 
played by Corporate Management Team and Senior Management is key to 
establishing counter fraud behaviours within the organisation, its partners, 
suppliers and customers.

3.3 The Corporate Fraud Steering Group, which has representatives from 
across the Council’s Services, agrees and monitors the implementation of 
counter fraud improvement actions, supported by the Corporate Fraud and 
Compliance Officer within the Audit & Risk service, the post-holder being 
an Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist.

3.4 Internal Audit is required to give independent assurance on the 
effectiveness of processes put in place by Management to manage the risk 
of fraud.

3.5 Part of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee’s role is to oversee the 
framework of internal financial control including the assessment of fraud 
vulnerabilities and to monitor counter fraud strategy, actions and 
resources.

3.6 Tackling fraud is not a one-off exercise; it is a continuous process across 
all parts of the Council because the service delivery processes it underpins 
are continuous. Tackling fraud is an integral part of good governance 
within the Council and demonstrates effective financial stewardship and 
strong public financial management.

3.7 In 2018, a revised Counter Fraud Policy statement and a 3-year Counter 
Fraud Strategy was endorsed by this Committee and approved by the 
Council. Refinements to the Council’s approach to tackling fraud include a 
focus on enhancing fraud prevention and detection to improve its 
resilience to the threat of fraud and corruption.

4 COUNTER FRAUD ACTIVITY 2018/19

4.1 The Corporate Fraud and Compliance Officer, following the approval of the 
revised Counter Fraud Policy statement and Counter Fraud Strategy in 
June 2018, delivered Fraud Awareness training for Service Managers and 
carried out targeted Fraud Vulnerability Assessments using a new 
methodology and toolkit with 134 Service Managers during the course of 
the year. This included Directorates and Services of Assets & 
Infrastructure, Customer & Communities, Regulatory Services, Finance IT 
& Procurement, and Human Resources. In addition, the Fraud Awareness 
training was delivered to Managers within SB Cares as part of the Council’s 
support services provision to the adult social care ALEO. The Fraud 
Awareness training session is now part of the HR training programme with 
regular sessions throughout the year.

4.2 A suite of on-line training modules covering Fraud Awareness, The Bribery 
Act and Anti-Money Laundering have been promoted for staff within 
relevant Service areas. Fraud Awareness is mandatory for new members 
of staff. The uptake of these modules is as follows:-

Page 110



Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019 3

Resource  Total 2018/19

An Introduction to the Bribery Act 2010 60 34

Anti-Money Laundering 36 20

Fraud Awareness 601 240

4.3 The Corporate Fraud and Compliance Officer liaised with Internal Audit on 
an on-going basis to ensure fraud risk is considered in every assurance 
audit. Further to this, the opportunity was taken to combine a counter 
fraud controls assessment with audit assurance work on Licensing, 
Revenues (Council Tax and Business Rates) and also counter fraud 
compliance work with audit assurance work on Business World ERP System 
Key Internal Controls relating to payroll and pension payments.

4.4 The Corporate Fraud and Compliance Officer produced a report, presented 
by the Chief Financial Officer, which compared the findings in relation the 
Accounts Commission report (March 2018) on a significant fraud at 
Dundee City Council in 2016/17 with the processes, procedures and 
practices at Scottish Borders Council to provide assurance.

4.5 A Fraud Response Plan has been written by the Corporate Fraud and 
Compliance Officer to standardise the Council’s response when fraud is 
suspected and to assist Managers to know what options are available to 
them and how an investigation should be conducted.

4.6 The Council supports Police Scotland in their criminal investigations by 
checking addresses and confirming or providing occupiers names and 
addresses. There were 536 Police Scotland address checks in 2018/19, 
broadly equivalent in number to previous years. This information is 
provided under section 21 (paras 2 & 3) Data Protection Act 2018.

4.7 The Corporate Fraud and Compliance Officer has dealt with enquiries from 
the Council’s website page or the anonymous telephone reporting line 
which are available to staff or the public for whistleblowing purposes, 
though the number of incidents reported is still low.

4.8 The Corporate Fraud and Compliance Officer is a member of the Scottish 
Local Authority Investigators Group (SLAIG) and represents Scottish 
Borders Council at SLAIG’s quarterly meetings, therefore sharing best 
practice across Councils and the wider public sector and ensuring 
knowledge of emerging fraud risks and issues is up to date.

4.9 The Counter Fraud Steering Group held bi-annual meetings to consider 
and agree counter fraud improvement actions to be led by the Corporate 
Fraud and Compliance Officer and to monitor their implementation. This 
forum is chaired by the Chief Officer Audit & Risk. Any lessons learned 
from identified incidents shared across Councils were discussed and 
actions agreed as appropriate.

4.10 The Corporate Fraud Steering Group previously agreed, having achieved 
the minimum standard within the CIPFA Code of Practice on ‘Managing the 
Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014)’, to adopt the Scottish Government’s 
Counter Fraud Maturity Model as a means of self-assessment. Diagram A 
illustrates the Council’s current self-assessment against the Counter Fraud 
Maturity Model based on the counter fraud activity during the year.

Page 111



Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019 4

5 COUNTER FRAUD NEXT STEPS 2019/20

5.1 The Corporate Fraud & Compliance Officer will deliver Fraud Awareness 
Training for Service Managers and carry out targeted Fraud Vulnerability 
Assessments using a new methodology and toolkit for the remaining 
Directorates and Services including Social Care, Children & Young People.

5.2 The introduction of new functionality within the Business World ERP 
System has allowed a more systematic approach to checking fraud. A set 
of automated continuous compliance checks will be developed.

5.3 A review will be undertaken of associated policies, procedures and 
guidelines across the Council to ensure their continued relevance and 
effectiveness. (The Counter Fraud Strategy states: “As a minimum the 
policy framework will include: Counter Fraud Policy; Whistleblowing Policy; 
Anti Money Laundering Policy; Anti-Bribery & Corruption Policy; Gifts & 
Hospitality Policy and register; Conflict of Interest Policy and register; 
Codes of Conduct and Ethics; Information Security Policy; and Cyber 
Security Policy.”)

5.4 Plans will be put in place to develop a central corporate record of Gifts and 
Hospitalities and Register of Interests. In the meantime, the current 
departmental process will be refreshed and managers will be asked to 
undertake a review.

5.5 The Council will continue to participate in the National Fraud Initiative 
(NFI) which is a series of bi-annual exercises run by the Cabinet Office and 
Audit Scotland to identify or prevent fraud and error by matching 
electronic data held by public bodies. Participating bodies are required to 
investigate data discrepancies within a timescale and report back on any 
savings.

5.6 The Fraud Response Plan will be publicised to Managers to assist them to 
know what options are available to them and how an investigation should 
be conducted.

6 ANNUAL FRAUD REPORT 2018/10

6.1 All frauds and irregularities greater than £5,000 must be reported to Audit 
Scotland. There were no frauds greater than £5,000 during 2018/19. 
Though this is an important performance indicator of how effective the 
Council’s fraud prevention and detection measures are, this report includes 
all known frauds.

6.2 There were 15 investigations concluded in 2018/19 none of which 
identified any serious fraud or resulted in a prosecution.

6.3 Email phishing attempts continue though the number of attempts are not 
recorded; however, senders are routinely blocked and reported to the 
Council’s IT suppliers CGI.

6.4 An investigation into direct payments to a Social Work client was 
completed; it was found that there had been no harm to the client and no 
financial loss to the Council but there had been a deception and proper 
procedure had not been followed. New processes have been introduced 
and a subsequent audit found these processes to be satisfactory.

6.5 There was a joint investigation between SBC and NHS Counter Fraud 
Services on a case relating to concerns over grants issued by both 
organisations to a third party charitable organisation. These concerns were 
answered and no further action was required.

Page 112



Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019 5

7 IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Financial

Having effective internal control systems designed to prevent and detect 
fraud contributes to safeguarding the Council’s financial resources, for 
delivery of services, as part of protecting the public purse. This includes 
the operational costs of resourcing the Corporate Fraud & Compliance 
Officer (1 FTE) within the Audit & Risk service. Any additional costs arising 
from enhanced fraud risk mitigation will have to be considered and 
prioritised against other pressures in the revenue budget.

7.2 Risk and Mitigations

(a) There is a risk that Managers are not aware of fraud issues or, due to 
competing demands on resources, do not engage with fraud 
prevention.
• The steps in the Counter Fraud Maturity Model should raise 

awareness across the organisation.
• The requirement to carry out Fraud Vulnerability Assessments 

will continue to be promoted with Senior Managers across all 
service areas.

(b) There is a risk that frauds will not be detected.
• Members need assurance that controls are adequate to detect 

fraudulent activity. If significant amounts of fraud or error are 
not found but the fraud detection measures have been utilised 
properly, this gives assurances about the effectiveness of the 
Council’s existing systems and arrangements for the 
prevention, detection and investigation of fraud.

(c) There is a risk that Managers will not take action against staff when 
fraud is suspected or identified for fear of criticism or reputational 
damage to their Service or the Council.
• Managers must have confidence in the investigation process and 

successful investigations should be communicated.
• A Fraud Response Plan has been developed and will be 

publicised so that Managers are informed about what steps are 
appropriate if fraud is suspected.

(d) There is a reputational risk for the Council if its internal control, risk 
management and governance arrangements are assessed by 
external audit and inspection bodies as inadequate. 
• The Counter Fraud Annual Report is evidence that fraud risks 

have been identified and are being mitigated.

7.3 Equalities

Equalities and diversities matters are accommodated by way of all alleged 
frauds being investigated and pursued in accordance with the appropriate 
legislation.

7.4 Acting Sustainably

There are no direct economic, social or environmental issues with this 
report.

7.5 Carbon Management

There are no direct carbon emissions impacts as a result of this report. 

Page 113



Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019 6

7.6 Rural Proofing 

This report does not relate to new or amended policy or strategy and as a 
result rural proofing is not an applicable consideration.

7.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

No changes to the Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation are 
required as a result of this report.

8 CONSULTATION

8.1 The Corporate Fraud Steering Group has been consulted on this report and 
any comments received have been incorporated in the final report.

8.2 The Corporate Management Team has been consulted on this report and 
any comments received have been incorporated in the final report.

8.3 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Service Director HR, the Clerk to the Council and the Communications 
team have been consulted on this report and any comments received have 
been incorporated in the final report.

Approved by

Jill Stacey  Signature ……………………………………
Chief Officer Audit & Risk

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Jill Stacey Chief Officer Audit & Risk Tel: 01835 825036
Gary Smith Counter Fraud and Compliance Officer Tel: 01835 826573

Background Papers:  Scottish Borders Council’s Counter Fraud Policy Statement and 
Counter Fraud Strategy
Previous Minute Reference:  Audit and Scrutiny Committee 14 May 2018

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below. Gary Smith can also give 
information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at gsmith3@scotborders.gov.uk
 

Page 114

mailto:gsmith3@scotborders.gov.uk


Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 13 May 2019 1

Diagram A

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 1

ITEM  

INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL ASSURANCE REPORT 2018/19

Report by Chief Officer Audit & Risk

AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

13 May 2019

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee the Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report for the year 
to 31 March 2019 which includes the Chief Officer Audit & Risk’s 
independent assurance opinion on the adequacy of the Council's 
overall control environment. 

1.2 In support of the overall governance arrangements of the Council, as set 
out in the Local Code of Corporate Governance, and the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which require that the Chief Officer Audit 
& Risk provides an annual internal audit opinion and report on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk management 
and internal controls to support the preparation of the Annual Governance 
Statement.

1.3 The Remit of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee indicates that it should 
ensure an adequate framework of internal control, risk management and 
governance throughout the Council.

1.4 To meet the requirements of the PSIAS the Internal Audit Annual 
Assurance Report 2018/19, at Appendix 1, includes the annual Internal 
Audit opinion, provides details of the Internal Audit activity and 
performance during the year to fulfil its role, and summarises the outcomes 
of assessments of the Internal Audit service against the PSIAS.

1.5 The Chief Officer Audit & Risk’s opinion is that, based on Internal Audit 
reviews and knowledge, the systems of internal control, governance and 
risk management within the Council are operating satisfactorily.

1.6 The Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2018/19 has been used to 
inform the Chief Executive’s Annual Governance Statement 2018/19.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Audit and Scrutiny Committee:
a) Considers the Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 

2018/19 (Appendix 1) and provides any commentary 
thereon.

b) Agrees that the Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 
2018/19 be published on the Council’s website.

Page 117

Agenda Item 11



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 2

3 BACKGROUND

3.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) (2017) requires that:
“The chief audit executive [SBC’s Chief Officer Audit & Risk] must deliver 
an annual internal audit opinion and report that can be used by the 
organisation to inform its governance statement.
The annual internal audit opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy 
and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk 
management and control.
The annual report must incorporate:
 the opinion;
 a summary of the work that supports the opinion; and
 a statement on conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards and the results of the quality assurance and improvement 
programme.”

3.2 The Remit and Terms of Reference of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee 
indicate that it should:

• Ensure adequate framework of internal control, risk management 
and governance throughout the Council

• Encourage propriety and probity throughout the Council
• Assist in accountability to stakeholders

4 INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL ASSURANCE REPORT 2018/19

4.1 The Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2018/19, at Appendix 1, 
includes the Chief Officer Audit & Risk’s independent and objective opinion 
regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk 
management and internal controls, provides details of the Internal Audit 
activity that supports the opinion and of the performance during the year 
to fulfil its role, and summarises the outcomes of assessments of the 
Internal Audit service against the PSIAS.

4.2 The Chief Officer Audit & Risk’s opinion is that, based on Internal Audit 
reviews and knowledge, the systems of internal control, governance and 
risk management within the Council are operating satisfactorily.

4.3 Internal Audit reports during the year confirm improvements in internal 
controls, governance, and risk management through Management-initiated 
improvements complemented by the implementation of audit 
recommendations. The most significant of these improved controls related 
to the Business World ERP system. Further improvements in internal 
controls, governance, and risk management have been agreed by 
Management as highlighted in Internal Audit reports during the year.

4.4 The Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2018/19 provides assurances 
in relation to the Council’s corporate governance framework that is a key 
component in underpinning delivery of the corporate priorities within the 
Council’s Corporate Plan and has been used to inform the Chief Executive’s 
Annual Governance Statement 2018/19.

4.5 The annual internal self-assessment against the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) in 2018/19 demonstrates sufficient evidence that the 
Council’s Internal Audit section conforms with the Definition of Internal 
Auditing, Code of Ethics, and the Standards in the PSIAS.

Page 118



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 3

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial

(a) It is anticipated that efficiencies will arise either as a direct or 
indirect result of Management implementing the recommendations 
made by Internal Audit during 2018/19 through improved internal 
controls and governance arrangements.

(b) The net cost (projected outturn at January 2019) of the Internal 
Audit service was £254k (2017/18 £234k). The majority of service 
expenditure relates to staff costs (99%) for resources comprising 
Chief Officer Audit & Risk (50% allocation), Principal Internal Auditor, 
two Senior Internal Auditors, and two Internal Auditors.

5.2 Risk and Mitigations

(a) Internal Audit provides assurance to Corporate Management and the 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
internal controls, governance and risk management within the 
Council, highlights good practice and recommends improvements. 
Key components of the audit planning process include a clear 
understanding of the Council’s functions, associated risks, and range 
and breadth of audit areas for inclusion within the plan. There is 
effective liaison between Internal Audit and the Risk Management 
support team on an on-going basis to ensure that risk is considered 
in every audit and risk reviews take account of improvements arising 
from audit work.

(b) Continuous improvements in internal controls and governance 
arrangements can be demonstrated through Management-initiated 
improvements complemented by the implementation of Audit 
recommendations.

(c) It is anticipated that improvements in the management and 
mitigation of risks will arise as a direct result of Management 
implementing the Internal Audit recommendations made during the 
year or outstanding from previous years which will enable 
Management to demonstrate further improvement in internal 
controls and governance arrangements.

(d) Delivery of the Internal Audit services in conformance with the 
PSIAS will enable the Council to meet the requirements of the Local 
Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014 to consider the 
findings of assessments as part of the consideration of the system of 
internal control required by regulation 5.

5.3 Equalities
It is anticipated there will be no adverse impact due to race, disability, 
gender, age, sexual orientation or religious/belief arising from the work 
contained in this report. 

5.4 Acting Sustainably
There are no direct economic, social or environmental issues in this report.

5.5 Carbon Management
There are no direct carbon emissions impacts as a result of this report.

5.6 Rural Proofing 
This report does not relate to new or amended policy or strategy and as a 
result rural proofing is not an applicable consideration.

Page 119



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 4

5.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

No changes to the Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation are 
required as a result of this report.

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 As the Chief Officer Audit & Risk is required to give an independent opinion 
on the Council’s governance, risk management and internal controls, full 
consultation on Appendix 1 is not appropriate.

6.2 The Corporate Management Team has been advised to take into account 
the work of Internal Audit and the independent opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk management and 
internal controls when completing the annual self-evaluation and assurance 
process for the Council’s Annual Governance Statement 2018/19. 

6.3 The Corporate Management Team, the Chief Financial Officer, the 
Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, the Service Director HR, the 
Clerk to the Council and the Communications team have been consulted on 
this cover report and any comments received have been incorporated.

Approved by

Jill Stacey, Chief Officer Audit & Risk Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Jill Stacey Chief Officer Audit & Risk Tel 01835 825036

Background Papers:  Appropriate Internal Audit files 
Previous Minute Reference:  Audit and Scrutiny Committee 14 May 2018

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by using the contact details below. Information on other language 
translations can also be given as well as provision of additional copies.

Contact us at Internal Audit intaudit@scotborders.gov.uk  

Page 120

mailto:intaudit@scotborders.gov.uk


Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 1

APPENDIX 1

Chief Officer Audit & Risk’s Annual Report and Opinion 2018/19

1 Introduction

1.1 It is Management’s responsibility to design and maintain proper risk management, 
governance and internal control processes and systems to ensure probity in systems and 
operations, including the prevention, detection and resolution of fraud and irregularities. 
Management is also responsible for checking that the arrangements and controls are 
operating effectively. These are known as the first and second lines of defence which are 
not fixed but evolve as the Council changes.

1.2 Internal Audit, as the third line of defence, is an independent appraisal function established 
for the review of the internal control system as a service to Scottish Borders Council. It 
objectively examines, evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a 
contribution to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources and the 
management of risk.

1.3 The Internal Audit activity adds value to the organisation (and its stakeholders) when it 
considers strategies, objectives, and risks; strives to offer ways to enhance governance, risk 
management and control processes; and objectively provides relevant assurance.

1.4 The Objectives of Internal Audit are set out in its Charter: As part of Scottish Borders 
Council’s system of corporate governance, Internal Audit’s purpose is to support the 
Council in its activities designed to achieve its declared objectives and to do so:

 In support of the Council’s vision, values and priorities.
 As a contribution to the Council’s corporate management of risk.
 As an aid to ensuring that the Council and its elected members, employees and 

contracted third parties are operating within the law and relevant regulations.
 As a contribution towards establishing and maintaining a culture of honesty, 

integrity, openness, accountability and transparency throughout the Council in all its 
activities and transactions.

 As a contribution towards ensuring that financial statements and other published 
performance information are accurate and reliable.

1.5 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) (2017) requires that:
“The chief audit executive [SBC’s Chief Officer Audit & Risk] must deliver an annual internal 
audit opinion and report that can be used by the organisation to inform its governance 
statement.
The annual internal audit opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness 
of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and control.
The annual report must incorporate:

 the opinion;
 a summary of the work that supports the opinion; and
 a statement on conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and the 

results of the quality assurance and improvement programme.”

1.6 This Annual Report provides the annual internal audit opinion and summarises the work 
carried out by Internal Audit during the year to 31 March 2019 that underpins the opinion 
in accordance with the Internal Audit Charter, Strategy and Annual Plan. The report also 
summarises the outcomes of assessments of the Internal Audit service against the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).

Page 121



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 2

2 Opinion on the systems of Internal Control and Governance

2.1 My opinion is that, based on our reviews and knowledge, the systems of internal control, 
governance and risk management within the Council are operating satisfactorily.

2.2 Internal Audit reports during the year confirm improvements in internal controls, 
governance, and risk management through Management-initiated improvements 
complemented by the implementation of audit recommendations. The most significant of 
these improved controls related to the Business World ERP system.

2.3 Reasonable assurance can be provided on the adequacy of the internal controls and 
governance arrangements in place. There is adequate awareness and observation of the 
Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance (approved June 2018) and key governance 
documents including Scheme of Administration (approved November 2017; amended June 
2018), Procedural Standing Orders (approved June 2017), Scheme of Delegation (approved 
March 2018), Financial Regulations (approved November 2018), Procurement and Contract 
Standing Orders (approved July 2017) and Codes of Conduct for Councillors and for 
Employees. The policies, procedures and guidelines associated with Financial Regulations 
need to be reviewed, updated and developed, as appropriate, to reflect changes arising 
from the implementation of the Business World ERP system.

2.4 The Chief Officer Audit & Risk facilitates the annual review of the Council’s governance 
arrangements against its Local Code of Corporate Governance (Local Code) carried out by a 
self-evaluation working group of officers from across the Council’s services. This is part of 
the process to produce the Annual Governance Statement.

2.5 Further improvements in internal controls, governance, and risk management have been 
agreed by Management as highlighted in Internal Audit reports and recommendations 
made during the year or outstanding from previous years.

3 Internal Audit Annual Plan 2018/19 Delivery

3.1 The following table shows the analysis of audit days and numbers by audit theme:

 Plan 
days  

2018/19

Actual 
days  

2018/19

Plan 
Nos.      

2018/19

Actual 
Nos.   

2018/19
Corporate Governance 165 141 6 6
Financial Governance 175 152 7 7
IT Governance 65 35 2 1
Internal Controls 105 94 5 4
Asset Management 75 72 4 4
Legislative and other Compliance 40 45 3 3
Consultancy and Advice 70 109
Other 75 65   

SBC Total 770 713 27 25
Non-SBC 85 88 3 3

Total 855 801 30 28

3.2 The level of Actual Audit days was slightly lower than plan (94%). This performance can be 
attributed to extraordinary staff sickness absence during the first half of the year, and a 
staff leaver in the fourth quarter of the year thus reducing overall output despite greater 
than planned direct audit productivity from the Internal Audit team resources that were 
available during the year.

Page 122



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 3

3.3 The allocation of audit plan days is not an exact science and some of the audit scopes have 
been carried out using less than planned days and some using more. The most significant 
variations are as follows:
 Corporate Governance: The second element of the planned assurance audit on 

Performance Management relating to KPIs of Corporate Priorities was not carried 
due to resource capacity in fourth quarter, though assurance will be gained from 
the Best Value Assurance Review of the Council that is underway. 

 Financial Governance: The planned assurance audit on Financial Policy Framework 
was included within the Financial Planning assurance audit. 

 ICT Governance: The full scope of the planned assurance audit on ICT Contract 
Management has been deferred to 2019/20 Audit Plan in agreement with Senior 
Management; aspects of the ICT outsource contract with CGI was covered as part of 
Consultancy work on request by CMT Review of Business Case Objectives.

 Asset Management: The full scope of the planned assurance audit on Winter 
Service has been deferred to 2019/20 Audit Plan to align with the phasing of the 
Winter Service Review in agreement with Senior Management and will be carried 
out as part of Consultancy work. 

 Consultancy: engagement in the Contract Management Working Group and the 
Business Objectives Evaluation utilised significant resources.

3.4 This has not affected the assurance that Internal Audit is able to give.

3.5 The wide range of Internal Audit work performed during the year is listed below:

Corporate Governance Audits
3.6 To provide assurances in relation to the Council’s corporate governance framework that is 

a key component in underpinning delivery of the corporate objectives and priorities within 
the Council’s Corporate Plan, reviews included: 
 Corporate Governance (Assessment of progress on implementation of Improvement 

action plans, Annual Evaluation against Local Code of Corporate Governance,  support 
the recruitment process to appoint external members to Audit and Scrutiny Committee 
(Audit business) and support for the Committee’s learning and development).

 Information Governance (Review of the framework including roles and responsibilities, 
policy development and implementation, and assess compliance with the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) which came into force May 2018; and to provide annual 
assurance to the Senior Information Risk Owner and Data Protection Officer).

 Performance Management (Validation of performance indicators and benchmarking 
information to support self-assessment and continuous improvement of the Council's 
services, specifically to ensure accuracy of data submitted for Local Government 
Benchmarking Framework).

 Corporate Transformation Programme (continual audit approach to influence the 
governance and accountability arrangements, including processes for benefit (financial 
and other) identification, tracking and realisation (return on investment and value for 
money), and evaluation of outcomes and lessons learned).

 Workforce Planning (Review of approach to workforce development in alignment with 
business and financial planning processes to provide skills, knowledge and competency 
requirements for service delivery to meet the Council's objectives).

 Resilience Planning (Review the approach to emergency and business continuity 
planning, including risk assessments, early warning systems, resilient communities 
initiative, post incident reviews and lessons learned).

Page 123



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 4

Financial Governance Audits
3.7 To provide assurance on the internal financial controls in place and substantive testing of 

transactions to ensure completeness and accuracy of data in core financial systems, 
reviews included:
 Financial Planning Processes incorporating Financial Policy Framework (Review of the 

systems and procedures for preparing, monitoring and controlling the budget including 
efficiency savings to provide the foundation for sound internal financial control, to 
deliver the financial strategy, and to ensure plans and priorities match available 
resources including the roles and responsibilities of budget holders, and evaluate 
whether there is a comprehensive programme in place to review, update and develop 
relevant policies, procedures and guidelines). 

 Business World ERP System Key Controls incorporating Payroll, Sales to Cash, Procure 
to Pay, and Record to Report system process (Assess key controls of the Business World 
system for Payroll, Sales to Cash, and Procure to Pay processes and core General Ledger 
and Management Reporting (Record to Report), assess System Access, test sample of 
transactions from various data sets to determine if expected improved internal 
financial controls are being achieved).

 Revenues – Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates (Assess the application and key 
controls regarding Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates exemptions and discounts, 
including review periods, policies, discretionary relief and disabled persons relief).

ICT Governance Audits
3.8 To provide assurances that computer systems are secure, reliable and conform to 

nationally agreed standards, reviews included:
 ICT Security Controls (Assess the adequacy of ICT security arrangements including: 

physical and environmental controls; disaster recovery; third party access; operational 
controls (change/incident/problem management) and business applications, to ensure 
they are designed appropriately and that all parties are adhering and complying with 
them. Review of PSN compliance and Cyber Essentials requirements.

Internal Controls Audits
3.9 To provide assurances in relation to a range of the Council’s internal controls in areas 

identified by Management, reviews included:
 Schools – Earlston HS, Eyemouth HS, Kelso HS, Melrose PS, Greenlaw PS and Eddleston 

PS (Review of internal financial controls and business administrative procedures in 
place to ensure the efficient and effective use of resources in the school 
establishments, to complement the assurance received from Education Scotland arising 
from their inspection programme of schools, including evaluation of the systems in 
place to set and monitor budgets devolved to head teachers to ensure adherence to 
DSM standards and practices).

 Licensing (Review of New Licensing Policy Statement (requirement of law reviewed 
every 5 years), due to be in place by November 2018 to check that the Council is 
following best practice through its policies and procedures).

 Adult Social Care Services (Review of internal financial controls and governance 
arrangements regarding Self Directed Support to ensure national policy objectives are 
being met and public funds are safeguarded).

 Protective Services (Review the change in business practices and ways of working 
following the restructure within Environmental Health and Trading Standards to ensure 
that regulatory obligations are met and risks are appropriately managed).

Page 124



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 5

Asset Management Audits
3.10 To provide assurances that Council assets are safeguarded and properly accounted for, and 

used economically, efficiently and effectively, reviews included:
 Asset Registers (Review of systems, processes and controls that are in place to ensure 

complete and accurate records of all Property, Fleet, and IT assets that underpin Asset 
Management Plans to deliver Council's strategies, plans and priorities).

 Capital Investment (Assess progress with implementation of identified improvement 
actions to ensure compliance with established good practice by Accounts Commission - 
strategic asset management plans; governance of capital investment; capital planning; 
review, scrutiny and challenge; capital financial budget monitoring; delivery of the 
capital programme and capital plan projects, including transformation achieved 
through the Corporate Landlord Model).

 Private Sector Landlord Registration (Assess the end to end procedures and practices 
for private sector landlord registration to ensure that statutory obligations are met and 
risks are appropriately managed).

 Passenger Transport (Analyse and assess current processes for Passenger Transport to 
identify the approach which represents best value, review procurement practices for 
compliance and consider options for improvement).

Legislative and Other Compliance Audits
3.11 To test compliance with the terms of the funders’ service level agreements or legislative 

requirements, reviews included:
 Selkirk Conservation Area Regeneration Scheme (Review Selkirk CARS as part of 

programme compliance and evaluation requirements of the external funders’ 
requirements including audit).

 EU Funded Programmes - LEADER and European Maritime and Fisheries Fund (Annual 
audits of the LEADER and EMFF Programmes under the terms of the respective Service 
Level Agreements and legislative compliance including an assessment of compliance 
with the requirements of the respective SLAs and the relevant EC Regulations).

Consultancy Work
3.12 The most significant piece of consultancy work related to the engagement in the design, 

development and delivery of a Contract Management Framework by the Contract 
Management Working Group, which will be the key mechanism that facilitates the 
monitoring and assurance of third party service providers.

3.13 On request by Corporate Management Team, Internal Audit examined and evaluated at a 
high level the objectives, benefits and expected outputs from the original business case for 
each outsourcing agreement (Live Borders; SB Cares; CGI), determined whether or not 
these have been achieved, and provided some evidence associated with that assessment.

3.14 In its ‘critical friend’ role, Internal Audit provided internal challenge and advice to 
Managers through engagement in a number forums as the Council continues to transform 
its services. For example, Information Governance Group, Business World ERP Project 
Board, and Digital Customer Steering Group.

3.15 During the year Internal Audit responded to a number of requests for ad hoc advice and 
assistance on internal controls, risk management and governance. One significant activity 
was attendance at Schools Business Managers Meeting and visits to Eyemouth and 
Berwickshire Primary Schools Clusters to provide information and assistance regarding 
Petty Cash policy and procedures and an overview of associated Council Financial policies.

Page 125



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 6

3.16 Internal Audit considered and applied National Reports that give rise to introducing best 
practice arrangements or lessons learned from other local authorities or other public 
sector bodies. This adds value to the Council by influencing and offering ways to enhance 
the governance and internal control environment in alignment to the Council’s strategic 
priorities.

3.17 Provided independent challenge of the evidence to support improvement arising from the 
Joint Older People Services inspection, and engaged in the design and development of the 
Public Protection Unit to support improvement as a ‘critical friend’.

Other Work
3.18 Internal Audit responded to specific control issues highlighted by Managers during the year 

by incorporating those aspects within specific audit scopes or performing Contingency 
Audits approved by the Chief Officer Audit & Risk.

3.19 Work was carried out regarding the Carbon Reduction Programme to ensure that the 
Council’s submission to the Department of Energy and Climate Change for carbon 
emissions was delivered on time; that updates to the Evidence Pack regarding the Council’s 
structure, organisation and estate are maintained; and that progress continues with the 
Council’s Energy Efficiency Schemes. No direction has yet been received on the future of 
the Carbon Reduction Commitment Programme; this current phase ends in March 2019.

3.20 Resources were deployed in the delivery of the Follow-up work to check that 
recommendations have been implemented and to ensure that the new controls had the 
desired effect on improving internal control and governance. The following table highlights 
the current position (Source: Pentana performance system as at 22 April 2019) with 
regards to Internal Audit recommendations arising from current and previous years:

Year identified Total Implemented Not Yet Due Overdue
2018/19 4 2 1 1
2017/18 42 32 9 1
2016/17 10 9 1 0
2015/16 21 21 0 0
2014/15 34 30 3 1

3.21 In collaboration with the Corporate Fraud and Compliance Officer, Internal Audit evaluated 
fraud prevention controls and detection processes on an on-going basis to ensure fraud 
risk is considered in every audit, and provided intelligence via data sharing requests from 
Police Scotland as part of the wider assurance framework on counter fraud and crime 
controls.

Non SBC Work
3.22 The Council’s Internal Audit service provided independent assurance on the overall risk 

management, internal control and corporate governance processes for SB Cares (the 
Council’s adult social care ALEO), Scottish Borders Pension Fund, and Scottish Borders 
Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board. Separate annual audit assurance opinions 
are reported to their respective Senior Management and Boards, based on the work 
delivered in accordance with Annual Audit Plans that have been approved by their 
respective Senior Management and Boards.

3.23 Approval was given in November 2018 to continue with Shared Internal Audit Services 
between Midlothian and Scottish Borders Councils after a 12-month pilot demonstrated 
positive outcomes including the sharing of expertise and knowledge, and the identification 
and assessment of best practice across both organisations.

Page 126



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019 7

4 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and Quality Assurance & Improvement Plan

4.1 The professional standards as set out in Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 
(2017) include:
 Definition of Internal Auditing;
 Code of Ethics;
 Attribute Standards (Purpose, Authority and Responsibility; Independence and 

Objectivity; Proficiency and Due Professional Care; Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme);

 Performance Standards (Managing the Internal Audit Activity; Nature of Work; 
Engagement Planning; Performing the Engagement; Communicating Results; 
Monitoring Progress; and Communicating the Acceptance of Risks).

4.2 An internal self-assessment of Internal Audit practices against the Standards was carried 
out in 2018/19, as required by the PSIAS, taking into account the progress with 
implementation of improvement actions arising from the previous year’s self-assessment, 
as set out in the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme.

4.3 The 2018/19 self-assessment against the PSIAS carried out in January 2019 has indicated 
that Internal Audit either ‘Fully Conforms’ or ‘Generally Conforms’ with the requirements 
within the 13 Assessment Areas of the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, 
Attribute Standards and Performance Standards. The one minor housekeeping matter in 
the current Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme is: Review of working papers 
needs to be evidenced, consistently. This improvement action is in progress. 

4.4 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) requires the self-assessment to be 
subject to an External Quality Assessment (EQA) every five years, by appropriately qualified 
and independent reviewers. To achieve this, an ‘EQA Peer Review Framework’ was 
developed by the Scottish Local Authorities’ Chief Internal Auditors’ Group (SLACIAG). 
Scottish Borders Council had its EQA Peer Review by Renfrewshire Council in October 2015. 
SLACIAG has refined its ‘EQA Peer Review Framework’ based on lessons learned and a 
programme for the second phase is being finalised, with Scottish Borders Council’s EQA 
Peer Review expected sometime during 2020 to meet the requirements.

Jill Stacey BA(Hons) ACMA CGMA
Chief Officer Audit & Risk
23 April 2019

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019  1

ITEM  [insert Item No. ]

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2018/19

Report by Chief Executive

AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

13 May 2019

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This report proposes that the Audit and Scrutiny Committee 
considers and approves the Annual Governance Statement that will 
be published in the Council’s Statement of Accounts 2018/19.

1.2 The CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government’ (2016) urges local authorities to review the effectiveness of 
their existing governance arrangements against their Local Code of 
Corporate Governance, and prepare a governance statement in order to 
report publicly on the extent to which they comply with their own code on 
an annual basis, including how they have monitored the effectiveness of 
their governance arrangements in the year, and on any planned changes 
for the coming period.

1.3 Part of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee’s remit (Audit function) is to 
assess the effectiveness of internal controls, risk management, and 
governance arrangements. 

1.4 The Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 at Appendix 1, in compliance 
with the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework, provides details of the Council’s 
Governance Framework, the annual Review of Framework undertaken, 
Improvement Areas of Governance, and overall opinion.

1.5 In terms of overall corporate governance it is the Chief Executive’s opinion 
that, although there are a few areas of work to be completed for full 
compliance with the Local Code, the overall governance arrangements of 
the Council are considered sound.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Audit and Scrutiny Committee:

a) Considers the details of the Annual Governance Statement 
2018/19 at Appendix 1, and acknowledges the actions 
identified by Management to improve internal controls and 
governance arrangements; and

b) Approves that it be published in the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts 2018/19.

Page 129

Agenda Item 12



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019  2

3 BACKGROUND

3.1 Scottish Borders Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public 
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively. 

3.2 The Council approved a revised Local Code of Corporate Governance on 28 
June 2018, on recommendation by this Committee, consistent with the 
principles and requirements of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government’ (2016) which helps to ensure 
proper arrangements continue to be in place to meet these responsibilities.

3.3 Fundamentally Corporate Governance is about openness, integrity and 
accountability. It comprises the systems and processes, and cultures and 
values by which the authority is directed and controlled and through which 
it accounts to, engages with and, where appropriate, leads its communities.

3.4 The CIPFA/SOLACE Framework urges local authorities to review the 
effectiveness of their existing governance arrangements against their Local 
Code, and prepare a governance statement and report compliance on an 
annual basis. 

3.5 Part of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee’s remit (Audit function) is to 
assess the effectiveness of internal controls, risk management, and 
governance arrangements in place. This includes to ‘Be satisfied that the 
authority’s assurance statements, including the Annual Governance 
Statement, properly reflect the risk environment and any actions required 
to improve it, and demonstrate how governance supports the achievements 
of the authority’s objectives’’1.

4 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2018/19

4.1 In February and March 2019 the officer Governance Self-Assessment 
Working Group (the ‘Group’) undertook the annual self-assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control and governance arrangements and 
compliance against the Local Code for the year ended 31 March 2019. The 
Chief Officer Audit & Risk led on this process as part of HIA2 role to be 
champion for sound governance. 

4.2 The Group has considered examples of evidence such as systems, 
processes and documentation to demonstrate compliance with the 
Framework’s seven core principles of good governance, supporting 
principles and a range of specific requirements as set out in the Local Code. 
The Group has evaluated progress with implementation of actions 
regarding previously identified improvement areas of governance.

4.3 The Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 at Appendix 1, in compliance 
with the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework, provides details of the Council’s 
Governance Framework, the annual Review of Framework undertaken, 
Improvement Areas of Governance, and overall opinion.

4.4 In terms of overall corporate governance it is the Chief Executive’s opinion 
that, although there are a few areas of work to be completed for full 
compliance with the Local Code, the overall governance arrangements of 
the Council are considered sound.  The Annual Governance Statement 
2018/19 is informed by the self-assessment of compliance against the 
Local Code by the officer Governance Self-Assessment Working Group, the 
work of Internal Audit, External Audit and Inspection agencies, and by 
Executive / Service Directors’ assurance statements.

1 CIPFA guidance note for local authorities ‘Audit Committees’ (2013)
2 CIPFA ‘the role of the head of internal audit in public service organisations’ (2010)Page 130



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019  3

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

5.2 Risk and Mitigations

The Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 details areas where additional 
work would further enhance the internal control environment, or improve 
risk management, and corporate governance arrangements. The review of 
the Local Code of Corporate Governance will ensure that internal controls, 
risk management and other governance arrangements are improved 
through the implementation of that framework.

5.3 Equalities

It is anticipated there will be no adverse impact due to race, disability, 
gender, age, sexual orientation or religious/belief arising from the work 
contained in this report. 

5.4 Acting Sustainably

Core principle of good governance “C. Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits” is included within 
the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government’ (2016). The officer Governance Self-Assessment Working 
Group considered examples of evidence such as systems, processes and 
documentation to demonstrate local compliance with all the Framework’s 
seven core principles of good governance, supporting principles and a 
range of specific requirements.

5.5 Carbon Management

There are no direct carbon emissions impacts as a result of this report.

5.6 Rural Proofing 

This report does not relate to a new or amended policy or strategy and as a 
result rural proofing is not an applicable consideration.

5.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

No changes to the Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation are 
required as a result of this report.

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 The Corporate Management Team has been engaged in the governance 
annual assurance process 2018/19 and has been consulted on this report 
and any comments received have been incorporated.

6.2 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Service Director HR, the Clerk to the Council and the Communications 
team have been consulted on this report and any comments received have 
been incorporated.

Approved by

Chief Executive, Tracey Logan Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Jill Stacey Chief Officer Audit & Risk Tel: 01835 825036

Page 131



Audit and Scrutiny Committee 13 May 2019  4

Background Papers:  CIPFA/SOLACE framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government’; Scottish Borders Council Local Code of Corporate Governance
Previous Minute Reference:  Audit and Scrutiny Committee 14 May 2018

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by using the contact details below. Information on other language 
translations can also be given as well as provision of additional copies.

Contact us at Internal Audit intaudit@scotborders.gov.uk 

Page 132

mailto:intaudit@scotborders.gov.uk


Annual Governance Statement 2018/19

Introduction
The Annual Governance Statement explains how the Council has complied with the terms of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework (2016) for the year ended 31 March 2019, sets out the Council’s 
governance arrangements and systems of internal control, and reports on their effectiveness. The 
statement also covers relevant governance matters as they affect those entities included as part of 
the Council’s Group Accounts.

Scope of Responsibility
Scottish Borders Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance 
with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted 
for. The Council also has a statutory duty of Best Value under the Local Government in Scotland Act 
2003 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement and performance, while maintaining 
an appropriate balance between quality and cost; and in making these arrangements and securing 
that balance, to have regard to economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

In discharging this overall responsibility, elected members and senior officers are responsible for 
putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of Scottish Borders Council’s affairs and 
facilitating the exercise of its functions in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner. 
This includes setting the strategic direction, vision, culture and values of the Council, effective 
operation of corporate systems, processes and internal controls, engaging with and, where 
appropriate, lead communities, monitoring whether strategic objectives have been achieved and 
services delivered cost effectively, and ensuring that appropriate arrangements are in place for the 
management of risk.

The system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

Framework for Good Governance
The overall aim of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government’ (Spring 2016) (the ‘Framework’) is to ensure that: resources are directed in accordance 
with agreed policy and according to priorities; there is sound and inclusive decision making; and 
there is clear accountability for the use of those resources in order to achieve desired outcomes for 
service users and communities.

The ‘Framework’ defines the seven core principles of good governance, namely:
A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the 

rule of law; 
B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement;
C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits;
D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended 

outcomes;
E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals 

within it;
F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial 

management; and
G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective 

accountability.

Revisions were required to the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance during 2016/17 to 
ensure it reflects the changing context of Scottish Borders Council and is consistent with the 
principles and recommendations of the  ‘Framework’  and the supporting guidance notes for Scottish 
authorities (November 2016). This was approved by Council on 24 August 2017 on recommendation 
by Audit and Scrutiny Committee in June 2017 and a copy of the Local Code of Corporate 
Governance was published on the Council’s website. 

Page 133



The Governance Framework 
The Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance sets out the framework and key principles, which 
require to be complied with, to demonstrate effective governance. The key elements of the Council’s 
governance arrangements as set out in the Local Code include:

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting rule of law
The roles and responsibilities of elected members and officers and the processes to govern the 
conduct of the Council’s business are defined in procedural standing orders, scheme of 
administration, scheme of delegation, and financial regulations which are regularly reviewed and 
revised where appropriate.
Codes of conduct are in place for, and define the high ethical values and standards of behaviour 
expected from, elected members and officers to make sure that public business is conducted with 
fairness and integrity.
The Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring that agreed procedures are followed and that all 
applicable statutes and regulations are complied with. An annual report is presented to the Standards 
Committee on councillors’ compliance with the ethical standards framework.
The Council seeks feedback from the public through its complaints and comments procedures for 
Corporate and Social Work (statutory) service areas, responds to the outcomes, as appropriate, and 
reports the results annually.
Professional advice on the discharge of statutory social work duties is provided to the Council by the 
Chief Social Work Officer (CSWO). The CSWO promotes values and standards of professional 
practice and acts as the 'agency decision maker' taking final decisions on a range of social work 
matters including adoption, secure accommodation, guardianship, etc.

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
Council meetings are held in public unless there are good reasons for not doing so on the grounds 
of confidentiality.
Unless confidential, decisions made by Council, the Executive Committee or other Committees are 
documented in the public domain. All decisions are explicit about the criteria, rationale and considerations 
used. The impact and consequences of all decisions are clearly set out.
The Council seeks community views on a wide range of issues and undertakes regular consultation 
and engagement with citizens and service users, for example via Citizen Space. The Scottish 
Borders CPP Community Engagement Framework (2015) sets out principles for engagement and 
the Toolkit shares best practice methods. 

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits
The Community Planning Partnership (of which the Council is a partner) has a Community Plan 
approved November 2017 (the Local Outcomes Improvement Plan (LOIP)) underpinned by 5 
Locality Plans which are being developed through Area Partnerships for approval in 2018. The 
Council’s vision, strategic objectives and priorities underpinned by the Strategic Assessment are 
reflected in the new Corporate Plan 2018-2023 approved February 2018 which suggests where 
individuals, families, businesses, partners and communities can “‘play their part’’ to improve 
outcomes for the Scottish Borders #YourPart.
Asset management planning (which is under development) and capital investment is structured to 
consider and balance the combined economic, social and environmental impact of policies and plans 
when taking decisions about service provision. The Council has put arrangements in place to comply 
with key elements of the Community Empowerment Act.
Equalities as well as environmental and rural implications are considered during the decision making 
process to promote fair access to services.

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes
Decision makers receive detailed information indicating how intended outcomes would be achieved 
together with the risks, financial and other implications associated with the proposals, by way of the 
compulsory sections of the Committee report.
In determining how services and other courses of action should be planned and delivered the Council 
is increasingly engaging with internal and external stakeholders. Community benefit is an important 
consideration in the procurement of goods and services.

Page 134



The Council fosters effective relationships, collaborative working and contractual arrangements with 
other public, private, and voluntary organisations in delivering services that meet the needs of the 
local community as stated in the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it
The corporate management structure consists of the Chief Executive and nine Executive/Service 
Directors. The roles of officers are defined in agreed job profiles. Staff performance is reviewed on 
an annual basis in accordance with the performance review and development (PRD) process in 
place during the year but subject to review and change. 

The Chief Executive is responsible and accountable to the Council for all aspects of management 
including promoting sound governance, providing quality information/support to inform decision-
making and scrutiny, supporting other statutory officers, and building relationships with all 
Councillors.

The Elected Members Development Programme includes the comprehensive Induction programme 
which is periodically supplemented by additional training and an annual programme of learning and 
development and briefings. Members appointed to certain committees have also received specific 
training related to the responsibilities on these committees e.g. licensing, planning, audit, pensions, 
employment. 

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial 
management

The Council which has overall responsibility for directing and controlling the organisation has 
approved an Executive / Scrutiny model of decision making. The Executive Committee is the key 
decision-making and monitoring committee and the Audit and Scrutiny Committee (Scrutiny function) 
for reviewing policy decisions. 

The Council has a risk management policy and approach whose main priorities are the robust 
systems of identification, evaluation and control of risks which threaten the Council’s ability to meet 
its objectives to deliver services to the public.

The Chief Financial Officer (the Section 95 officer) is responsible for the proper administration of all 
aspects of the Council’s financial affairs including ensuring appropriate advice is given to the Council 
on all financial matters. 

The Council’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of financial regulations, 
regular management information, administrative procedures (including segregation of duties), 
management supervision and a system of delegation and accountability.

The Council has a proactive, holistic approach to tackling fraud, theft, corruption and crime, as an 
integral part of protecting public finances, safeguarding assets, and delivering services effectively.

A Medium Term Financial Strategy, and associated Risk Register, and plans for revenue (5-year) 
and capital (10-year) based on corporate priorities are developed, led by the Corporate Management 
Team, and presented for approval by Council in February each year, along with the Corporate 
Transformation Programme proposals.

Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring reports are presented to the Executive Committee on a 
quarterly basis for monitoring and control purposes including the annual outturn. The Management 
Commentary in the Statement of Accounts provides financial and other performance information 
regarding the operation of the Council, its wider achievements and areas for development.

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability
The independent and objective audit opinion of the Chief Officer Audit & Risk (Chief Audit Executive) 
within the Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2018/19 states that the systems of internal control, 
risk management  and governance arrangements are operating satisfactorily, reasonable assurance 
can be provided on their adequacy, and further improvements have been agreed by Management. 
This is based on work carried out by an in-house team in conformance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards to fulfil statutory Internal Audit provision.

The Council responds to the findings and recommendations of Internal Audit, External Audit, Scrutiny 
and Inspection bodies including associated Action Plans for improvement. The Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee is integral to overseeing independent and objective assurance and monitoring 
improvements in internal control and governance.

Page 135



Review of Framework 
The Council carries out an annual review of the effectiveness of its overall governance framework 
which is presented to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee whose Audit role includes high level 
oversight of the Council’s governance, risk management, and internal control arrangements.

The review was informed by the work of an officer Governance Self-Assessment Working Group 
which undertook an annual self-assessment against the Council’s Local Code of Corporate 
Governance consistent with the principles and recommendations of the ‘Framework’. This group has 
responsibility for monitoring compliance with the Local Code and making recommendations to 
ensure continuous improvement of the systems in place.

The review was also informed by assurances from: the Executive / Service Directors, who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance environment within their 
Directorates and Services and who in turn identify actions to improve governance at a strategic level; 
the Chief Officer Audit & Risk’s annual assurance report on the work of Internal Audit and 
independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal control and 
governance; and comments made by External Auditors and other external scrutiny bodies and 
inspection agencies.

The conclusion from the review activity outlined above is that in 2018/19 the Council continued to 
demonstrate that the governance arrangements and framework within which it operates are sound 
and effective, and are consistent with the principles and recommendations of the ‘Framework’.

Improvement Areas of Governance
The collective review activity outlined above has identified the following areas where further 
improvement in governance arrangements can be made to enhance compliance with the Council’s 
Local Code of Corporate Governance: 
1) In response to unprecedented challenges, expectations and opportunities, commence a more 

ambitious change and transformation programme (Fit for 2024) through a consistent approach 
to enable delivery of efficient and effective services to customers in a sustainable way, 
collaboration with communities and other partners, optimised utilisation of assets across 
localities, digitally-led process improvement, and focus on delivering positive outcomes.

2) Continue to ensure that financial, people and business plans are developed concurrently and 
continue to be aligned to the Council’s Corporate Plan and priorities thus managing service 
users’ expectations effectively with regard to determining priorities and making the best use of 
the resources available.

3) Realise full benefits arising from the implementation of the Corporate Landlord Model to review 
strategic asset management plans to inform investment in assets and infrastructure to ensure 
they are fit for the future and reduce the Council’s property footprint.

4) Continue to monitor the contract performance outcomes of strategic external service providers 
in particular in light of the changing landscape for the public sector.

5) The ongoing implementation of the Performance Management Framework which will include 
the full application of appropriate and proportionate self-assessment processes in all Council 
services as a self-evaluation tool to demonstrate achievement of Best Value.

6) The ongoing implementation of the Business World ERP system to maximise use of its 
functionality, specified in Solution Design Documents, and ongoing review of policies, 
procedures and guidelines of the key financial planning, management and administration 
processes linked to the Financial Regulations and of the HR procedures and guidelines 
associated with the implementation of the new Business World ERP System. Alignment with 
other computer-based systems and automation of routine processes.

7) Consolidation and refinement of procedures and practices to ensure comprehensive data and 
information management across the Council and within each Service in all relevant aspects of 
service delivery to ensure ongoing compliance with legislation and regulations.

8) Review of the Complaints Handling Procedure to ensure consistency of approach across the 
Council for dealing with complaints including raising staff awareness of customer care to fully 
utilise customer information and improve services through Digital Customer Access. 

These actions to enhance the governance arrangements in 2019/20 will be driven and monitored by 
the Corporate Management Team supported by Directorate Management Teams on a regular basis 
in order to inform the next annual review. Internal Audit work planned in 2019/20 is designed to test 
improvements and compliance. Page 136



Certification 
It is our opinion that reasonable assurance can be placed upon the adequacy and effectiveness of 
Scottish Borders Council’s systems of internal control and governance. Although areas for further 
improvement have been identified the annual review demonstrates sufficient evidence that the 
Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance is operating effectively and that the Council complies 
with that Local Code in all significant respects.

_______________________ ______________________

Tracey Logan Councillor Shona Haslam
Chief Executive Leader of the Council
mm 2019 mm 2019

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 139

Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minute
	5 Action Tracker
	6 Property and Estate Assurance Report
	7 Local Government Challenges and Performance 2019
	Chair’s introduction
	Summary
	Key messages
	Recommendations
	About this report

	Part 1. The context for councils
	Exhibit 1. Current major policy and legislative changes affecting local government
	Exhibit 2. Funding from Scottish Government to councils
	Exhibit 3. Spend on national priorities in 2018/19 and 2019/20
	Exhibit 4. Changes to council core revenue funding in real terms between 2013/14 and 2018/19, illustrated with socio-demographic factors that can impact on service demand and costs

	Part 2. How councils are responding
	Exhibit 5. Challenges to health and social care integration in Scotland
	Case study 1. East Ayrshire Council’s ‘Vibrant Communities’ approach
	Case study 2. Dumfries and Galloway Council’s tackling poverty participatory budgeting exercise

	Part 3. Council performance and the impact oncommunities
	Exhibit 6. Changes in performance measures for Scotland's outcomes between 2013 and 2017
	Exhibit 7. Performance against selected indicators, 2010/11 to 2017/18
	Exhibit 8. Performance and spend in key areas, 2010/11 to 2017/18
	Exhibit 9. Variation between councils 2017/18
	Exhibit 10. Improvement in average tariff score 2011/12 to 2017/18

	Endnotes
	Item No. 7 - Local Government Challenges and Performance 2019 Supp
	Key messages
	Recommendations
	Scrutiny tool checklist for councillors
	Factors affecting demand for services and council funding
	Governance and accountability
	Transformational change
	Financial planning
	Generating income
	Partnership working
	Integrated joint boards
	Community empowerment
	Workforce
	Strategic priorities and performance reporting
	Service performance



	8 Internal Audit Work to March 2019
	Item No. 8 - SLACIAG Annual Report 2018 (Final)

	9 Risk Management Annual Report 2018/19
	10 Counter Fraud Annual Report 2018/19
	11 Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2018/19
	12 Scottish Borders Council Annual Governance Statement 2018/19
	Item No. 12 - SBC Annual Governance Statement 2018-19 , 2

	16 Minute


Exhibit 4

		Local government in Scotland

		Challenges and performance 2019



		Exhibit 4

		Changes to council core revenue funding in real terms between 2013/14 and 2018/19 illustrated with socio-demographic factors that can impact on service demand and cost



				Change in core funding		Change in population		Rurality		SIMD (percentage of 30% most deprived)		Percentage of children in poverty		Non working age population

		Aberdeen		ERROR:#N/A		0.8		28		18.7		26.9		41.9

		Aberdeenshire		ERROR:#N/A		1.6		7		4.4		5.3		56.6

		Angus		ERROR:#N/A		-0.0		17		14.8		20.3		62.3

		Argyll & Bute		ERROR:#N/A		-1.4		4		19.2		12.1		63.6

		Clackmannanshire		ERROR:#N/A		0.3		19		43.1		18.3		56.0

		Dumfries & Galloway		ERROR:#N/A		-0.7		6		16.9		18.5		65.0

		Dundee		ERROR:#N/A		0.4		31		47.9		26.4		48.5

		East Ayrshire		ERROR:#N/A		-0.4		11		45.4		15.6		56.2

		East Dunbartonshire		ERROR:#N/A		2.2		24		12.3		11		62.3

		East Lothian		ERROR:#N/A		3.4		15		15.9		8		58.5

		East Renfrewshire		ERROR:#N/A		3.5		26		9.0		8.1		63.1

		Edinburgh		ERROR:#N/A		5.3		30		19.8		14.1		41.5

		Eilean Siar		ERROR:#N/A		-1.6		1		2.8		23.2		66.2

		Falkirk		ERROR:#N/A		1.9		23		33.2		26.7		54.0

		Fife		ERROR:#N/A		1.2		18		30.2		24.1		56.9

		Glasgow		ERROR:#N/A		4.1		32		57.1		40.9		40.2

		Highland		ERROR:#N/A		1.0		5		14.4		16.3		59.2

		Inverclyde		ERROR:#N/A		-2.0		27		51.8		18.1		55.3

		Midlothian		ERROR:#N/A		6.4		20		29.6		10.3		57.6

		Moray		ERROR:#N/A		1.5		9		8.7		10.1		58.3

		North Ayrshire		ERROR:#N/A		-0.8		13		50.0		25.7		59.9

		North Lanarkshire		ERROR:#N/A		0.6		22		49.2		21.2		52.2

		Orkney		ERROR:#N/A		2.0		3		3.4		18.6		61.0

		Perth & Kinross		ERROR:#N/A		2.3		8		11.3		16		60.6

		Renfrewshire		ERROR:#N/A		1.7		25		37.3		15.7		52.8

		Scottish Borders		ERROR:#N/A		1.0		10		11.2		24.4		64.7

		Shetland		ERROR:#N/A		-0.5		2		0.0		8.7		57.5

		South Ayrshire		ERROR:#N/A		-0.2		14		28.8		29.2		63.9

		South Lanarkshire		ERROR:#N/A		1.1		16		33.6		18.1		54.1

		Stirling		ERROR:#N/A		3.0		12		18.2		12.2		52.0

		West Dunbartonshire		ERROR:#N/A		-0.2		29		53.7		25.1		53.2

		West Lothian		ERROR:#N/A		2.9		21		31.4		16.7		53.0



		Source: Scottish Government finance circulars 2013, 2014 and 2019, National Records for Scotland mid year population estimates 2013 and 2017, Scottish Government urban rural classification 2016, the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016, Children in families with limited resources across Scotland 2014-2016











































































































































